

University of Warwick institutional repository: http://go.warwick.ac.uk/wrap

# A Thesis Submitted for the Degree of PhD at the University of Warwick

## http://go.warwick.ac.uk/wrap/74256

This thesis is made available online and is protected by original copyright.

Please scroll down to view the document itself.

Please refer to the repository record for this item for information to help you to cite it. Our policy information is available from the repository home page.

# Regulation of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in Adipose Tissue Metabolism

By

Philip Demos Voyias, BSc Hons

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medical Sciences

Division of Translational and Systems Medicine, Warwick Medical School,

University of Warwick

June 2015

# **Table of Contents**

Abbreviations	8
List of tables	15
List of figures	15
Acknowledgements	
Declaration	20
List of publications	21
Abstract	22
Chapter 1: Introduction	23
Introduction	24
1.1 Type II diabetes mellitus	25
1.1.1 Definition of diabetes mellitus	25
1.1.2 Clinical sequelae of type II diabetes mellitus	25
1.1.3 Epidemiology of type II diabetes mellitus	
1.1.4 Obesity and type II diabetes mellitus	
1.2 Adipose tissue heterogeneity	
1.2.1 Brown adipose tissue	
1.2.2 Distinct adipose tissue depots	
1.2.3 Gender and race differences in adipose tissue distribution	
1.2.4 Adipose tissue composition	
1.3 Integrative adipose tissue functions	
1.3.1 Immune functions	
1.3.2 Endocrine functions	36

1.3.3 Energy homeostasis	9
1.4 Metabolism in human adipose tissue4	0
1.4.1 Lipid metabolism4	1
1.4.2 Carbohydrate metabolism	5
1.4.3 Regulation of adipose metabolism4	7
1.5 Adipogenesis	0
1.5.1 Progenitor origin and cell lineage	1
1.5.2 Adipogenesis regulation	3
1.5.3 Wnt signalling in adipogenesis	6
1.6 Adipocyte endoplasmic reticulum stress59	9
1.6.1 Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the unfolded protein response6	0
1.6.2 Adipose tissue endoplasmic reticulum stress	4
1.6.3 Obesity induces adipocyte endoplasmic reticulum stress6	5
1.7 Endoplasmic reticulum stress induced insulin resistance in adipose	
tissue60	6
1.7.1 IRE1 $\alpha$ activation of JNK and NF $\kappa$ B6'	7
1.7.2 ER stress induced inflammation and subsequent insulin resistance69	9
1.7.3 ER stress integration with metabolism7.	3
1.7.4 ER stress in adipogenesis	6
1.8 Translation to the clinic7	7
1.9 Summary8	1
1.10 Research hypothesis, aims and objectives82	2
1.10.1 Research hypothesis	2
1.10.2 Research aims	2
1.10.3 Research objectives	2

Chapter 2: Subjects, methods and materials	84
2.1 Ethical approval	85
2.1.1 Bariatric study	85
2.1.2 Human adipose tissue collection	85
2.2 Subjects	85
2.2.1 Subjects who underwent bariatric surgery	85
2.2.2 Adipose tissue collection	87
2.3 Tissue culture	87
2.3.1 Extracting primary human preadipocytes	87
2.3.2 Human preadipocyte ChubS7 cell line	89
2.3.3 Cell culture media composition	89
2.3.4 Propagation and differentiation of preadipocytes	91
2.3.5 Treatments	92
2.3.6 Small interfering RNA transfection	92
2.3.7 Collection of conditioned media, protein and RNA	93
2.4 Analysis of samples	94
2.4.1 Analysis of blood samples	94
2.4.2 RNA analysis	94
2.4.3 Protein analysis	97
2.4.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis	98
2.4.5 Lipolysis assay	98
2.4.6 Adipocyte staining	99
2.4.7 Glucose uptake assay	100
2.4.8 Cell viability assay	101
2.5 Statistical Analysis	102

Chapter 5. Endoprasmic reticulum stress in numan autpose ussue
3.1 Introduction104
3.2 Results106
3.2.1 Body composition, basal metabolic variables and sample analyses106
3.2.2 Adipose tissue expression of UPR related genes and proteins were
reduced post bariatric surgery109
3.2.3 Regulation of UPR markers was improved in adipose tissue 6 months
post-surgery112
3.2.4 Effect of surgery type on ER stress (Restrictive versus Malabsorptive)
3.2.5 Adipose tissue inflammation and macrophage infiltration118
3.3 Discussion
3.4 Conclusions124
Chapter 4: Regulation of ER stress during adipogenesis125
4.1 Introduction126
4.1 Introduction       126         4.2 Results       129
4.1 Introduction       126         4.2 Results       129         4.2.1 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific
4.1 Introduction       126         4.2 Results       129         4.2.1 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific       129         differences in lipid metabolism during adipogenesis       129
4.1 Introduction       126         4.2 Results       129         4.2.1 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific       129         differences in lipid metabolism during adipogenesis       129         4.2.2 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific
4.1 Introduction       126         4.2 Results       129         4.2.1 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific       129         differences in lipid metabolism during adipogenesis       129         4.2.2 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific       129         differences in glucose uptake during adipogenesis: VAT is insulin resistant       129
4.1 Introduction       126         4.2 Results       129         4.2.1 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific       119         differences in lipid metabolism during adipogenesis       129         4.2.2 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific       129         differences in glucose uptake during adipogenesis: VAT is insulin resistant       134
<ul> <li>4.1 Introduction</li></ul>
<ul> <li>4.1 Introduction</li></ul>
4.1 Introduction       126         4.2 Results       129         4.2.1 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific       129         4.2.2 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific       129         4.2.2 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific       134         differences in glucose uptake during adipogenesis: VAT is insulin resistant       134         4.2.3 The IRE1α - XBP1s UPR pathway was elevated during adipogenesis in obese subjects compared to lean       136         4.2.4 Chronic disruption of the UPR after induction of adipogenesis inhibited       136

4.2.5 To investigate the IRE1 $\alpha$ - XBP1s pathway further a reproducible
model system, human preadipocyte cell line ChubS7, was used142
4.3 Discussion146
4.4 Conclusions151
Chapter 5: The role of the IRE1a - XBP1s UPR pathway in human
adipogenesis and metabolism152
5.1 Introduction153
5.2 Results155
5.2.1 IRE1 $\alpha$ endonuclease activity was specifically inhibited with the small
molecule inhibitor $4\mu 8C$ in adipocytes without effecting cell viability155
5.2.2 During adipogenesis $4\mu 8C$ reduced adipogenic capacity depending on
time and duration of treatment161
5.2.3 During adipogenesis $4\mu8C$ inhibited XBP1s, adipogenic regulator and
adiponectin mRNA expression depending on treatment duration165
5.2.4 During adipogenesis $4\mu 8C$ consistently reduced adipogenic capacity
and function in adipocytes171
5.2.5 During adipogenesis $4\mu8C$ inhibited XBP1s and adipogenic regulator
mRNA expression174
5.2.6 $4\mu$ 8C reduced insulin stimulated glucose uptake and inhibited Akt
phosphorylation180
5.2.7 XBP1 siRNA transfection during early adipogenesis reduced adipocyte
function
5.3 Discussion
5.4 Conclusions194

Chapter 6: Wnt10b in human adipogenesis195
6.1 Introduction196
6.2 Results199
6.2.1 Body composition and metabolic profile of a WNT10B C256Y subject
6.2.2 Functional Wnt10b was not required for adipogenesis200
6.2.3 XBP1s mRNA expression was reduced during adipogenesis in SAT
WNT10B C256Y adipocytes compared to lean204
6.2.4 Adipogenesis regulator CEBP $\alpha$ gene expression was altered during
adipogenesis in SAT WNT10B C256Y adipocytes compared to lean207
6.2.5 Wnt signalling was altered during adipogenesis in SAT WNT10B
C256Y adipocytes compared to lean210
6.3 Discussion
6.4 Conclusions221
Chapter 7: Overall discussion
7.1 Overall discussion223
7.2 Future work
7.3 Overall conclusions233
Bibliography

# Abbreviations

%	Percent
% EBL	Percent excess body mass index lost
20x	20 times magnification
40x	40 times magnification
4µ8C	4-methyl umbelliferone 8-cabaldehyde
β-TrCP	Beta-transducin repeat containing E3 ubiquitin protein ligase
ΔCt	Delta threshold cycle
µCi/mL	Microcurie per millilitre
μg	Microgram
µg/mL	Microgram per millilitre
μL	Microlitre
μΜ	Micromolar
μm	Micrometre
μU/L	Microunits per litre
Abd SAT	Abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue
acyl-CoA	Acyl-coenzyme A
Akt	Akt, also known as protein kinase B (PKB)
АМРК	AMP-activated protein kinase
AP-1	Activation protein 1
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
ARC	Arcuate nucleus
AT	Adipose tissue
ATF4/6	Activating transcription factor 4/6
ATGL	Adipose triglyceride lipase

ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AU	Arbitrary units
AXIN2	Axis inhibitory protein 2
BAT	Brown adipose tissue
Bip	Binding immunoglobulin protein
BMI	Body mass index
BPD	Biliopancreatic diversion
Bq	Becquerel
Bq/mg	Becquerel per milligram
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
С	Celsius
C256Y	Cysteine to tyrosine mutation at residue 256
CCL2	C-C motif ligand 2
CD14/68	Cluster of differentiation 14/68
cDNA	Complimentary deoxyribonucleic acid
CEBΡα/β/δ	CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein alpha/beta/delta
СНОР	C/EBP homologous protein
ChREBP	Carbohydrate response element binding protein
СКІ	Casein kinase-1
cm	Centimetre
cm <sup>3</sup>	Cubic centimetre
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DGAT	Diacylglycerol acyltransferase
dH2O	Distilled and autoclaved water

DMEM/F12	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium/nutrient mixture F-12
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNL	De novo lipogenesis
Dvl	Dishevelled
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
eIF2a	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 A
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERAD	Endoplasmic reticulum associated protein degradation
FA(s)	Fatty acid(s)
FABP	Fatty acid-binding protein
FFA(s)	Free fatty acid(s)
g/day	Grams per day
g/L	Grams per litre
GADD34	Growth arrest and deoxyribonucleic acid damage-inducible protein
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
GLUT4	Glucose transporter type 4
GRP78	Glucose regulated protein 78 kilodalton
GRPs	Glucose regulated proteins
GSK-3	Glycogen synthase kinase-3
GWAS	Genome wide association studies
HbA1c	Glycated haemoglobin
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HE	Hematoxylin and eosin
HMW	High molecular weight

HOMA-IR	Homeostatic model assessment – insulin resistance
HSL	Hormone sensitive lipase
IDF	International diabetes federation
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IKK	I kappa B kinase
IR	Insulin receptor
IRE1a	Inositol requiring enzyme 1 alpha
IRS1/2	Insulin receptor substrate 1/2
IL-6/10	Interleukin - 6/10
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
kcal	Kilocalorie
kDa	Kilodalton
kg	Kilogram
kg/m <sup>2</sup>	Kilogram per metre squared
KHB	Krebs-Henseleit buffer
L	Litre
LAGB	Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
LD(s)	Lipid droplet(s)
LGCP	Laparoscopic greater curvature plication
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LRP5/6	Low-density-lipoprotein-related protein 5/6
LXR	Liver X receptor
MBTPS2	Membrane-bound transcription factor peptidase site 2
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts

mg	Milligram
mg/dL	Milligram per decilitre
mg/mL	Milligram per millilitre
МНО	Metabolically healthy but obese
miRNA	micro ribonucleic acid
mL	Millilitre
mm	Millimetre
mM	Millimolar
mmol/L	Millimoles per litre
mmol/mol	Millimoles per mole
MONW	Metabolically obese but normal weight
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MTT	3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide
NEFA	Nonesterified fatty acids
NFκB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
ng	Nanogram
ng/L	Nanogram per litre
ng/mL	Nanogram per millilitre
NHS	National health service
NICE	National institute for health and care excellence
nm	Nanometre
nmol	Nanomole
NPY	neuropeptide Y
NT	Non-targeting
ORO	Oil Red-O

Р.	Page
р	Phosphorylated
Р	Probability
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PBST	Phosphate buffered saline - tween
PCOS	Polycystic ovary syndrome
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PERK	Protein kinase RNA-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase
рН	Power of hydrogen
PKR	Protein kinase ribonucleic acid – activated
PM	Plasma membrane
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma
qRT-PCR	Quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RYGB	Roux-en-Y gastric bypass
SAT	Subcutaneous adipose tissue
siRNA	Small interfering ribonucleic acid
SNS	Sympathetic nervous system
SREBP2	Sterol regulatory element-binding protein 2
T2DM	Type II diabetes mellitus
T75	75 square centimetre growth area tissue culture flask
TAG	Triacylglycerol, also known as triglyceride

TCF7	T-cell factor 7
TCF/LEF	T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor
TLR(s)	Toll like receptor(s)
ТМ	Tunicamycin
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRAF2	Tumor necrosis factor receptor associated factor 2
TUDCA	Tauroursodeoxycholic acid
U/µL	Units per microlitre
Ub	Ubiquitin
UPR	Unfolded protein response
USA	United States of America
UV	Ultraviolet
V	Volt
VAT	Visceral adipose tissue
VLDL	Very low-density lipoprotein
WAT	White adipose tissue
WEF	World economic forum
WHO	World health organisation
Wnt (10b)	Wingless-type mouse mammary tumour virus integration site
	family protein (10b)
XBP1(u/s)	X-box binding protein 1 (unspliced/spliced)

## List of tables

- 3.2.1 P.108 Body composition and metabolic profile before and after bariatric surgery
- 6.2.1 P.200 Body composition and metabolic profile of a WNT10B C256Y subject

# List of figures

- 1.2.2 P.32 Major adipose tissue depots
- 1.4.3 P.50 The importance of adipose tissue
- 1.5.3 P.57 Wnt signalling pathway
- 1.6.1 P.63 Mammalian unfolded protein response pathways
- 1.7.1 P.68 IRE1α activation of XBP1s and JNK
- 1.7.2 P.72 Unfolded protein response, inflammation and insulin resistance
- 1.7.3 P.75 Balance between nutritional status, unfolded protein response activation and adipose tissue function
- 2.2.1 P.86 Bariatric surgery procedures under investigation
- 3.2.2 P.110 ER stress in abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue was reduced six months after bariatric surgery in obese T2DM subjects
- 3.2.3 P.113 ER stress signalling regulation in abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue was improved six months after bariatric surgery
- 3.2.4 P.116 Post-surgery ER stress improvements in abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue varied by bariatric surgery type
- 3.2.5 P.119 Adipose tissue inflammation reduced after bariatric surgery independently of macrophage expression

- 4.2.1 P.130 Primary human adipocytes had depot and BMI specific differences in lipid accumulation and lipolysis during adipogenesis
- 4.2.2 P.135 Glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity in primary human adipocytes varied depending on adipose tissue depot and BMI
- 4.2.3 P.137 The IRE1α XBP1s pathway was elevated during adipogenesis in adipocytes derived from obese subjects compared to lean
- 4.2.4 P.139 Chronic disruption of the UPR after induction of adipogenesis inhibited adipogenic capacity
- 4.2.5 P.143 To investigate the IRE1α XBP1s pathway further, a reproducible model system, human preadipocyte cell line ChubS7, was used
- 5.2.1 P.157 IRE1α endonuclease activity was specifically inhibited with the small molecule inhibitor 4µ8C in adipocytes without effecting cell viability
- 5.2.2 P.162 During adipogenesis 4µ8C reduced adipogenic capacity depending on time and duration of treatment
- 5.2.3 P.167 During adipogenesis 4µ8C inhibited XBP1s and adipogenic regulator mRNA expression depending on treatment duration
- 5.2.4 P.172 During adipogenesis 4µ8C consistently reduced adipogenic capacity and function in adipocytes
- 5.2.5 P.176 During adipogenesis 4µ8C inhibited XBP1s and adipogenic regulator mRNA expression
- 5.2.6 P.181 4µ8C reduced insulin stimulated glucose uptake and inhibitedAkt phosphorylation

- 5.2.7 P.184 XBP1 siRNA transfection during early adipogenesis reduced adipocyte function
- 5.3.1 P.192 Proposed roles of unfolded protein response molecular signalling in adipocyte metabolism
- 6.2.2 P.201 Functional Wnt10b was not required for adipogenesis
- 6.2.3 P.205 XBP1s mRNA expression was reduced during adipogenesis in WNT10B C256Y adipocytes compared to lean
- 6.2.4 P.208 Adipogenesis regulator CEBPα gene expression continued to increase during adipogenesis in WNT10B C256Y adipocytes unlike lean
- 6.2.5 P.211 Wnt signalling protein and gene expression significantly differed during adipogenesis in WNT10B C256Y adipocytes compared to lean
- 6.3.1 P.220 Proposed changes in Wnt signalling during adipogenesis

#### Acknowledgements

This thesis was made possible through the continued help, advice, support, collaboration and funding from several people and organisations. Therefore I would like to acknowledge and thank the following:

Gyanendra Tripathi, my academic supervisor, for giving me the opportunity to undertake this research and providing excellent supervision throughout my studies.

The Diabetes Team at Warwick Medical School, University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire, my second academic supervisor Philip McTernan, industrial supervisors Nancy Fernandes da Silva and Alastair Brown, and colleagues: Adaikala Antonysunil, Alison Harte, Kirsty McGee, Warunee Kumsaiyai, Ciara McCarthy, Milan Piya, Ioannis Kyrou, May Khin, Abi Patel, Hema Venkataraman, Nithya Sukumar, Lucia Martinez de la Escalera Clapp, Alice Murphy and Sahar Azharian for continued help, advice, discussion and support.

Manu Vatish; Oxford University, Nasser Al-Daghri; King Saud University, Lorenzo Romero Ramirez; Cajal Medical Institute, Narendra Reddy, University Hospital Coventry and Warwickshire, Thomas Barber, Saravanan Ponnusamy, Sudhesh Kumar, Jan Brosens, Patrick Unwin, and Binoy Paulose Nadappuram; Warwick University, for collaborating and providing advice and support.

Jana Vrbikova, Vojtech Hainer and Olga Bradnova; Institute of Endocrinology, Prague, Czech Republic, Martin Fried, Petra Sramkova and Karin Dolezalova; OB Clinic, Prague, Czech Republic, for collaborating for the bariatric study, and all the patients who gave consent for the study.

Sean James, Arden Tissue Bank Lead, and the team of surgeons, research nurses and pathologists at University Hospital Coventry and Warwickshire, for obtaining patient consent, collecting and transferring clinical samples to Warwick Medical School, and all the patients who gave consent.

David Ron, University of Cambridge, England, for responding to my request and sending me the IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease inhibitor 4 $\mu$ 8C, characterised in his groups *PNAS* article (Cross, *et al.*, 2012), before it was commercially available. Ulf Smith, University of Gothenburg, Sweden, for responding to my request and sending me the WNT10B primer sequences used in his groups *Diabetes* article (Isakson, *et al.*, 2009).

The Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (BBSRC) and AstraZeneca for funding my collaborative awards in science and engineering (CASE) studentship.

The personnel at the University of Warwick and Warwick Medical School for making an exceptional host institution and department and creating an environment conducive to undertaking medical research.

My parents, George Voyias and Carole Voyias, and family and friends for continued care, curiosity and support.

### Declaration

This thesis is submitted to the University of Warwick in support of my application for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. I, Philip Demos Voyias, declare that it has been composed by myself and has not been submitted in any previous application for any degree and all the research has been undertaken in accordance with University safety policy and Guidelines on Ethical Practice.

The presented work, including data generation and data analysis, was carried out by the author except in the cases outlined below:

- The bariatric study: obtaining ethical approval, patient recruitment, obtaining patient consent, performing bariatric surgery and collecting and sending anthropometric data and SAT biopsies to Warwick Medical School were carried out by Jana Vrbikova, Vojtech Hainer and Olga Bradnova; Institute of Endocrinology, Prague, Czech Republic, Martin Fried, Petra Sramkova and Karin Dolezalova; OB Clinic, Prague, Czech Republic.
- Human adipose tissue collection: obtaining ethical approval, patient recruitment, obtaining patient consent, collecting WAT samples and transferring samples to Warwick Medical School was carried out by Philip McTernan and Sean James; University of Warwick, and a team of surgeons, research nurses and pathologists at University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire.

#### List of publications

Parts of this thesis have been published by the author:

The findings in chapter 3 have been submitted for peer review to be published as an original article in the journal *Diabetes* with the following details:

- Title: Bariatric surgery reduces endoplasmic reticulum stress in human adipose tissue and is associated with improvement in metabolic risk factors in obese type 2 diabetes patients
- Authors: Philip D Voyias<sup>1</sup>, Adaikala Antonysunil<sup>1</sup>, Ioannis Kyrou<sup>1</sup>, Jana Vrbikova<sup>2</sup>, Vojtech Hainer<sup>2</sup>, Olga Bradnova<sup>2</sup>, Martin Fried<sup>3</sup>, Petra Sramkova<sup>3</sup>, Karin Dolezalova<sup>4</sup>, Nasser M Al- Daghri<sup>5</sup>, Majed S Alokail<sup>5</sup>, Ponnusamy Saravanan<sup>1</sup>, Sudhesh Kumar<sup>1</sup>, Philip G McTernan<sup>1</sup>, and Gyanendra Tripathi<sup>1</sup>\*
- Institutions: <sup>1</sup>Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, University Hospital, Clifford Bridge Road, Coventry, CV2 2DX, United Kingdom <sup>2</sup>Institute of Endocrinology, Narodni 8, Prague 1 116 94, Czech Republic

<sup>3</sup>OB Clinic - Center for Treatment of Obesity and Metabolic Disorders, Prague, Czech Republic

<sup>4</sup>1st Faculty of Medicine, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic

<sup>5</sup>Department of Biochemistry, College of Science, King Saud University, PO Box 2455, Riyadh, 11451, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

\*Corresponding author: Dr Gyanendra Tripathi

#### Abstract

Obesity is the most significant risk factor for developing type II diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Obesity induces adipocyte endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, prior to onset of insulin resistance. A pathological inability of white adipose tissue (WAT) to expand to accommodate excess energy is predominantly due to impaired adipogenesis. The research hypothesis was that ER stress in human WAT is important in inducing WAT dysfunction and subsequent insulin resistance and T2DM. The aims of this study were to elucidate interactions of ER stress in human WAT and to characterise the role of ER stress in human adipogenesis. Abdominal SAT biopsies and anthropometry were collected from T2DM subjects before and after bariatric surgery and non-diabetic subjects. Preadipocytes were extracted from human WAT and differentiated into adipocytes. Lipogenesis, lipolysis, glucose uptake, insulin sensitivity, and ER stress and adipogenesis gene and protein expression were assessed in control cells and with ER stress inducers, inhibitors or siRNA. The results of this study found both restrictive and malabsorptive bariatric interventions are effective weight loss interventions for obese T2DM patients and result in significantly improved glucose and insulin levels six months after surgery. WAT health is better following restrictive procedures as shown by lower and better regulation of ER stress markers. Adipogenesis in primary human preadipocytes is influenced by adiposity and WAT depot and the IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s UPR is essential in human adipogenesis. XBP1s plays a vital role upstream of CEBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  in human adipogenesis and it is necessary for mediating the action of insulin. Wnt10b plays an inhibitory role in human adipogenesis and acts independently of XBP1s. Collectively these findings suggest that WAT function is key for metabolic health and can be impaired by ER stress; however regulated adipogenesis may serve to improve WAT function and therefore improve metabolic health.

**Chapter 1: Introduction** 

#### Introduction

People with type II diabetes mellitus (T2DM) experience reduced quality and length of life. The disease presents a huge burden on global society through medical, social and financial implications. Current clinical interventions are failing to ensure patient glycaemic control. The initiation of insulin resistance in T2DM requires further elucidation. If the underlying cellular mechanisms that drive the initiation of insulin resistance can be characterised then a novel therapeutic window will be presented allowing early intervention and potentially reducing the encumbrance of the metabolic disease. This chapter reviews current literature about the importance of white adipose tissue (WAT) in metabolic health and reviews endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in adipocytes as a key factor in the initiation of insulin resistance. The review is human-focused, holistic, and organised in a reductionist way. It opens with the impact of T2DM on people and the global population. Then WAT multifunctional integrated physiology is considered because of its role in metabolism and because obesity, characterised by WAT expansion, is the most significant risk factor for developing T2DM. The importance of adipogenesis in WAT regulation is highlighted. ER stress as an initiator of T2DM through inhibiting insulin action and inducing WAT inflammation is reviewed. The chapter closes with a translation of findings to a clinical context before summerasing and ending with hypotheses, aims and objectives.

#### **1.1 Type II diabetes mellitus**

#### **1.1.1 Definition of diabetes mellitus**

Diabetes mellitus is defined in the Oxford Concise Medical Dictionary as 'a disorder of carbohydrate metabolism in which sugars in the body are not oxidized to produce energy' (Oxford, 2015). Type I diabetes mellitus is characterised by patients having little or no ability to produce insulin from birth or an early age. Type II diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is acquired and is characterised by patients where the pancreas retains some ability to produce insulin but this is inadequate for the needs of the body; or, the body becomes resistant to the effects of insulin (Oxford, 2015). The World Health Organisation (WHO) published its current diagnostic criteria for diabetes mellitus in 2006 as fasted plasma glucose above 7.0 mmol/L (126 mg/dL) or 2-hours post 75 g oral glucose challenge plasma glucose above 11.1 mmol/L (200 mg/dL) (WHO, 2006). In the United Kingdom, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommended the WHO diagnostic criteria in their 'Type 2 diabetes: The management of type 2 diabetes' guidelines published in 2009, updated in July 2014 (NICE, 2009) and they are currently being recommended for the National Health Service (NHS).

#### **1.1.2 Clinical sequelae of type II diabetes mellitus**

Patients with T2DM must balance their diet and clinical interventions to ensure glycaemic control and avoid hyperglycaemia or hypoglycaemia (plasma glucose below 4.0 mmol/L (DiabetesUK, 2015)) to prevent pathophysiology. People with T2DM without appropriate glycaemic control utilise fatty acids instead of glucose as an energy source. However, this disturbs the acid-base balance and ketones can

accumulate in the bloodstream (ketosis) and if untreated can cause diabetic coma (Umpierrez, et al., 2006). Hypoglycaemia is associated with several pathologies including a higher risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) as reviewed in a recent meta-analysis with almost one million T2DM participants (Goto, et al., 2013). Chronic hyperglycaemia gives rise to a greater risk of microenvironmental defects neuropathy, nephropathy, including; retinopathy. microangiopathy and mobilopathy (impaired stem cell mobilisation) (Fadini, et al., 2014; Gerstein and Werstuck, 2013), and macrovascular complications including; ischaemic heart disease, peripheral vascular disease and stroke (Zoungas, et al., 2014). These hyperglycaemic and glucose toxicity induced pathologies arise via a myriad of cellular mechanisms including altered reduction and oxidation (redox) reactions, accumulation of advanced glycated end products, reviewed by Campos (Campos, 2012), and recently emerging epigenetic mechanisms (Kato and Natarajan, 2014). Lipid metabolism is also dysregulated in diabetes causing diabetic dyslipidemia, characterised by elevated postprandial triglyceride, also known as triacylglycerol (TAG), low levels of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, elevated lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and the predominance of small, dense LDL particles, presenting a major cardiovascular risk (Wu and Parhofer, 2014). T2DM is therefore associated with reduced quality of life, significant morbidity and reduced life expectancy (Jia, et al., 2013).

#### 1.1.3 Epidemiology of type II diabetes mellitus

The prevalence of T2DM is increasing globally, over the last three decades it has more than doubled (Chen, *et al.*, 2012). The International Diabetes Federation (IDF) has estimated that worldwide diabetes prevalence will increase from 382 million in 2013 to 592 million in 2035 (IDF, 2014). The WHO predicts that deaths due to diabetes will double between 2005 and 2030 (WHO, 2011). There are variations in prevalence by geographical location, ethnicity, sex and age. Geographic variations have been attributed to differences in socio-economic status whilst ethnic variations seem to have more profound metabolic causes, possibly linked to adipose tissue (WAT) distribution and function (Chan, *et al.*, 2009). There is a small gender difference in the global numbers of people with diabetes, with about 14 million more men than women estimated to have diabetes in 2013, and the prevalence increases sharply with age in both sexes (Forouhi and Wareham, 2014).

T2DM costs individuals their quality and length of life whilst the clinical management of the chronic disease and reduced productivity has considerable financial implications. The excess lifetime medical spending of a person diagnosed with T2DM at 40 years old compared to without T2DM in the United States of America (USA) has been estimated to be \$211,400 (Zhuo, *et al.*, 2014). People with diabetes require at least two to three times the health-care resources compared to people who do not have diabetes, and diabetes care may account for up to 15 % of national health care budgets (Zhang, *et al.*, 2010). An inexorable increase in the direct medical cost of diabetes and its detrimental economic impact through reduced productivity has been recorded (Herman, 2013). The World Economic Forum (WEF) have warned in their 2014 Global Risks Report that the projected increase in number of people with T2DM and the associated healthcare funding will pose 'a defining challenge for all countries over the next 10 years' (WEF, 2014). Therefore T2DM causes a huge burden on global society, both

medically and financially. Understanding the risk factors and causes of T2DM will allow development of suitable interventions to reduce this burden on global society.

#### 1.1.4 Obesity and type II diabetes mellitus

There are several risk factors associated with developing T2DM, including smoking, adverse developmental origins, and genetic susceptibility (Chan, et al., 2009). The main aetiological risk factors are age, obesity, family history and physical inactivity (Forouhi and Wareham, 2014). However the single most important risk factor in contributing to T2DM is obesity (Guh, et al., 2009). Obesity is heterogeneous and alone it is not a definitive propensity for T2DM. For example, there is a defined subset of obese people who are metabolically healthy but obese (MHO) that do not exhibit an increased mortality, increased risk of CVD, or an increased risk of T2DM compared to normal weight controls (Seo and Rhee, 2014). In obesity there is an expansion of adipose tissue, and where the excess adipose tissue is deposited and how it functions influences T2DM risk. Excess abdominal adipose tissue, termed 'central obesity' poses a greater risk for developing T2DM than excess gluteal adipose tissue (Balkau, et al., 2007). Paradoxically, obesity is not a prerequisite for T2DM. Indeed there are individuals who are not obese on the basis of height and weight, with a body mass index (BMI) of less than 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, but are hyperinsulinemic, insulin-resistant and have T2DM (Ruderman, et al., 1998). These individuals have been described as 'metabolically obese but normal weight' (MONW) (Ruderman, et al., 1998). MHO and MONW populations have been investigated and WAT distribution, regulation and function hypothesised as a potential discriminant between the two groups in risk of developing T2DM (Karelis, *et al.*, 2004). WAT dysfunction can lead to the accumulation of lipids in tissues not primarily intended for fat storage such as liver, pancreas, muscle and kidney. This ectopic fat has pathophysiological effects and may in part explain the difference in risk of developing T2DM in MHO and MONW (Hill, *et al.*, 2009; Strohle and Worm, 2014). WAT plays a vital role in systemic metabolism and since T2DM is a disease of metabolism, the initiation of insulin resistance and subsequent T2DM may arise due to adverse adipose tissue function.

#### **1.2 Adipose tissue heterogeneity**

#### 1.2.1 Brown adipose tissue

Adipose tissue found in mammals can be broadly split into two categories; white adipose tissue (WAT) and brown adipose tissue (BAT) (Peirce, *et al.*, 2014). Investigations into BAT over thirty years ago in rats found the tissue has important thermogenesis functions that can be cold-induced and diet-induced (Rothwell and Stock, 1979). BAT is especially abundant in neonates and in hibernating mammals where it serves to generate body heat (Gesta, *et al.*, 2007). BAT contains a much higher number of mitochondria per cell and has a more extensive capillary network than WAT and therefore it can be distinguished from WAT by histology. BAT also has a characteristic protein, uncoupling protein-1 (UCP-1), which can be used as a marker of the tissue (Cannon and Nedergaard, 2004). Although BAT had been found in human neonates, evidence confirming the presence of BAT in adult humans remained sparse until recently. Paired computer tomography (CT) and positron-emission tomography (PET) scans have

indicated the presence of BAT in adult humans in the region of anterior neck to thorax and were confirmed by immunostaining and histology (Cypess, et al., 2009). Furthermore, magnetic resonance (MR) imaging has been used to identify human BAT (Reddy, et al., 2014). Not only has BAT been identified in adult humans, its activity has also been revealed. BAT thermogenesis activity has been demonstrated in healthy men when exposed to cold temperatures (16 C) and BAT activity was reduced in men who are overweight or obese (van Marken Lichtenbelt, et al., 2009). BAT activity in humans has also been pharmacologically activated by an orally administered  $\beta$ 3-adrenergic receptor agonist and shown to increase resting metabolic rate by about 200 kcal compared to control (Cypess, et al., 2015). Cellular mechanistic studies have been conducted to compare properties of BAT and WAT, however these have been mostly restricted to rodent model systems (Rosell, et al., 2014). BAT may play a role in adult human metabolism but WAT has a much larger role in metabolism, energy storage and energy regulation and WAT comprises the vast majority of human AT (Obregon, 2014). Furthermore, WAT is expanded in obesity, the most significant risk factor for developing T2DM. Therefore WAT will be considered further.

#### **1.2.2 Distinct adipose tissue depots**

WAT, like skeletal muscle, is distributed through the body in discrete depots (figure 1.2.2) (Shen, *et al.*, 2003). Subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) represents about 85 % of all body fat and is unequally distributed through the body, with larger depots in the abdomen (Abd SAT), thigh, gluteal, femoral and mammary region (Frayn and Karpe, 2014). Visceral adipose tissue (VAT) depots are deeper

in the abdomen than SAT and include omental that connects to the stomach. The functions and properties of each WAT depot overlap but there are distinct differences (White and Tchoukalova, 2014). Accumulation of adipose tissue in different depots has differential risk associated with development of T2DM. Early clinical observations by Vague suggested upper-body obesity, commonly referred to as central obesity, was associated with a much greater incidence of insulin resistance than lower-body obesity (Vague, 1956). In central obesity, different depths of abdominal SAT are functionally distinct and independently correlate with metabolic complications of obesity (Smith, et al., 2001). These observations have been supported by several studies, reviewed by Frayn et al. (Frayn, et al., 2003). The difference in risk of developing T2DM conferred by different WAT depots is likely to be due to a combination of WAT properties including lipid and carbohydrate metabolism (lipolysis, lipid accumulation and glucose uptake) and systemic signalling (protein and lipid secretion and innervation). Lipolysis, TAG synthesis and storage, and protein secretion varies between WAT depots as reviewed by Lee et al. (Lee, et al., 2013). Hormone secretion varies between WAT depots, for example the hormone resistin is secreted from both preadipocytes and adipocytes and both gene and protein expression is higher in abdominal WAT compared to femoral or mammary WAT (McTernan, et al., 2002). VAT has been found to secrete more pro-inflammatory molecules like interleukin 6 (IL-6) compared to SAT (Fried, et al., 1998). However abdominal SAT can also secrete large quantities of pro-inflammatory proteins (Youssef-Elabd, et al., 2012). WAT depots can have protective effects against T2DM, for example increased gluteal and femoral WAT in people with a lower waist hip ratio is associated with reduced metabolic risk (Manolopoulos, et al., 2010). The protective phenomenon of gluteal and femoral fat is credited to its beneficial secretion profile (Manolopoulos, *et al.*, 2010). WAT distribution therefore plays a role in relative risk of developing T2DM. Naturally occurring differences in WAT distribution may provide further insight into important depots for developing T2DM.



Figure 1.2.2 Major adipose tissue depots

*Figure 1.2.2 legend: Major adipose tissue depots.* Adipose tissue is distributed throughout the body in discrete depots with functionally distinct properties.

#### 1.2.3 Gender and race differences in adipose tissue distribution

There are sex specific differences in total WAT and its distribution (White and Tchoukalova, 2014). Women have generally higher total adiposity than men

(Blaak, 2001). Women accumulate more WAT in lower body depots like gluteal and femoral, while men accumulate more WAT in central areas, both Abd SAT and VAT (Geer and Shen, 2009). Perhaps this is partly why more men develop obesity linked T2DM than women. Mechanisms that underlie this sexual dimorphism are unclear. Sex steroid hormones androgen and estrogen have been investigated. Testosterone-treated men have less adiposity and selective loss of central WAT (Allan and McLachlan, 2010), however women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) with a hyperandrogenic state are prone to central obesity (Escobar-Morreale and San Millan, 2007). Sex specific differences in lipid and glucose metabolism have been investigated and may be an underlying explanation for the observed differences in WAT distribution (Varlamov, *et al.*, 2015). Sex hormone milieu has been linked to gender and race differences in obesity (Perry and Martin, 2014).

Evidence of race disparities in adiposity has been accumulating and these differences are becoming apparent from early childhood (Zilanawala, *et al.*, 2014). Obesity is the most significant risk factor for developing T2DM across different ethnicities, however the risk of developing T2DM varies by extent of obesity in different ethnicities. For example, a prospective study found that Europeans developed T2DM at a much higher obesity, measured by BMI and waist circumference, compared to South Asians and Arfican-Caribbeans (Tillin, *et al.*, 2015). These differences may be due to altered WAT function in different ethnicities. WAT was previously regarded as a dormant energy store, however in recent years a plethora of WAT functions has come to light. WAT dysregulation,

that is abnormal or impairment in the regulation of metabolic or physiological processes, may contribute to T2DM development.

#### 1.2.4 Adipose tissue composition

WAT is comprised of many cell types that together orchestrate several important physiological processes (Trujillo and Scherer, 2006). WAT is a multifaceted tissue consisting of preadipocytes, adipocytes, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, vascular smooth muscle cells and resident immune cells such as monocytes, macrophages, T cells and B cells (Caspar-Bauguil, et al., 2005; Nishimura, et al., 2013). The precursor cells constitute the stromal vascular fraction of adipose tissue. Human WAT is a source of multipotent stem cells (Zuk, et al., 2002). Adipocytes are the main cellular component of WAT and the key functional energy-storing unit at the interface of energy homeostasis dynamically influenced by a number of cues from surrounding cells and distant hormonal and neuronal stimuli. To facilitate systemic integration, WAT is supplied with a highly regulated and dynamic network of vasculature (Frayn and Karpe, 2014; Yilmaz and Hotamisligil, 2013), lymph nodes (Pond and Mattacks, 1995) and is innervated by the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) (Bartness and Song, 2007). The WAT as a whole is greater than the sum of the individual parts and the parts work together to accomplish a multitude of functions. Dysregulation of the WAT and consequent suboptimal functionality may contribute to the pathogenesis of T2DM.

#### **1.3 Integrative adipose tissue functions**

#### **1.3.1 Immune functions**

WAT plays such an extensive role in immunology it has been described as an 'immunological organ' by Grant and Dixit in their recent review (Grant and Dixit, 2015). WAT serves as a key site for the interaction of adipocytes with other specialised effectors of the immune system. This is particularly advantageous in SAT immediately below the skin as a first line of defence and may have arisen due to the primitive need to both acquire nutrients and defend against pathogens. Infiltration of inflamed WAT by immune cells such as eosinophils, macrophages and neutrophils bolsters the existing WAT resident immune cell repertoire and is an important feature of the immune system to provide host defence against pathogens (Exley, et al., 2014). There are several similarities between adipocytes and a wide range of immune cells including macrophages, dendritic cells and T cells (Wellen and Hotamisligil, 2005). These features include pathogen sensing, phagocytic properties, complement activation and production of inflammatory mediators (Shoelson, et al., 2006). In vitro studies on human adipocytes have shown antigenic stimuli increased the secretion of the adipokine resistin and that proinflammatory cytokine levels were increased in response to resistin (Kusminski, et al., 2007). Toll like receptors (TLRs) are expressed on human adipocytes (Wang and Nakayama, 2010). The TLR family of receptors recognise specific components conserved among microorganisms but distinguishable from host molecules, collectively referred to as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Examples of conserved features of pathogens include bacterial cellsurface lipopolysaccharide (LPS), lipoproteins and double stranded RNA of viruses. Adipocyte TLRs are thought to be activated by LPS of gram negative
circulating gut derived bacteria and therefore stimulate an innate immune response (Creely, *et al.*, 2007). Although WAT immune responses and the associated local inflammation assist the defence against pathogens they can be detrimental if the tissue remains inflamed. Resident WAT regulatory B cells play a role in reducing inflammation by secreting anti-inflammatory interleukin-10 (IL-10) (Nishimura, *et al.*, 2013). WAT inflammation must be regulated to prevent adipose tissue dysfunction and subsequent T2DM.

#### **1.3.2 Endocrine functions**

Cells within the WAT secrete several proteins and therefore to perform appropriately they require a functional protein secretion system. Given the resident cells of WAT secrete signalling proteins the WAT can itself be considered as an 'endocrine organ' (Galic, et al., 2010). Cloning of the obese gene and the identification of its product, leptin (Zhang, et al., 1994), was one of the first discoveries of an adipocyte derived signalling molecule and established an important role for adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. Since the discovery of leptin several other adipokines have been characterised, including chemerin, interleukin-6 (IL-6), apelin, visfatin, adiponectin, tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ), plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and retinol binding protein 4 (Ouchi, et al., 2011). The term 'adipokinome' has been suggested to describe collectively the proteins and lipid moieties, such as prostaglandins and fatty acids, released by adipocytes (Trayhurn and Wood, 2004). The secreted molecules of the adipokinome have diverse roles in lipid metabolism, insulin sensitivity, vascular homoeostasis, the alternative complement system, blood pressure regulation, angiogenesis and the regulation of energy balance. Obesity-related adipokines and their possible application as a treatment for obesity has been reviewed (Khan and Joseph, 2014).

Adiponectin is an adipokine synthesized almost exclusively by adipocytes and is the most abundant adipokine in circulation (3 to 30 µg/mL) (Ouchi, et al., 2003). However adiponectin levels are decreased in obese individuals compared to lean individuals (Ryo, et al., 2004). Consistent with this, the synthesis of adiponectin by adipocytes is inhibited by obesity related pro-inflammatory molecules such as IL-6 and TNFa (Berg and Scherer, 2005) as well as by oxidative stress and hypoxia (Hosogai, et al., 2007). An association between adiponectin levels and obesity-linked metabolic dysfunction is supported by several clinical observations. Namely, high adiponectin levels are associated with a lower risk for developing type 2 diabetes, plasma adiponectin levels are decreased in patients with type 2 diabetes (Li, et al., 2009), and plasma adiponectin levels negatively correlate with VAT accumulation (Ryo, et al.. 2004) therefore 'hypoadiponectinemia' is closely associated with the clinical phenotype of the metabolic syndrome. Experimental models indicate that adiponectin protects against obesity linked metabolic dysfunction. Diabetic mice have been shown to reduce hyperglycaemia following administration of adiponectin by enhancing insulin activity (Berg and Scherer, 2005), and when given to obese mice it reduced plasma levels of glucose, TAG and free fatty acids (FFAs) by increasing fatty acid oxidation in muscle tissue (Fruebis, et al., 2001). Consistent with this, transgene mediated overexpression of adiponectin in *ob/ob* mice (leptin deficient) improves glucose metabolism independently of weight loss (Kim, et al., 2007). Adiponectin seems to mediate its beneficial effects in part by activating AMP-

activated protein kinase (AMPK) in liver and skeletal muscle which leads to inhibition of gluconeogenesis in the liver and an increase in fatty acid oxidation and glucose uptake in muscle tissue (Tomas, *et al.*, 2002; Yamauchi, *et al.*, 2002). Adiponectin is synthesised as a 32 kDa monomeric protein and then assembled into low molecular weight trimers, medium molecular weight hexamers and high molecular weight (HMW) multimers (Galic, *et al.*, 2010). The HMW form has insulin sensitising effects (Liu and Liu, 2014).

Leptin is a 16 kDa pro-inflammatory adipokine produced mainly by adipocytes and is required for control of bodyweight and reproduction (Lord, 2006). Mice defective in leptin or the leptin receptor are hyperphagic, obese, insulin resistant and infertile (Lord, 2006). The leptin deficient (ob/ob) mouse has been used extensively as an in vivo model of obesity and T2DM (Drel, et al., 2006). Mice injected with leptin on a daily basis experienced a fast reduction in food intake, body mass and percent body fat, but maintained lean muscle mass, and increased energy expenditure and restored reproductive function and euglycemia (Pelleymounter, et al., 1995). Leptin is effective at improving metabolic dysfunction in patients with congenital leptin deficiency or lipodystrophy (Farooqi, et al., 2002; Oral, et al., 2002). Leptin resistance in obesity has been suggested since levels in the blood positively correlate with adipose mass and obese individuals have high leptin levels without the expected anorexic responses (Friedman and Halaas, 1998). Leptin interacts with both the neuronal and immune systems and the high levels in obesity may play a role in obese related brain diseases (Aguilar-Valles, et al., 2015).

The diverse roles of the leptin and adiponectin and their altered expression in the obese state demonstrate the complexity of adipokine signalling. The two aforementioned adipokines influence the level of WAT inflammation; an important factor given increasing evidence indicates that obesity is causally linked to a chronic low-grade inflammatory state and T2DM ensues (Hotamisligil, 2006; Shoelson, *et al.*, 2006).

# **1.3.3 Energy homeostasis**

Systemic energy homeostasis requires appropriate function of several physiological systems including the digestive, circulatory, musculoskeletal, endocrine, and nervous systems. WAT adipocytes play a vital integrative role between these systems and are the main energy store in the body (Rosen and Spiegelman, 2006). Energy homeostasis is governed by a neuroendocrine system that links WAT to the brain. An example of the WAT – hypothalamus axis is the reciprocal integration of WAT derived peripheral anorexic signal leptin and hypothalamic orexigenic peptide neuropeptide Y (NPY) (Zhang, et al., 2014b). The arcuate nucleus (ARC) of the hypothalamus contains NPY neurons that sense and integrate peripheral energy signals, such as blood glucose concentration, leptin and insulin due to the unique anatomical structure of the ARC in lacking a blood brain barrier (Kohno and Yada, 2012). Energy deficiency and greater metabolic demand such as increased exercise induces the synthesis of ARC NPY (Leibowitz and Wortley, 2004). NPY regulates energy utilisation in WAT by promoting adipogenesis and lipid accumulation and inhibiting lipolysis, and affects food intake by innervating with other appetite regulatory factors in the central nervous system (Zhang, et al., 2014b). WAT also regulates energy

39

homeostasis by influencing liver and muscle metabolism as reviewed by Saltiel and Kahn (Saltiel and Kahn, 2001). Adipocytes release FFAs into the circulation that reduce glucose uptake in muscle, insulin secretion from pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells and increase glucose production from the liver (Bergman and Ader, 2000). Adiposity influences muscle derived peptide irisin, which may have a central role in metabolism given it has been identified in human cerebrospinal fluid (Piya, *et al.*, 2014). WAT regulation is imperative for systemic energy homeostasis and if it becomes dysfunctional then diseases of energy homeostasis, such as T2DM, may arise.

## **1.4 Metabolism in human adipose tissue**

The ability to take up and store energy during a fed state and break down and release energy in a fasted state provides an advantage through the ability to withstand fluctuations in energy supply. WAT adipocytes undertake anabolic and catabolic metabolic processes in response to the needs of the body and contain the biggest reserve of energy in the body in the form of lipid TAG; therefore WAT plays a vital role in systemic energy regulation. WAT adipocytes are able to take up energy from the blood, mostly in the form of carbohydrate (glucose) and lipid (nonesterified fatty acids – NEFA), store energy predominantly as lipid (TAG) and release energy when required predominantly as lipid (NEFA). WAT adipocytes have a very dynamic pattern of metabolism influenced by hormonal and neuronal stimuli and consequently rapidly respond to energy requirements. A dynamic crosstalk between systemic metabolic organs in which WAT plays a prominent role exists to ensure the energy needs of the body are supplied. During a fasted state glycogen stores in the liver become depleted triggering a liver-brain-

adipose neural axis that shifts the energy source from carbohydrate to TAG in adipocytes in order to maintain energy balance (Izumida, *et al.*, 2013). Conversely, in a fed state glycogen accumulates in the liver and lipogenesis is stimulated in adipocytes (Lu, *et al.*, 2014).

Proteins are essential at virtually every stage of systemic energy transfer; digestive enzymes, transport proteins in cellular uptake and circulation transfer, biochemical enzymes that catalyze anabolic and catabolic reactions, energy regulatory hormones, energy storage proteins such as those coating lipid droplets and many more function in systemic and WAT metabolism. Therefore functional protein metabolism, especially protein synthesis, is vital for systemic energy regulation. Thus the intracellular organelle ER that processes proteins plays a vital role in energy regulation and impaired ER function can cause several pathologies (Kim and Arvan, 1998; Ni and Lee, 2007). In this section about metabolism in human WAT, the roles of proteins are presented in an integrated way just as the roles of proteins are integrated in WAT metabolism. Excess WAT in obesity is the main risk factor for T2DM, a disease of impaired metabolism; therefore metabolic processes in WAT may play an important role in the initiation of T2DM.

# 1.4.1 Lipid metabolism

Dietary fat is absorbed by the gut and transported to the circulation in chylomicrons (Mansbach and Gorelick, 2007). Fatty acids from circulating lipids are provided to WAT by the albumin-bound NEFA pool, or either TAG incorporated in chylomicrons in the postprandial state, or TAG within very low-

density lipoprotein (VLDL) in the post-absorptive state. TAG must be hydrolyzed to fatty acids by extracellular enzyme lipoprotein lipase bound to the wall of capillaries before they can be taken up by adipocytes (Mead, *et al.*, 2002). The trafficking of fatty acids into and out of adipocytes is regulated by several proteins and enzymes and is under control by hormonal and metabolic factors (Thompson, *et al.*, 2010). Within adipocytes NEFAs are converted to TAG and stored in lipid droplets (LDs), the lipid storage organelles of all organisms. When energy is required in other tissues TAG is converted by lipases to NEFA and glycerol and both are released into the circulation (Walther and Farese, 2012). During fasting, plasma NEFA is almost entirely from hydrolysis of TAG stored in SAT LDs (Karpe, *et al.*, 2011). NEFA circulates predominantly bound to albumin and is taken up and oxidized in muscle, liver and other tissues. A proportion will be reesterified to form new TAG in the liver, which is exported in VLDL and can be taken up by adipocytes after being broken down to NEFA by lipoprotein lipase (Frayn and Humphreys, 2012).

LDs and their associated proteins in adipocytes play a specific role in maintaining systemic energy homeostasis. The cytosolic LD is composed of a core of TAG surrounded by a monolayer of phospholipids and lipid droplet-associated proteins, including enzyme coactivators and structural proteins. Neutral lipids occupy the core of LDs and in human adipocytes are primarily TAG with few sterol esters. In mammalian cells TAG synthesis is catalyzed by acyl-coenzyme A:diacylglycerol acyltransferase (DGAT) enzymes DGAT1 and DGAT2 (Buhman, *et al.*, 2001). DGAT1 and DGAT2 both reside within the ER, although DGAT2 is also found in relatively small quantities in mitochondrial-associated membranes (Stone, *et al.*,

2009). LD formation requires further clarification, however evidence suggests LDs form de novo in mammalian cells from the ER membrane. ER diacylglycerol (DAG) enrichment recruits perilipin 3, a LD coat protein (Skinner, *et al.*, 2009), LDs are arrested in the ER membrane by tight binding of lipidated apolipoprotein B-100 (ApoB) (Ohsaki, *et al.*, 2008), and ER localised fat storage-inducing transmembrane proteins 1 and 2 (FIT1 and FIT2) mediate partitioning of cellular TG into LDs (Gross, *et al.*, 2010). Lipid droplet formation is tightly regulated with cholesterol efflux to maintain intracellular free cholesterol level within a narrow range (Martin and Parton, 2006). Studies in macrophages have found that increases in ER free cholesterol can lead to the induction of the unfolded protein response via changes in the activity of the ER calcium pump sarco(endo)plasmic-reticulum calcium ATPase-2b (SERCA2b) that lead to the depletion of ER calcium stores (Feng, *et al.*, 2003; Li, *et al.*, 2004). Therefore the ER plays a vital role in the formation of lipid droplets and ER functional integrity is essential for appropriate LD formation and energy storage.

Lipolysis is the catabolism of TAG in LDs. In WAT lipolysis is a key process to regulate cellular and systemic energy homeostasis. Lipolytic pathways converge on either protein kinase A (PKA) or protein kinase G (PKG), which phosphorylate several proteins interacting with the LD, the site of action of lipases and cofactors (Arner and Langin, 2014). At the LD surface TAG are sequentially hydrolysed into DAG, monoacylglycerol (MAG) and glycerol, releasing one molecule of fatty acid (FA) at each step. Three lipases work in sequential fashion in human adipocytes to ensure complete hydrolysis of TAG: adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) (Zimmermann, *et al.*, 2004), hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) and

monoglyceride lipase (Bezaire, *et al.*, 2009). Both ATGL and HSL require phosphorylation to become fully active lipases (Krintel, *et al.*, 2008; Pagnon, *et al.*, 2012). Key proteins, including perilipin (Brasaemle, 2007) and cell deathinducing DFFA-like effector A (CIDEA) (Puri, *et al.*, 2008), associate with the LD in human adipocytes and seem to play a role in TAG deposition and lipolysis. Lipolysis in WAT and the subsequent increase in plasma NEFA has been considered inevitable in obesity and was suggested as a mechanism for obesity induced T2DM. However many studies have shown that as WAT mass expands, NEFA release per kilogram WAT is downregulated. Furthermore, obese T2DM subjects can have normal NEFA concentrations and subjects with elevated NEFA concentrations do not necessarily have insulin resistance (Karpe, *et al.*, 2011). Lipolytic products including FAs and DAGs serve as signalling intermediates and may play a role in metabolic regulation (Masoodi, *et al.*, 2014; Zechner, *et al.*, 2012).

Adipose tissue is the body's biggest pool of cholesterol. In adipocytes nearly all cholesterol (>95 %) exists as free, non-esterified form and resides mostly in the LD (Murphy, *et al.*, 2009) and a lower amount in plasma membrane (PM) invaginations called caveolae (Pilch, *et al.*, 2011). Adipocyte cytoplasmic cholesterol derives mostly from lipoprotein uptake, whereas PM cholesterol is predominantly from de novo cholesterol biosynthesis (Musso, *et al.*, 2013). Caveolae are important signalling platforms, serving as a concentrating point for several signalling molecules, including glucose transporter type 4 (glut4) and insulin receptor, and their stability and functionality depends on high PM cholesterol content. Decreasing PM cholesterol, as is the case in hyperthrophied

adipocytes in dysregulated obesity, dilutes the PM cholesterol across an increased cell surface (Le Lay, *et al.*, 2001). Consequently, sterol regulatory elementbinding protein 2 (SREBP2) detects cholesterol PM dilution as cholesterol depletion and activates transcription of cholesterol biosynthesis genes, further promoting cholesterol accumulation (Bauer, *et al.*, 2011). In addition, PM cholesterol depletion disrupts caveolae integrity and function and subsequently impairs intracellular insulin signalling (Breen, *et al.*, 2012). The regulation of adipocyte lipid metabolism is therefore paramount to ensure appropriate energy utilisation.

#### **1.4.2 Carbohydrate metabolism**

Metabolism of carbohydrates in WAT is essential for the transfer of energy to quickly available energy via the generation of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and for long-term energy storage via integration with lipid synthesis. WAT stores the largest energy reserve in the body, however this is almost exclusively made up of TAG and relatively little carbohydrate is stored. The liver and skeletal muscle store most of the body's carbohydrate reserve as glycogen, and glycogen storage diseases primarily affect these tissues (Hicks, *et al.*, 2011). Glucose enters adipocytes through glut4 responsible for basal (unstimulated) and insulinstimulated glucose uptake (Mueckler and Thorens, 2013). In WAT, glucose is mostly used for mitochondrial dependent aerobic respiration to generate ATP. Mitochondrial dysfunction in WAT has been linked to activation of ER stress (Rainbolt, *et al.*, 2014) and progression of T2DM (Kusminski and Scherer, 2012). Within adipocytes the interorganellar organisation between the mitochondria and ER is important to perform specialised tasks. Bidirectional communications

between these two compartments is supported by evidence suggesting the regulation of numerous physiological processes including mitochondrial metabolism, calcium signalling and cell death (de Brito and Scorrano, 2010). Therefore the functional integrity of the ER plays a vital role in cellular energy homeostasis and thus in turn systemic energy homeostasis.

In lipogenic tissues, such as WAT, the expression and activity of glycolytic and lipogenic pathways are linked. Carbohydrates are utilised in adipocytes both for the synthesis of TAG from existing fatty acids, and for the synthesis of new fatty acid molecules from non-lipid substrates in de novo lipogenesis (DNL). The synthesis of TAG requires glycerol-3-phoshate (G3P) for the initial step of fatty acid esterification. G3P is produced in adipocytes either from glucose through the first steps of glycolysis or from gluconeogenic precursors through glyceroneogenesis (Reshef, et al., 2003). Human DNL contributions from liver (1.5 kg) and WAT (12 - 15 kg), on a whole body basis, are comparable between 1 -2 g/day for each tissue (Diraison, et al., 2003). DNL in human adipocytes is stimulated by glucose and a full stimulation requires the simultaneous presence of glucose and insulin (Foufelle, et al., 1992). In the liver glucose acts by dephosphorylation of carbohydrate response element binding protein (ChREBP) allowing it to enter the nucleus where it binds to a specific response element in the promoter of glycolytic (liver pyruvate kinase, L-PK) and lipogenic (fatty acid synthase, FAS and acetyl-CoA carboxylase, ACC) genes. The roles of glucose and ChREBP in WAT are not as extensively studied as in the liver, however evidence suggests signalling is mediated through the activation of the classical ChREBP isoform ChREBP- $\alpha$  and the expression of a recently identified isoform,

ChREBP- $\beta$  (Herman, *et al.*, 2012). This new isoform is a potent stimulator of the lipogenic pathway. Therefore carbohydrate metabolism in WAT is essential for systemic energy regulation and dysfunction in T2DM can have many adverse consequences.

# 1.4.3 Regulation of adipose metabolism

Adipocyte metabolism is subject to several levels of regulation, including endocrine, metabolic and neuronal that synergistically coordinate appropriate energy transfer for the varying needs of the body influenced by diet, physical activity and physiological processes. Endocrine and metabolic regulators are distributed to adipocytes via the blood flow, hence the regulation of blood flow itself can alter the metabolism of WAT (Frayn and Karpe, 2014). Insulin is the classical regulator of metabolism in WAT. The hormone is secreted by pancreatic β-cells and has systemic metabolic effects, altering liver, muscle and WAT metabolism. In adipocytes insulin activates several signalling cascades that include the activation by phosphorylation of Akt, also known as protein kinase B, that result in enhanced glucose uptake and inhibited lipolysis, as reviewed by Guo (Guo, 2014). Insulin secretion is stimulated in the post-prandial state by a class of gut hormones called incretins that include glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide (GIP) (Kim and Egan, 2008). Conversely, in the fasted state insulin secretion is inhibited by a recently identified hormone called limostatin which is expressed in  $\beta$ -cells and described as a 'decretin' (Alfa, et al., 2015). Other important endocrine hormones also control adipose tissue physiology and metabolism, including growth hormone and thyroid hormone as reviewed by Carmean et al. (Carmean, et al., 2014),

androgens (O'Reilly, *et al.*, 2014) and glucocorticoids (Lundgren, *et al.*, 2008). Metabolic nutrients including glucose, amino acids and fatty acids are capable of activating intracellular signalling cascades such as the hexosamine, mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) signalling pathways (Marshall, 2006). The aforementioned pathways are interconnected, coupled to insulin signalling and linked to the release of metabolic hormones from WAT (Holzer, *et al.*, 2011). Vitamin B12 deficiency has been linked to an adverse lipid profile in subjects with T2DM in multiple populations, therefore micronutrients including vitamin B12 may also influence WAT metabolism (Adaikalakoteswari, *et al.*, 2014). WAT is innervated by the SNS and adipocyte lipolysis can be stimulated by norepinephrine (NE) activating  $\beta$ -adrenoceptor and consequent downstream activation of HSL (Bartness, *et al.*, 2014). These endocrine, metabolic and neuronal factors interplay to coordinate adipocyte metabolism.

Adipocyte metabolism is also influenced by genetic makeup and epigenetic mechanisms of genome regulation. Genome wide association studies (GWAS) have identified candidate genes such as transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) with specific alleles that confer an increased relative risk for developing T2DM through altered metabolism (Grant, *et al.*, 2006). Not only do certain genes confer an increased risk for developing T2DM, but also how genes are regulated. This is important during embryonic development, where several factors including the nutritional status of the mother influence the genetic regulation of the foetus by epigenetic mechanisms, such as DNA methylation, and predict metabolic health outcomes of the foetus (Kaijser, *et al.*, 2009). Epigenetic genome regulation is not

confined to development; indeed it is a dynamic process that occurs throughout life. DNA methylation profiles of several genes biologically relevant to the development of adiposity including lipase, hormone sensitive (LIPE) encoding HSL, in SAT of adult men and women are associated with extent of adiposity (Agha, *et al.*, 2014). Vitamin B12 insufficiency has been shown to induce cholesterol biosynthesis by limiting s-adenosylmethionine and modulating the methylation of SREBF1 and LDLR genes (Adaikalakoteswari, *et al.*, 2015). A further link between genome and metabolic profile has been hypothesised via telomere length. Enhanced biological aging in South Asian T2DM men with reduced telomere length tracked changes in lipids and BMI (Harte, *et al.*, 2012a). Therefore adipocyte metabolism plays a vital role in energy homeostasis and is regulated by several mechanisms. In T2DM these regulatory mechanisms fail and adipocyte metabolism becomes dysregulated causing considerable pathologies. Elucidating the initiation of adipocyte dysregulation will allow development of preventive measures and alleviate the burden of T2DM.





*Figure 1.4.3 legend: The importance of adipose tissue.* Adipose tissue is multifunctional and integrates several systems in the body to fulfill several vitally important roles.

# **1.5 Adipogenesis**

Adipocytes are specialised cells that synthesise and store fat in WAT and play a major role in systemic energy homeostasis. In order to accommodate the energy requirements of the body WAT is able to expand and contract during adult life despite most development during prenatal and early postnatal life (Poulos, *et al.*, 2010). WAT expansion occurs primarily in two ways, by increasing adipocyte cell number (hyperplasia) or by increasing the size of existing adipocytes (hypertrophy). Evidence suggests obesity complications in humans result from the

inability of SAT to appropriately expand and store lipids, and consequently ectopic fat deposition and lipotoxicity contribute to insulin resistance (Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010). Impaired WAT expandability is mainly due to defects in progenitor cells to fail to supply specialised cells through their differentiation into adipocytes, a process termed adipogenesis (Isakson, et al., 2009). Forced expansion of WAT via increased hyperplasia induced by transgenic overexpression of adiponectin in ob/ob mice normalized glucose and insulin levels and prevented insulin resistance despite massive obesity (Kim, et al., 2007). Therefore adipogenesis is an important process to maintain WAT metabolic function. Adipogenesis is continually required throughout life since about 10 % of adipocytes in the body are regenerated annually (Spalding, et al., 2008). In their 2013 Nature Medicine article, Scherer's group described understanding the underlying mechanisms of adipogenesis as 'more than an academic exercise' and 'of paramount importance with respect for clinical readouts for the metabolic syndrome in the clinic' (Wang, et al., 2013). Furthermore Peirce et al. have proposed in their 2014 Nature Review article that 'the development of successful strategies to target adipose tissues will depend on investigations that elucidate their developmental origins and cell-type-specific functional regulators' (Peirce, et al., 2014). Therefore characterising human adipogenesis is vital for gaining insight into the pathogenesis of metabolic diseases such as T2DM and for identifying potential targets for pharmacological intervention.

# 1.5.1 Progenitor origin and cell lineage

Several sites of adipocyte progenitor origin have been explored including ectodermal, mesenchymal, endothelial, and hematopoietic, however further clarification is required as reviewed by Hyvonen and Spalding (Hyvonen and Spalding, 2014). Adipocytes are thought to derive mostly from mesodermal stem cells residing in the AT stroma. Human WAT is an established source if multipotent stem cells (Zuk, et al., 2002). Furthermore, analysis of intact human SAT revealed adipose derived stem cells distributed in the stroma (Maumus, et al., 2011). However, linear tracing studies in mice indicate that a subset of facial adipocytes originate from the neural crest and therefore derive from the ectoderm (Billon, et al., 2007). Evidence suggests adipocyte precursors may have endothelial origin and exist in the AT vasculature, integrated in the walls of blood vessels in WAT (Sengenes, et al., 2005; Tang, et al., 2008). This finding is supported by reports indicating that angiogenesis and adipogenesis are tightly correlated (Cao, 2007). Bone marrow reconstitution studies found that bone marrow progenitor-derived adipocytes and AT progenitor-derived adipocytes both derive from hematopoietic cells via the myeloid lineage (Majka, et al., 2010). These bone marrow progenitor-derived adipocytes accumulated more in women compared to men, and more in VAT compared to SAT and therefore may contribute to WAT depot heterogeneity.

Adipocyte progenitors in human AT have been found to be depot-specific (Tchkonia, *et al.*, 2007) and differences between adipocytes derived from SAT and VAT have been documented (Kovsan, *et al.*, 2009). Functional differences between mesenchymal stem cell populations are reflected by their transcriptome (Jansen, *et al.*, 2010). Adipocyte progenitors may contribute towards regional variation in WAT function and development (Baglioni, *et al.*, 2012). This may in part explain the depot-specific differences in metabolic function and association

with relative risk of developing T2DM (Karastergiou, *et al.*, 2013). With nutritional overload VAT expands predominantly by adipocyte hypertrophy whereas SAT by adipocyte hyperplasia (Joe, *et al.*, 2009). Hyperplasia allows a greater expansion compared to hypertrophy and therefore the difference in expansion method between SAT and WAT may partly explain why central obesity, characterised by expanded VAT and Abd SAT, confers a greater risk of metabolic dysfunction than gluteal and femoral SAT expansion.

## **1.5.2 Adipogenesis regulation**

Adipogenesis describes the transition of fibroblast-like preadipocytes into differentiated, lipid-laden, insulin-responsive adipocytes, highly expressing adipocyte-specific genes such as adiponectin (Ouchi, et al., 2003). Characterisation of adipogenesis regulatory processes have benefited from the discovery of key pathways and transcription factors that contribute to the adipogenic process, as reviewed by Lefterova and Lazar (Lefterova and Lazar, 2009). The transcription factors peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARy) and CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins (CEBPs) are considered the crucial determinants of adipocyte fate. Although other factors including extracellular acting wingless-type mouse mammary tumour virus integration site family proteins (Wnts) and intracellular cell-cycle proteins also play roles in adipogenesis. There are several inhibitors of adipogenesis including CEBP homologous protein-10 (CHOP) upregulated in ER stress by the unfolded protein response (UPR) (Hou, et al., 2013), and certain T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor (TCF/LEF) proteins, activated by Wnt signalling (Farmer, 2006). Expression of CHOP in 3T3-L1 adipocytes attenuated adiponectin promoter activity (Hosogai, *et al.*, 2007), therefore ER stress activation of CHOP during adipogenesis might suppress adipocyte gene expression. Recently the micro RNA (miRNA) miR-540 has been suggested to impair adipogenesis via suppression of PPAR $\gamma$  (Chen, *et al.*, 2015). Adipogenesis is associated with the UPR, and the UPR pathway IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s is indispensible for successful murine adipogenesis (Sha, *et al.*, 2009). Thus, ER stress activation of the UPR may disrupt adipogenesis and consequently limit the expansion of WAT by hyperplasia and increase the likelihood of developing insulin resistance. Therefore a network of transcription factors and cell-cycle regulators, in concert with transcriptional coactivators and corepressors, respond to extracellular stimuli to activate or repress adipogenesis.

CEBP $\alpha$ , - $\beta$  and - $\delta$  belong to a family of highly conserved basic-leucine zipper proteins and were among the first transcription factors to be implicated in adipocyte differentiation (Otto and Lane, 2005). CEBP $\beta$  is induced early in adipogenesis to transactivate the expression of both CEBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  (Guo, *et al.*, 2015). CEBP $\alpha$  is induced late in adipogenesis and is most highly expressed in adipocytes where it is essential for insulin-dependent glucose uptake (Wu, *et al.*, 1999). CEBP $\alpha$ -knockout mice with liver abnormalities rescued to prevent death fail to accumulate WAT in all depots and have hyperlipidemia and hyperinsulinemia (Linhart, *et al.*, 2001). CEBP $\alpha$  has been shown to bind to several individual genes in adipocytes, however the extent of CEBP $\alpha$  binding to genomic DNA was unknown until the employment of GWAS. GWAS have revealed thousands of CEBP $\alpha$  binding sites, many of which have a considerable degree of colocalization with PPAR $\gamma$  (Lefterova, *et al.*, 2008). Therefore both

54

CEBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  may be required for the expression of genes at which the two transcription factors colocalize.

PPARy induction during adipogenesis is both necessary and sufficient and no factor has been identified that can rescue adipogenesis in the absence of PPARy (Tontonoz and Spiegelman, 2008). PPARy belongs to the nuclear receptor superfamily of ligand-activated transcription factors (Lehrke and Lazar, 2005). The endogenous PPAR $\gamma$  ligand requires clarification, although lipid metabolites such as polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and eicosanoids have been implicated as ligands (Fu, et al., 2005). GWAS have shown PPARy has approximately 5,300 DNA binding sites, several of which are also bound by retinoid X receptor (RXR), and related to the DR-1 consensus sequence (Nielsen, et al., 2008). This is strengthened by evidence of PPAR $\gamma$  binding as a heterodimer with RXR on DNA at the DR-1 consensus sequence (Chandra, et al., 2008). PPARy can bind to target genes without a ligand bound. In this state several corepressors bind that collectively recruit histone deacetylases that repress transcription. When a ligand binds PPAR $\gamma$  a conformational change occurs that allows the binding of coactivators such as steroid receptor coactivators (SRCs) (Tontonoz and Spiegelman, 2008). In adipocytes some genes like fatty acid binding protein 2 (aP2) are constitutively associated with PPARy and coactivators resulting in high transcription levels. However other genes such as glycerol kinase (Gyk) and oxidized LDL-receptor 1 (Olr1) require a ligand to bind to PPAR $\gamma$  to cause the exchange of corepressors for coactivators to activate gene transcription (Guan, et al., 2005). Receptor-interacting protein 140 (RIP140) binds to the PPARγ liganded receptor but represses transcription (White, et al., 2008). RIP140 antagonizes the effects of PPAR $\gamma$  coactivator-1 $\alpha$  (PGC-1 $\alpha$ ), a coactivator that induces mitochondrial biogenesis and may play a role in systemic metabolism (Nautiyal, *et al.*, 2013). UPR is associated with adipogenesis and the UPR activated transcription factor X-box binding protein 1 (XBP1) is a novel key regulator of PPAR $\gamma$  in murine models (Cho, *et al.*, 2014). Elucidating the links between human UPR and adipogenesis will provide insight into the regulation of adipogenesis and may help derive pharmacological targets with clinical benefit for the treatment of obesity and T2DM.

## 1.5.3 Wnt signalling in adipogenesis

Wnt proteins comprise a family of highly conserved secreted proteins that exert autocrine and paracrine actions via binding to cell-surface receptors (Herr, *et al.*, 2012). Wnt ligands bind to the frizzled (FZD) and low-density-lipoprotein-related protein 5/6 (LRP5/6) coreceptor complex to activate the canonical Wnt signalling pathway (figure 1.5.3). The activated receptor complex disrupts or functionally inactivates a  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex. The destruction complex consists of the scaffold protein Axin, adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) and casein kinase-1 (CKI). When Wnt is not bound to its surface receptors, the destruction complex is active and regulates the phosphorylation, ubiquitination and subsequent degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin. When Wnt is bound to its surface receptors, the destruction complex is inhibited,  $\beta$ catenin accumulates in the cytoplasm and translocates to the nucleus where it engages the TCF/LEF transcription factors to activate the Wnt transcriptional program (Li, *et al.*, 2012). Several TCF/LEF targets are linked to cell differentiation. For example TCF7 has been shown to regulate a selfrenewal/differentiation switch that operates in the absence of Wnt signalling (Wu, *et al.*, 2012). Negative feedback regulation of the Wnt pathway is thought to be mediated through conductin, encoded by the *AXIN2* gene and also known as axin2 (Bernkopf, *et al.*, 2015).



Figure 1.5.3 Wnt signalling pathway

*Figure 1.5.3 legend: Wnt signalling pathway.* Wnt proteins are secreted and exert autocrine and paracrine actions via binding to cell-surface receptors and result in target cell β-catenin translocating to the nucleus to activate Wnt target genes. (Wnt; Wingless-type mouse mammary tumour virus integration site family protein, LRP; low-density-lipoprotein-related protein, Dvl; dishevelled, APC; adenomatous polyposis coli, GSK-3; glycogen synthase kinase-3, CKI; casein

kinase-1, β-TrCP; beta-transducin repeat containing E3 ubiquitin protein ligase, p; phosphorylated, Ub; ubiquitin, TCF; T-cell factor.)

The Wnt and  $\beta$ -catenin canonical pathway is well established in morphogenesis of bone, intestine and the hematopoietic system (Clevers and Nusse, 2012). The first report linking Wnt signalling to adipogenesis demonstrated that activation of the Wnt pathway impairs adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (mouse derived preadipocytes with the capacity to undergo adipogenesis into adipocytes (Green and Kehinde, 1975)) (Ross, *et al.*, 2000). In a subsequent investigation,  $\beta$ -catenin was selectively deleted in uterine mesenchyme during early embriogenesis, which led to the replacement of uterine smooth muscle with adipocytes. The adipocytes were found to originate from the same precursors as smooth muscle cells, indicating Wnt proteins influence adipocyte cell fate *in vivo* (Arango, et al., 2005). It has been hypothesised that reciprocal repression might exist between Wnt signalling and CEBP $\alpha$  or PPAR $\gamma$  because activation of these factors can lead to a substantial reduction in  $\beta$ -catenin levels (Moldes, *et al.*, 2003). More recently it has been suggested that Wnt normally inhibits CEBP $\alpha$  as a negative feedback loop to reduce adipogenesis (Christodoulides, *et al.*, 2009).

Wnt10b has been extensively studied in an adipogenesis context (Rosen and MacDougald, 2006). Wnt10b has been shown to impair WAT and BAT formation *in vivo* when overexpressed specifically in mouse adipocytes (Longo, *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, increasing Wnt10b levels in WAT leads to decreased susceptibility to obesity in both diet-induced (Longo, *et al.*, 2004) and genetic mouse models (Wright, *et al.*, 2007). Wnt10b also seems to play a key role in

human adipogenesis. Naturally occurring mutations in WNT10B gene are associated with early-onset obesity (Christodoulides, *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, Wnt10b has been shown to impair human preadipocyte differentiation (Isakson, *et al.*, 2009). And abnormal expression of genes involved in Wnt signalling have been recorded in the adipose tissue of PCOS patients (Chazenbalk, *et al.*, 2012). Wnt10b may link the UPR with adipogenesis. XBP1s enhances adipogenic differentiation in murine cells through downregulation of Wnt10b (Cho, *et al.*, 2013). Clarifying the links between human UPR and adipogenesis will provide insight into the regulation of adipogenesis and may generate pharmacological targets with clinical benefit for the treatment of obesity and T2DM.

## **1.6 Adipocyte endoplasmic reticulum stress**

WAT is comprised of adipocytes integrated in a connective tissue matrix with highly regulated vasculature and innervation. A principle function of WAT is to appropriately store and release energy. The endoplasmic reticulum is vital for adipocyte energy transfer coordination. To store energy, adipocytes synthesise TAG and then partition them into LDs, both processes take place at the ER membrane and require ER resident enzymes. To utilise energy, adipocytes depend on ER and mitochondrial coordination for suitable function. Adipocytes also regulate cellular function in distant tissues and organs including muscle, liver and the brain. This regulation is predominantly through endocrine mediated mechanisms that require functional ER for the synthesis, processing, and secretion of adipokines. Impairments in energy regulation and secretory function of WAT adipocytes in obesity are associated with the development of insulin resistance and T2DM. Although the cellular mechanisms leading to these impairments are complex, accumulating evidence suggests dysregulated ER caused by ER stress may play a role.

## 1.6.1 Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the unfolded protein response

Virtually all secretory and membrane proteins are assembled into their secondary and tertiary structures within the extensive network of membranes that comprise the ER. This specialised organelle allows correct folding, maturation, storage and transport of these proteins. Misfolded or unfolded proteins are detected, removed from the ER and degraded by the 26S proteasome system (Marciniak and Ron, 2006; Schroder and Kaufman, 2005). The ER can experience perturbations and become stressed in a number of situations including the accumulation of unfolded proteins, nutrient and energy fluctuations, viral infections, hypoxia, toxins and increased demand on the synthetic machinery. When these conditions arise the ER activates a complex response system known as the unfolded protein response (UPR) (figure 1.6.1) to restore the functional integrity of the organelle (Marciniak and Ron, 2006; Schroder and Kaufman, 2005).

In mammals the UPR is comprised of three main branches, signalling through which is mediated by inositol-requiring enzyme  $1\alpha$  (IRE1 $\alpha$ ), PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK) and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6) (Harding, *et al.*, 2000b; Harding, *et al.*, 1999). In unstressed ER these three transmembrane proteins are bound by a chaperone, Bip/GRP78, in their intralumenal domains and rendered inactive (Bertolotti, *et al.*, 2000; Shen, *et al.*, 2002). Accumulation of improperly folded proteins and increased protein cargo in the ER results in the recruitment of Bip away from these UPR sensors. This and

potentially other yet to be discovered lumenal events result in oligomerization and activation of IRE1a and PERK that engage a complex signalling cascade (Ron PERK and Walter, 2007). is activated by homodimerization and transphosphorylation, which allows it to phosphorylate the  $\alpha$ -subunit of the translation initiation factor eIF2 (p-eIF2 $\alpha$ ) and subsequently attenuate translation initiation. Paradoxically, p-eIF2 $\alpha$  leads to selective translation of mRNAs containing open reading frames, such as activating transcription factor-4 (ATF4) (Schroder and Kaufman, 2005). ATF4 then upregulates the expression of several genes including DNA-damage-inducible transcript 3 (DDIT3) that encodes the effector protein CHOP (Woo, et al., 2009). The third branch of the UPR requires translocation of ATF6 to the Golgi apparatus where it is processed by the serine protease site-1 protease (S1P) and the metalloprotease site-2 protease (S2P) to produce an active transcription factor (Chen, et al., 2002). In response to ER stress ATF6 is reduced and only the reduced monomeric ATF6 can reach the Golgi apparatus (Nadanaka, et al., 2007). In combination these three arms mitigate ER stress by reducing protein synthesis, facilitating protein degredation, and increasing production of chaperones that help proteins in the ER lumen to fold. Consequently ER stress is alleviated. If ER stress is not resolved the cell is functionally compromised and may undergo UPR mediated apoptosis.

Conserved from yeast to humans, IRE1 $\alpha$  is a stress regulated kinase and ribonuclease that heads one of the UPR branches (Calfon, *et al.*, 2002). The endoribonuclease activity of IRE1 $\alpha$  cleaves a 26 base-pair intron between nucleotides 531 – 556 from the mRNA of the unspliced X-box binding protein-1 (XBP1u), creating an alternative mRNA that is translated into the active (spliced)

form of the transcription factor (XBP1s) (Sidrauski and Walter, 1997; Uemura, *et al.*, 2009). XBP1s, alone or in conjunction with ATF6, can initiate transcription of chaperones like Bip, and proteins involved in phospholipid synthesis, ER biogenesis, ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD), and secretion. Therefore XBP1s plays a major role in alleviating ER stress. The adipocyte plays a central role in energy homeostasis and in the obese state hypertrophic adipocyte is challenged by several insults including inflammation, insulin resistance, surplus energy and considerable stress to various organelles. The ER is a vital organelle that demonstrates significant signs of stress and dysfunction in obesity and insulin resistance.

The ER within a functional adipocyte in a metabolically healthy organism must function under unique and testing conditions; adapting to meet the demands of energy storage by forming TAG droplets, increased protein synthesis and secretion and nutrient sensing. The ER can become overwhelmed when nutrient levels are in pathological excess in which case the UPR is activated (Ozcan, *et al.*, 2004).





*Figure 1.6.1 legend: Mammalian unfolded protein response pathways*. Unfolded protein response signalling pathways originate in the ER lumen and transfer to the cytoplasm and nucleus to engage appropriate responses. (ER; endoplasmic reticulum, Bip; binding immunoglobulin protein – also known as GRP78; glucose regulated protein 78 kDa, PERK; protein kinase RNA-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase, p; phosphorylated, eIF2 $\alpha$ ; eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 A, NF- $\kappa$ B; nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells, ATF4; activating transcription factor 4, CHOP; C/EBP homologous protein, GADD34; growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible protein, IRE1 $\alpha$ ; inositol requiring enzyme 1 alpha, XBP1u; X-box binding protein 1 unspliced, XBP1s; X-box

binding protein 1 spliced, GRPs; glucose regulated proteins, ATF6; activating transcription factor 6, MBTPS2; membrane-bound transcription factor peptidase site 2.)

## 1.6.2 Adipose tissue endoplasmic reticulum stress

Genetically inherited disorders of protein trafficking are almost exclusively attributed to mutations in the coding sequence of exportable proteins and result in retention of the affected proteins or subunits in the ER (Kim and Arvan, 1998). These diseases have revealed the importance of the ER in protein processing. Mouse models with specific genetic alterations to genes encoding ER chaperones have shown that resident ER chaperones are critical for quality control of proteins and for regulating ER signalling in response to ER stress (Ni and Lee, 2007). Growing evidence suggests that diseases involving the ER are not restricted to genetic disorders and can be acquired in obesity. SAT from the upper thigh in six obese insulin-resistant human subjects had significantly higher ER stress gene and protein expression compared to six lean insulin-sensitive subjects (Boden, et al., 2008). In a different investigation WAT was collected from 78 healthy nondiabetic human subjects with a range of BMIs and UPR gene expression positively correlated with increasing BMI (Sharma, et al., 2008). In a third study SAT ER stress expression reduced one year after undergoing gastric bypass surgery in 11 non-diabetic obese subjects with preoperative mean BMI of 51.3  $\pm$ 3.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and postoperative mean BMI of  $31.4 \pm 2.3$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Gregor, *et al.*, 2009). Weight loss through calorie restriction in ob/ob mice also reduced ER stress expression in SAT (Tsutsumi, et al., 2011).

#### 1.6.3 Obesity induces adipocyte endoplasmic reticulum stress

Several obesity-related perturbations, including hyperglycaemia, endotoxemia, elevated circulating FFAs, overnutrition, increased ER demand and local tissue hypoxia may serve as initiating factors for ER stress in WAT (Gregor and Hotamisligil, 2007; Hotamisligil, 2010). This postulation is supported by murine in vivo and in vitro experimental models, for example in WAT of mice fed a highfat diet for 16 weeks, indicators of ER stress such as PERK phosphorylation and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) activity are significantly increased compared with mice fed with a normal diet (Ozcan, et al., 2004). Furthermore, WAT in ob/ob mice displayed signs of ER stress, including increased levels of phosphorylated PERK and IRE1a, compared to wild type mice. This was accompanied by an increase in JNK activity and XBP1 splicing (Ozcan, et al., 2006). WAT of obese mice was characterised by hypoxia and ER stress and in an in vitro model hypoxia increased markers of ER stress in 3T3-L1 adipocytes (Hosogai, et al., 2007). Thus, dysregulated WAT expansion in obesity may not be served by adequate vasculature and therefore the diffusion limit of oxygen may be exceeded, resulting in local hypoxia (Yilmaz and Hotamisligil, 2013). Mice with a heterozygous deletion of UPR chaperone Bip had an activation of UPR factors including CHOP and XBP1s and were protected against diet-induced obesity, hepatic steatosis and insulin resistance (Ye, et al., 2010). A mixture of FFAs increased markers of ER stress in 3T3-L1 adipocytes (Jiao, et al., 2011). Lipid perturbation-mediated UPR activation in mammalian cells revealed the ER lipid bilayer can directly modulate UPR signalling independently of changes to protein folding homeostasis in the ER lumen (Volmer, et al., 2013).

Human adipocyte experimental models support murine investigations and indicate that obesity associated factors induce ER stress. High fat intake leads to acute postprandial exposure to circulating lipopolysaccharides in T2DM subjects (Harte, *et al.*, 2012b). Obesity associated factors including LPS (100 mg/mL), high glucose (25 mM) and saturated FAs (2 mM) increased markers of ER stress in primary human adipocytes (Alhusaini, *et al.*, 2010). Adipocytes increase the rate of secretion of several proteins in response to adipocyte expansion such as leptin, resistin and TNF $\alpha$  (Galic, *et al.*, 2010). Thus, the increased demand on the ER to process these secreted proteins may lead to accumulation of unfolded proteins and activation of the UPR. Therefore many physiological responses to obesity can influence adipocyte ER homeostasis and elicit activation of the UPR.

# **1.7 Endoplasmic reticulum stress induced insulin resistance in adipose tissue**

The diversity of ER stress induced UPR signalling likely generates suitable outcomes that are specific to the stress imposed and the homeostatic needs of the cell. These outcomes include adaptation to restore ER functional integrity, alarm to induce an inflammatory response, and apoptosis if there is a failure to resolve ER stress (Kim, *et al.*, 2008). Whilst these UPR outcomes may have evolved in nutrient scarce environments to improve cellular and tissue function, in obesity-linked nutrient excess the UPR is chronically activated and metabolic dysfunction via insulin resistance and subsequent T2DM can arise (Kammoun, *et al.*, 2014). Evidence suggests that ER stress is linked to insulin resistance (Flamment, *et al.*, 2012). For example, deletion of a key UPR transcription factor XBP1, results in the development of insulin resistance in mice (Ozcan, *et al.*, 2004). Further

experimental models have indicated that ER stress is essential to the initiation and integration of inflammation and insulin action in obesity and type 2 diabetes (Wellen and Hotamisligil, 2005). The consequences of UPR activation in WAT have been causally linked to the development of insulin resistance through several mechanisms including JNK activation, inflammation and oxidative stress (Hotamisligil, 2006; Samuel and Shulman, 2012). Hotamisligil has postulated that insulin is a crucial anabolic hormone and therefore transient insulin resistance in adipocytes may help the ER cope by downregulating metabolic synthetic pathways (Hotamisligil, 2010). This may be accurate and explain why chronic upregulation of the UPR in obesity is associated with insulin resistance and T2DM.

## 1.7.1 IRE1a activation of JNK and NFkB

ER stress master regulator IRE1 $\alpha$  induces insulin resistance via JNK and activates inflammation via JNK and NF- $\kappa$ B. ER stress induced in rat pancreatic acinar AR52J cells by treatment with thapsigargin (Tg) (1  $\mu$ M) that depletes the ER of luminal calcium stores, tunicamycin (TM) (2.5  $\mu$ g/mL) that blocks ER protein glycosylation, and dithiothreitol (DTT) (10 mM) which interferes with disulfide bond formation, all exhibited increased JNK activity (Urano, *et al.*, 2000). The cytoplasmic part of UPR master regulator IRE1 $\alpha$  was shown to activate JNK via TNF receptor associated factor 2 (TRAF2) (Urano, *et al.*, 2000). JNK promotes insulin resistance during association with insulin receptor substrate-1 and inhibitory phosphorylating key serine 307 (Aguirre, *et al.*, 2000), and induces the expression of inflammatory genes by phosphorylating the transcription factor activation protein 1 (AP-1) (Davis, 2000). JNK activity is abnormally high in obesity and furthermore, an absence of JNK1 results in decreased adiposity, improved insulin sensitivity and enhanced insulin receptor signalling capacity in two models of mouse obesity (Hirosumi, *et al.*, 2002). The IRE1 $\alpha$ -TRAF2 complex can recruit I $\kappa$ B kinase (IKK), which phosphorylates I $\kappa$ B, leading to the degradation of I $\kappa$ B and the nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B (Hu, *et al.*, 2006). NF- $\kappa$ B is a potent activator of inflammation in human adipose tissue (Harte, *et al.*, 2013). JNK and NF- $\kappa$ B influence visfatin expression in primary human SAT, therefore these factors can influence adipocyte hormone secretion and may have systemic consequences (McGee, *et al.*, 2011). Therefore obesity-induced ER stress forms IRE1 $\alpha$ -TRAF2 complexes, which activate JNK and NF- $\kappa$ B leading to insulin resistance and inflammation (figure 1.7.1).

Figure 1.7.1 IRE1α activation of XBP1s and JNK



*Figure 1.7.1 legend: IRE1* $\alpha$  activation of XBP1s and JNK. IRE1 $\alpha$  is activated by several factors (red box, top left), and splices XBP1u mRNA to XBP1s mRNA which is translated and the resulting protein transcription factor upregulates genes encoding proteins to help restore ER functional integrity. Simultaneously, IRE1 $\alpha$ binds via its cytoplasmic domain to TRAF2 which activates JNK which inhibitory phosphorylates IRS1/2 thereby blocking insulin action. JNK also activates AP-1 to promote transcription of inflammatory genes. (HMW Adipo; high molecular weight adiponectin, ER; endoplasmic reticulum, Bip; binding immunoglobulin protein – also known as GRP78; glucose regulated protein 78 kDa, p; phosphorylated, IRE1 $\alpha$ ; inositol requiring enzyme 1 alpha, XBP1u; X-box binding protein 1 unspliced, XBP1s; X-box binding protein 1 spliced, TRAF2; TNF receptor associated factor 2, JNK; c-Jun N-terminal kinase, IRS1/2; insulin receptor substrate 1/2, AP-1 activation protein 1, GRPs; glucose regulated proteins, Wnt10b; Wingless-type mouse mammary tumour virus integration site family protein 10b, PPAR $\gamma$ ; peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma.)

#### 1.7.2 ER stress induced inflammation and subsequent insulin resistance

The chronic nature of obesity produces tonic low-grade ER stress, inflammation and activation of the innate immune system in WAT (Lumeng and Saltiel, 2011). This physiological response to cell stress may have arisen due to the integrated immune role of WAT as a homeostatic mechanism to restore WAT function (Osborn and Olefsky, 2012). The adipocyte ER can be considered as an interface between the immune system and metabolism, both of which are incorporated in WAT (Unanue and Urano, 2014). The increased ER stress in obesity plays a key role in the inflammatory basis of metabolic disease, elegantly reviewed by Hotamisligil (Hotamisligil, 2010). Inflammation is an immune response that serves to bolster the local tissue defence by attracting immune cells to prevent or engage with pathogens thereby protecting the body. Inflammation is predominantly controlled and directed by soluble mediators such as cytokines that are released by many cell types including adipocytes. Proinflammatory cytokines secreted by adipocytes such as TNF $\alpha$  and IL-6 are critically important to attract inflammatory leukocytes to WAT (Fantuzzi, 2005). However the secretion of these cytokines is increased in obesity-linked ER stress and they interfere with insulin action and glucose metabolism (Kammoun, *et al.*, 2014).

Obesity-induced ER stress in adipocytes activates inflammation via several mechanisms (Zhang and Kaufman, 2008; Zhang, *et al.*, 2006). IRE1 $\alpha$ -TRAF2 complexes activate JNK and NF- $\kappa$ B leading to inflammation (section 1.7.1 above). IRE1 $\alpha$  has also been linked to the activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and extracellular-regulated kinase (Hetz and Glimcher, 2009; Hu, *et al.*, 2006; Nguyen, *et al.*, 2004). These interactions suggest that IRE1 $\alpha$  can activate diverse signalling pathways involved in activating inflammation. The PERK branch of the UPR can also activate inflammation. Saturated FAs activate ER stress and induce the PERK-eIF2 $\alpha$ -ATF4 UPR pathway that plays a critical role in IL-6 production in macrophages, and the same mechanism may exist in adipocytes (Iwasaki, *et al.*, 2014). PERK also activates NFK $\beta$  mediated inflammation via reduction in the abundance of its inhibitor IK $\beta$  (Wu, *et al.*, 2004). Protein folding within the ER is an energy-consuming process and oxidising conditions are requires for the formation of disulphide bonds (Tu and Weissman, 2004). Molecular oxygen is used as the terminal electron recipient to

provide a driving force for disulphide bond formation, however this leads to the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), exasperated with increased burden on ER in obesity (Tu and Weissman, 2002). ROS are small molecules that are highly reactive as the result of the presence of unpaired electrons and induce inflammation (Raha and Robinson, 2000). Therefore obesity-induced ER stress in adipocytes can initiate secretion of inflammatory cytokines resulting in WAT inflammation.

Obesity-induced inflammatory response signalling mediators including FFAs, cytokines, adipokines and lipokines interfere with insulin action. Adipocyte ER stress may be an important initiator of WAT inflammation, however the release of proinflammatory mediators from WAT in obesity is primarily due to immune cells (Fain, 2006). The proinflammatory cytokine TNF $\alpha$  is produced by adipocytes, is highly expressed in adipose tissue and is associated with obesity (Hotamisligil, et al., 1993). In rodent cells TNFa elevated serine/threonine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and IRS-2 and inhibited their binding to the insulin receptor and impaired their ability to undergo insulin-induced tyrosine phosphorylation (Paz, et al., 1997). Mice lacking TNFa or TNF receptors had improved insulin sensitivity in dietary and genetic (ob/ob) models of obesity (Uysal, et al., 1997). TNFa has been shown to inhibit PPARy in several experimental systems (Ye, 2008). Therefore TNFa may prevent adipogenesis and contribute towards WAT dysfunction. Obese human subjects demonstrated increased TNFa expression in WAT compared to non-obese, and following weight loss the cytokine expression reduced (Kern, et al., 1995). Adipose tissue IL-6 content correlates with resistance to insulin activation of glucose uptake both
in vivo and in vitro (Bastard, *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, serum levels of IL-6 decrease in parallel with weight loss and improvement of insulin resistance in patients undergoing bariatric surgery (Kopp, *et al.*, 2003). Despite these findings, IL-6 has been associated with the resolution of inflammation in certain contexts and has versatile functions in metabolism (Mauer, *et al.*, 2015). Nonetheless, IL-6 expression is increased in obesity and may play a role in the development of insulin resistance and T2DM. Therefore WAT derived signalling molecules upregulated in response to adipocyte ER stress can interfere with insulin action and may contribute towards developing T2DM (figure 1.7.2).





*Figure 1.7.2 legend: Unfolded protein response, inflammation and insulin resistance.* Adipose tissue derived signalling molecules upregulated in response to adipocyte ER stress can interfere with insulin action and may contribute towards

developing T2DM. (ER; endoplasmic reticulum, IR; insulin receptor, p; phosphorylated, JNK; c-Jun N-terminal kinase, IKK; I kappa B kinase, NF-κB; nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells, IRS1/2; insulin receptor substrate 1/2, AP-1 activation protein 1, PPAR; peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor, LXR; liver X receptor, FABP; fatty acid-binding protein, FA; fatty acid.)

## **1.7.3 ER stress integration with metabolism**

Adipocytes play a key role in systemic metabolism and require functional ER to appropriately orchestrate metabolic processes (Unanue and Urano, 2014). Accumulating evidence suggests an integrated role between the UPR and glucose, lipid and protein metabolism in adipocytes. For example; ER stress regulates branched chain amino acid uptake and metabolism in adipocytes (Burrill, *et al.*, 2015), the activity of key UPR chaperone Bip, also known as glucose-regulated protein 78 (Grp78), responds to metabolic stress (Lee, 2014), and asymmetrical dimethylarginine triggers lipolysis and inflammatory response via induction of ER stress in cultured adipocytes (Zhou, *et al.*, 2009). ATF6 and XBP1s have been linked to lipid biosynthesis and ER membrane expansion via mechanisms that are partially distinct (Bommiasamy, *et al.*, 2009; Sriburi, *et al.*, 2009). Therefore obesity-induced chronic ER stress may dysregulate adipocyte metabolic processes and contribute to insulin resistance and T2DM (figure 1.7.3).

Models of UPR deficiency have shown that the UPR plays an important role in metabolism. An investigation into the regulation of  $eIF2\alpha$  phosphorylation in the

liver revealed complex mechanisms that may be linked to liver glucose metabolism during chronic ER stress (Oyadomari, *et al.*, 2008). A further study in liver hepatocytes found lipid metabolism is affected by protein misfolding and ER stress (Wang and Kaufman, 2014). PERK-deficient mice and animals with a homozygous mutation that eliminates eIF2α phosphorylation on serine 51 resulted in defective liver gluconeogenesis (Harding, *et al.*, 2000a; Scheuner, *et al.*, 2001). Protein kinase RNA-activated (PKR) responds to nutrient signals and ER stress and coordinates the activity of other critical inflammatory kinases such as JNK to regulate insulin action and metabolism. PKR also directly targets and modifies insulin receptor substrate and therefore integrates nutrients and insulin action (Nakamura, *et al.*, 2010). The role of ER stress in glucose metabolism in other tissues and cells such as adipocytes remains unclear and Hotamisligil expressed 'future work should determine whether ER stress also affects glucose metabolism in other tissues' (Hotamisligil, 2010).

Adiponectin links adipocyte ER stress and the UPR to systemic insulin sensitivity. Adiponectin is almost exclusively produced by adipocytes (Ouchi, *et al.*, 2003). An inverse correlation between adiponectin and insulin resistance has been established both in animals and humans (Turer and Scherer, 2012). Adiponectin improves insulin sensitivity through various mechanisms involving the liver and muscle (Kadowaki and Yamauchi, 2005; Turer and Scherer, 2012). HMW adiponectin is thought to confer insulin sensitising effects (Liu and Liu, 2014). Functional ER is essential for the synthesis, processing and secretion of adiponectin. ER resident proteins ER resident protein-44 (ERp44), ER oxidoreductin-1 (Ero1-1 $\alpha$ ) and disulphide bond A oxidoreductase-like protein (DsbA-L) play important roles in adiponectin processing (Liu, *et al.*, 2008; Qiang, *et al.*, 2007; Wang, *et al.*, 2007). ER stress has been implicated in diet-induced adiponectin downregulation (Liu and Liu, 2014). The treatment of genetically and diet induced mouse models of obesity with Tauroursodeoxycholic acid (TUDCA), a chemical chaperone that alleviates ER stress, resulted in increased cellular and serum levels of adiponectin (Zhou, *et al.*, 2010). This observation is supported by another study in *ob/ob* mice where overexpression of UPR transcription factor XBP1s induced adiponectin multimerisation and improved glucose homeostasis (Sha, *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, obesity-induced chronic ER dysfunction reduces adiponectin levels and may contribute towards decreased systemic insulin sensitivity and subsequent development of T2DM.

Figure 1.7.3 Balance between nutritional status, unfolded protein response activation and adipose tissue function



Figure 1.7.3 legend: Balance between nutritional status, unfolded protein response activation and adipose tissue function. A balance exists between the nutritional status and activation of the unfolded protein response (UPR) and influences adipose tissue (AT) function.

## 1.7.4 ER stress in adipogenesis

Obesity complications in humans result from the inability of SAT to appropriately expand and store lipids, and consequently ectopic fat deposition and lipotoxicity contribute to insulin resistance (Samuel and Shulman, 2012; Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010). Impaired WAT expandability is mainly due to defects in adipogenesis (Isakson, et al., 2009). Forced expansion of WAT in ob/ob mice via increased adipogenesis normalized glucose and insulin levels and prevented insulin resistance despite massive obesity (Kim, et al., 2007). Adipogenesis is continually required throughout life since about 10 % of adipocytes in the body are regenerated annually (Spalding, et al., 2008). Therefore adipogenesis is an important process to maintain WAT function. The UPR plays an essential role in adipogenesis. The UPR pathway IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s is indispensible for successful murine adipogenesis (Sha, et al., 2009). Since this discovery, Cho et al. have explored the role of XBP1s in adipogenesis further. They revealed that XBP1s enhances adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 cells through the downregulation of Wnt10b (Cho, et al., 2013). And XBP1s is a key regulator of adipogenic modulator PPARy in 3T3-L1 cells (Cho, et al., 2014). XBP1s has been shown to induce adiponectin multimerisation (Sha, et al., 2014) and may activate this process during adipogenesis since adiponectin expression is almost exclusively from adipocytes (Ouchi, *et al.*, 2003). Thus, obesity induced ER stress may disrupt adipogenesis and consequently limit the expansion of WAT and increase the likelihood of developing insulin resistance and T2DM.

## **1.8 Translation to the clinic**

There are currently 14 classes of drugs available to treat T2DM in the USA, however only 36 % of patients with T2DM achieve glycaemic control with the available therapies (Miller, et al., 2014). New treatment options may improve the rate of glycaemic control. Duration of T2DM is independently associated with the risk of macrovascular events, microvascular events and death (Zoungas, et al., 2014). Therefore early intervention to restore glucose homeostasis will provide the greatest benefit. Since obesity is the biggest risk factor for T2DM and obesityinduced ER stress may be an initiating factor in development of insulin resistance and TD2M, preventing or treating obesity would reduce the burden of T2DM. Weight loss through diet modifications (Gregor, et al., 2009; Seoane-Collazo, et al., 2014) and through gastric bypass bariatric surgery in humans (Gregor, et al., 2009) can reverse ER stress in adipose tissue and improve glucose homeostasis. Bariatric surgery has emerged as the most durably effective treatment of T2DM, however the mechanisms governing improvement in glucose homeostasis have not been fully elucidated (Nguyen and Korner, 2014). Some bariatric procedures improve glycaemic control in people with T2DM beyond that expected for weight loss alone (Dixon, et al., 2012). The improved glycaemic control in such people may be due to improved adipocyte ER regulation and subsequent improved metabolic regulation. Targeting the UPR in disease has recently been reviewed by Hetz et al. (Hetz, et al., 2013). Given that the adipocyte ER plays important roles in systemic metabolism and energy homeostasis and that obesity-induced ER stress leads to insulin resistance, mechanisms for relieving ER stress and improving adipocyte ER regulation may improve metabolic regulation and reduce the impact of metabolic diseases such as T2DM.

ER stress may be alleviated through the action of metabolic hormones such as GLP-1. GLP-1 receptor (GLP-1R) agonist exendin-4 attenuated translational downregulation of insulin and improved cell survival in purified rat pancreatic βcells following the induction of ER stress in vitro (Yusta, et al., 2006). Furthermore, hyperglycaemia induced ER stress in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) was prevented by treatment with the GLP-1 analogue Liraglutide with maximum activity at 100 nM (Schisano, et al., 2012). Investigations into the effects of GLP-1 analogues on adjocyte ER stress will provide valuable insight into metabolic regulation and warrant investigation. Hotamisligil suggested that 'a reciprocal relationship may exist wherein some hormones, which depend upon the ER for their translation, processing, and secretion, may act on target cells in ways that protect the biological function of that cell thus ensuring continued hormone action, thereby conferring a selfpreserving activity' (Hotamisligil, 2010). GLP-1 may be one such hormone and there may be undiscovered hormones that have self-preserving and ER regulating mechanisms.

Studies have shown that chemicals can reduce ER stress and improve glucose regulation. Salicylate is an I $\kappa$ B kinase- $\beta$  (IKK $\beta$ ) inhibitor (Yuan, *et al.*, 2001) and it alleviated ER stress in human adipocytes (Alhusaini, *et al.*, 2010) and improved glucose regulation in T2DM subjects (Goldfine, *et al.*, 2010). In addition to kinase

inhibitors, salubrinal, a phosphatase inhibitor, might have therapeutic benefits. Salubrinal can protect cells against ER stress induced apoptosis by selectively inhibiting the dephosphorylation of eIF2 $\alpha$  such that further protein synthesis and accumulation in the ER is inhibited (Boyce, *et al.*, 2005). Treatment with salubrinal leads to protection against ER stress induced cell death *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Sokka, *et al.*, 2007). Therefore modulating phosphorylation signalling in the context of the UPR may provide ER homeostatic benefits.

Chemical chaperones are small molecules that facilitate protein folding and can protect against ER stress. TUDCA and 4-phenylbutric acid are chemical chaperones, and both reduced phosphorylation of PERK and IRE1 $\alpha$  and improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity in insulin resistant obese mice (Ozcan, *et al.*, 2006). TUDCA also alleviated ER stress and improved glucose homeostasis in humans (Kars, *et al.*, 2010). The treatment of genetically and diet induced mouse models of obesity with TUDCA resulted in increased cellular and serum levels of adiponectin (Zhou, *et al.*, 2010). In addition, another chemical chaperone, the resveratrol tetramer vaticanol B, has been shown to inhibit both the UPR and the inflammatory response by reducing the protein folding load and maintaining ER membrane integrity, preventing ER stress induced apoptosis (Tabata, *et al.*, 2007). Therefore assisting protein folding in the ER with chemical chaperones may be a potential method for alleviating ER stress.

A recently identified inhibitor of the IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s UPR pathway may provide a suitable agent for modulating ER stress. 4-methyl umbelliferone 8-cabaldehyde (4 $\mu$ 8C) is a selective inhibitor of unconventional mRNA splicing by IRE1 $\alpha$ 

(Cross, et al., 2012). 4µ8C forms a Schiff base with lysine 907 in the IRE1 $\alpha$ endonuclease domain and blocks substrate access to the active site and selectively inactivates XBP1u mRNA splicing. Inhibition of IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity does not sensitize cells to the consequences of acute ER stress, but rather interferes with the expansion of excretory capacity (Cross, et al., 2012). 4µ8C has been used as a pharmacological agent; it attenuated joint inflammation in mice and was subsequently suggested as a potential therapeutic intervention for inflammatory arthritis (Qiu, et al., 2013). In a cell culture model of ER stress, inhibiting IRE1 $\alpha$  with 4 $\mu$ 8C blunted UPR gene expression output but did not affect ERAD or sensitize cells to apoptosis (Zhang, et al., 2014a). Therefore, selectively inhibiting IRE1 $\alpha$  with 4 $\mu$ 8C may blunt the expression of secretory facilitating genes and consequently reduce cell secretory output. In the context of insulin resistance, administering 4µ8C may have beneficial outcomes by reducing the secretion of proinflammatory mediators. However, detrimental consequences may arise since the secretion of beneficial adipokines such as adiponectin and leptin may be reduced and proteins intended for secretion may accumulate in the ER, further aggravating ER stress. Additionally, UPR gene output will be impaired thus potentially limiting the ability of cells to adapt to conditions of ER stress. 4µ8C as a potential pharmacological agent for T2DM requires further investigation, although it has been proposed as a potential therapy (Hetz, et al., 2013). Nonetheless,  $4\mu 8C$  is a useful tool for inhibiting IRE1 $\alpha$  and can be used to investigate the UPR in model systems and may provide insight into the initiation of insulin resistance and subsequent T2DM.

## **1.9 Summary**

People with T2DM suffer reduced quality and length of life. The chronic metabolic disease presents a huge burden on global society through medical, social and financial implications. Obesity, characterised by WAT expansion, is the most significant risk factor for developing T2DM. WAT is a multifunctional organ that plays a key role in metabolic health and regulating energy homeostasis. An inability of WAT to expand to accommodate excess nutrients is predominantly due to impaired adipogenesis and results in ectopic fat deposition, lipotoxicity and insulin resistance. Adipogenesis is influenced by several extracellular and intercellular factors and the IRE1a-XBP1s UPR pathway is indispensible for successful murine adipogenesis. Obesity associated factors such as hyperglycaemia, endotoxemia, elevated circulating FFAs, and local hypoxia induce adipocyte ER stress via several mechanisms including increased demand on the ER for protein synthesis and processing, lipid droplet formation and lipid partitioning, and elevated ROS production. ER stress is a key factor in the initiation of insulin resistance through inhibiting insulin action and inducing WAT inflammation and may interfere with adipogenesis. Interventions that alleviate ER stress may be suitable first-line treatments to restore ER function and metabolic regulation in metabolic diseases such as T2DM.

## 1.10 Research hypothesis, aims and objectives

## 1.10.1 Research hypothesis

The research hypothesis is that ER stress in human WAT is an important player in inducing WAT dysfunction, which can then lead to overall insulin resistance and T2DM.

## 1.10.2 Research aims

- 1. To elucidate interactions of ER stress in human WAT.
- 2. To characterise the role of ER stress in human adipogenesis.

## 1.10.3 Research objectives

1. Some bariatric procedures improve glycaemic control in people with T2DM beyond that expected for weight loss alone (Dixon, *et al.*, 2012). And ER stress in adipose tissue can be reversed with gastric bypass bariatric surgery in humans (Gregor, *et al.*, 2009). Therefore the WAT in T2DM subjects before and after different bariatric surgeries may provide useful information about interactions of ER stress. Thus, to elucidate the interactions of ER stress in human WAT, SAT biopsies and anthropometry will be collected before and six months after T2DM subjects undergo malabsorptive or restrictive bariatric surgeries. SAT ER stress and inflammation will be measured by western blotting and qRT-PCR and analysed with anthropometric data.

2. In order to accommodate the energy requirements of the body WAT is able to expand and contract during adult life despite most development during prenatal and early postnatal life (Poulos, et al., 2010). Evidence suggests obesity complications in humans result from the inability of SAT to appropriately expand and store lipids, and consequently ectopic fat deposition and lipotoxicity contribute to insulin resistance (Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010). Impaired WAT expandability is mainly due to impaired adipogenesis (Isakson, et al., 2009). The ER stress activated IRE1a -XBP1s pathway has been linked to adipogenesis in mouse studies (Sha, et al., 2009). In order to characterise the role of ER stress in human adipogenesis WAT samples will be collected and primary human preadipocytes will be extracted and grown to confluence and then fully differentiated into adipocytes by standardised methods (Alhusaini, et al., 2010). They will be assessed for lipogenesis, lipolysis, glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity, ER stress and adipogenesis markers in control cells without any treatment and with agents known to induce ER stress. ER stress pathways and adipogenesis markers will be investigated by western blotting and qRT-PCR and where required siRNA.

# **Chapter 2: Subjects, methods and**

## materials

## **2.1 Ethical approval**

### 2.1.1 Bariatric study

The Ethics Committee of the Institute of Endocrinology, Prague, Czech Republic provided ethical approval for the bariatric study. All participants provided written and informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and underwent bariatric surgery at the OB Clinic, Prague, Czech Republic. The European Foundation for the Study of Diabetes (EFSD) funded the study through the New Horizons Collaborative Research Initiative (EFSD New Horizons research grant no. 1113 09).

## 2.1.2 Human adipose tissue collection

The University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust Research and Development Department provided ethical approval for the collection of human adipose tissue and issued the following approval number: SK06/9309. All participants provided written and informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and had adipose tissue collected at University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire.

## 2.2 Subjects

#### 2.2.1 Subjects who underwent bariatric surgery

For the bariatric study, a female cohort of thirty Caucasian adult women with morbid obesity (BMI  $\geq$ 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and T2DM were recruited who underwent bariatric surgery (figure 2.2.1): laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding (LAGB; n=8) (Kormanova, *et al.*, 2004; Zinzindohoue, *et al.*, 2003) or laparoscopic greater curvature plication (LGCP; n=13) (Bradnova, *et al.*, 2014; Fried, *et al.*, 2012) or biliopancreatic diversion (BPD; n=9) (Scopinaro, *et al.*, 2011) at the OB Clinic, Prague, Czech Republic. Abdominal SAT was collected by biopsy on the day of surgery and at six months post-surgery. For the purposes of this study all patients were prospectively investigated before the surgery (baseline) and 6 months following the procedure; both anthropometry and biochemical analysis were undertaken at both visits. Patients on incretin mimetics and/or insulin for T2DM treatment were excluded from this study (Bradnova, *et al.*, 2014). Fat mass was measured with bioimpedance method (Tanita TBF-300).





*Figure 2.2.1 legend: Bariatric surgery procedures under investigation.* Schematic diagram representing laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding (LAGB), laparoscopic greater curvature plication (LGCP) and biliopancreatic diversion (BPD) bariatric surgery procedures.

## 2.2.2 Adipose tissue collection

WAT was collected exclusively from non-smoking, non-diabetic, premenopausal, Caucasian women undergoing elective cesarean section at University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire (UHCW). Paired abdominal SAT and omental VAT was collected. Lean was considered pre-pregnant body mass index (BMI) of less than 25.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and obese was considered pre-pregnant BMI over 30.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The WNT10B C256Y subject consented to an abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue biopsy and the biopsy was collected at the Warwickshire Institute for Diabetes, Endocrinology and Metabolism (WISDEM), at UHCW.

## 2.3 Tissue culture

## **2.3.1 Extracting primary human preadipocytes**

Adipose tissue-derived stromal cell isolation was collected as previously reviewed (Schaffler and Buchler, 2007). Sterile conditions in a category 2 tissue culture room were used and to minimise lysis of fat the procedure was carried out as soon possible after collecting the adipose tissue (within 1 hour). Between 3 cm<sup>3</sup> and 10 cm<sup>3</sup> of WAT was placed in a 50 mL falcon containing 10 mL 2 mg/mL collagenase (Worthington, UK), pre-warmed to 37 C. The WAT was cut with

autoclaved and 70 % industrial methylated spirit cleaned scissors until the fat pieces were no bigger than 2 mm in diameter. The falcon was placed in a rack in a shaking water bath at 37 C for 30 minutes and shaken vigorously by hand at 10 minute intervals to form a smooth lipid and collagenase mixture. This mixture was filtered through sterile cotton mesh into a sterile 50 mL falcon and centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded then the preadipocyte pellet was resuspended in 5 mL lysis buffer, incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes and then centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded then the preadipocyte growth media and transferred to a 75 cm<sup>2</sup> tissue culture flask (T75) (corning, UK) containing 15 mL primary adipocyte growth media that had been pre-incubated in a 37 C, 5 % CO<sup>2</sup> humidified incubator for 15 minutes. The flask was labelled and stored in a 37 C, 5 % CO<sup>2</sup> humidified incubator and the media was changed every 48 hours.

Collagenase:

- 50 mL Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS)
- 445 mL sterile water
- 5 mL Penicillin/streptomycin

Pipetted 20 mL of the above solution into a bottle of 1 g collagenase then mixed up and down and put back into the solution and repeated three times and mixed until all collagenase was dissolved. Aliquoted 10 mL into 50 mL falcons, labelled with collagenase and the date and stored until use at -20 C.

Lysis Buffer:

- 1.001 g Potassium bi-carbonate (KHCO3)
- 8.29 g Ammonium chloride (NH3Cl)
- 0.0372 g Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)
- Made up to 1 L with sterile deionised water

## 2.3.2 Human preadipocyte ChubS7 cell line

The ChubS7 cell line (Nestlé Research Centre, Lausanne, Switzerland) was derived from a preadipocyte extracted from Abd SAT of an obese female subject with a BMI of 54 kg/m<sup>2</sup> by coexpression of human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) and papillomavirus E7 oncoprotein (HPV-E7) genes (Darimont, *et al.*, 2003). ChubS7 retain the ability to undergo adipogenesis and have been used to study adipocyte metabolic function including glucose uptake (Gathercole, *et al.*, 2007) following a previously described glucose uptake assay method (Liu, *et al.*, 2001).

## 2.3.3 Cell culture media composition

Cell culture media was used as previously described (Alhusaini, et al., 2010).

## **ChubS7 growth media:**

- DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium 500 mL (Invitrogen #11039047)
- Penicillin/streptomycin/L-glutamine 100x, 5 mL (1 %) (Invitrogen #10378-016)
- Fetal bovine serum 50 mL (10 %) (Biosera #S1810)

## Primary adipocyte growth media:

• DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium 500 mL (Invitrogen #11039047)

- Penicillin/streptomycin/L-glutamine 100x, 5 mL (1 %) (Invitrogen #10378-016)
- Fetal bovine serum, 50 mL (10 %) (Biosera #S1810)
- Fibroblast growth factor-basic (FGF-basic), recombinant human 5 ng/mL (Fisher Scientific #VXPHG0026)
- Transferrin, human 5 µg/mL (Fisher Scientific #VX0030124SA)

## Differentiation media (PromoCell Supplements):

- DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium 500 mL (Invitrogen #11039047)
- Fetal bovine serum, 15 mL (3 %) (Biosera #S1810)
- Preadipocyte differentiation supplement pack x1 (Promocell #C39436)

The media contained the following supplements at their final concentration:

- Insulin, recombinant human 0.5 µg/mL
- Dexamethasone 400 ng/mL
- D-biotin 8 µg/mL
- Isobutylmethylxantine (IBMX) 44 µg/mL
- L-thyroxine 9 ng/mL
- Ciglitazone 3 µg/mL

## Nutrition media (PromoCell Supplements):

- DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium 500 mL (Invitrogen #11039047)
- Adipocyte nutrition supplement pack x1 (Promocell #C39439)

The media contained the following supplements at their final concentration:

- Insulin, recombinant human 0.5 µg/mL
- Dexamethasone 400 ng/mL
- D-biotin 8 µg/mL
- Fetal calf serum 0.03 mL/mL (3 %)

## 2.3.4 Propagation and differentiation of preadipocytes

The volume of media used in experiments was always the same in control and treatment flasks because adipocyte differentiation is affected by media height above the cell layer (Sheng, et al., 2014). Primary human preadipocytes were isolated and cultured in T75 flasks as described above. When the T75 was 80 % confluent the cells were passaged into 3 further T75 flasks. Trypsinization and passage of cells: media was aspirated and cells were washed three times with sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS) pre-warmed to 37 C, and incubated with 5 mL 0.05 % trypsin – EDTA (Life Technologies #25300-062) for 5 minutes. Cells were dislodged from the bottom of the flask by gentle tapping and trypsin was neutralized with 15 mL growth media, centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 minutes to form a pellet of cells. Supernatant was removed, cells resuspended in 5 mL growth media and transferred to 3 new T75s. Once 80 % confluent, preadipocytes were counted with a hemocytometer and seeded at a density of 4000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup> onto treated polystyrene six well culture plates (Corning) with 2 mL primary adipocyte growth media in each well. Growth media was changed every 48 hours, and once confluent, cells were incubated in growth media for a further 2 days. Differentiation was then initiated (day 0) by changing the media to differentiation media. During day 0 to day 6 of adipogenesis media was always changed every 48 hours with differentiation media. The media was then changed to nutrition media every 48 hours from day 6 to day 14.

## 2.3.5 Treatments

Prior to optimisation treatments, media were switched to detoxification media (DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium containing only 3 % serum) for 24 hours to remove effects of growth factors and other components in nutrition media. The treatments including control were placed in the fresh detoxification media made on the day of treatment. Tunicamycin (TM) (Sigma #7765) treatment concentration was chosen based on previous reports investigating ER stress that used between 0.5  $\mu$ g / mL and 2.0  $\mu$ g / mL (Alhusaini, *et al.*, 2010; Ozcan, *et al.*, 2004). The concentration of 4 $\mu$ 8C was optimised based on the range of concentrations (1  $\mu$ M to 64  $\mu$ M) used by Cross *et al.* (Cross, *et al.*, 2012). TM and 4 $\mu$ 8C were diluted in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma #D8418). Where TM or 4 $\mu$ 8C treatments were used, the control always had the same volume of DMSO added as the volume needed to dissolve the treatment. All treatment media including control was filtered through a 0.22  $\mu$ M filter before use.

## 2.3.6 Small interfering RNA transfection

ChubS7 cells were used for siRNA studies because of their consistency and reliability. Cells were grown to confluence on 12 well plates (Corning), media changed to detoxification media (DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium containing only 3 % serum) for optimisation and differentiation media for adipogenesis experiment, for 30 minutes. SMARTpool: ON-TARGETplus Human XBP1 siRNA (Thermo Fisher Scientific Bioscience #L009552000005) and ON-TARGETplus non-targeting pool (control) (Thermo Fisher Scientific Bioscience #DZD18101020) were reconstituted with 5x siRNA buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific Bioscience #B002000UB100) and vortexed for 30 minutes.

siRNA was diluted to a final concentration of 25 – 100 nmol in 1x Opti-MEM1 (Life Technologies #31985062), mixed with a final concentration of 0.5 % or 1.0 % DharmaFECT Duo (Thermo Fisher Scientific Bioscience #DZT201003), added to detoxification media or differentiation media as appropriate, mixed and then added to cells for 16 hours. Media was then aspirated and fresh appropriate media without siRNA was added.

## 2.3.7 Collection of conditioned media, protein and RNA

Conditioned media (1.5 mL), was collected from six separate wells for every sample time point and stored at -80 C until use for free glycerol assay. To collect protein, a lysis buffer was made with 5 mL 1x radioimmunoprecipitation (RIPA) (Millipore UK) with 100  $\mu$ L of dissolved protease and phosphatase inhibitors (2 Roche Complete Mini protease inhibitor cocktail tablets and 8 mg sodium fluoride (NaF, Fisher Scientific) and 20 mg sodium vanadate (Na3VO4, Acros Organics) in 2 mL 1x RIPA). 250  $\mu$ l of the protein lysis buffer was added to each well at 4 C, cells were scraped with sterile scrapers in each well for 60 seconds, the well contents was collected and stored at -80 C. The same method was used to harvest total RNA except 350  $\mu$ L Buffer RLY (Bioline) and 3.5  $\mu$ L  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol ( $\beta$ -ME) (Sigma) were added per well instead of protein lysis buffer. Both protein and RNA were collected in triplicate for every time point.

## 2.4 Analysis of samples

## **2.4.1 Analysis of blood samples**

All patients were examined in the morning after a 10 hour overnight fast and venous blood was sampled. All blood samples were collected into chilled ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) containing tubes with aprotinin as well as without for the measurements of glucose, insulin and C-peptide levels. The samples were aliquoted and stored at -80 C until assayed. Circulating glucose, insulin, HbA1c and lipids were measured using the Cobas 6000 analyzer. The homeostatic model assessment method was used to assess insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) as previously described, (Matthews, *et al.*, 1985), according to the following equation: HOMA-IR = [fasting glucose (mmol/L) x fasting insulin ( $\mu$ U/L)] / 22.5. LDL cholesterol was calculated according to the Friedewald formula (Friedewald, *et al.*, 1972).

## 2.4.2 RNA analysis

Total RNA was extracted from WAT samples using RNeasy lipid tissue kit (Qiagen, #74104) and from cell culture samples using Isolate II RNA Mini Kit (Bioline, #BIO-52073) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was quantified using a spectrophotometer (Nanodrop ND-1000, Labtech, UK), measuring at an absorbance of 260 nm. The ratios between absorbances 260/280 nm and 260/230 nm were measured to give an estimate of RNA purity. A value between 1.8 and 2.1 for both ratios was accepted as suitable RNA purity for use. RNA integrity was assessed by ethidium bromide incorporated agarose gel

electrophoresis and two sharp distinct bands representing 18S and 28S were considered acceptable RNA integrity for use.

Complimentary DNA (cDNA) was synthesised as described elsewhere (Alhusaini, *et al.*, 2010). Briefly, a Bioline kit (#BIO-65026) was used. 200 ng RNA per sample, based on spectrophotometer (Nanodrop, Labtech) quantification, was used to make cDNA. RNA was pipetted into a sterile microcentrifuge tube (200  $\mu$ L capacity), with 1  $\mu$ L of random hexamers 50-250 ng (Bioline, UK) and 1  $\mu$ L 10 mM dNTP mix (Invitrogen, UK), and mixed in RNase free water (Qiagen) to give a total volume of 10  $\mu$ L. Samples were then vortexed, centrifuged briefly and heated to 70 C for 5 minutes and chilled on ice at 4 C for 2 minutes. Samples were then vortexed thoroughly and mixed with 10  $\mu$ L reverse transcription mastermix (4 $\mu$ l of 5X reaction buffer, 1  $\mu$ L RNase inhibitor, 0.5  $\mu$ L reverse transcriptase (200 U/ $\mu$ L) made up to 10  $\mu$ L by adding RNase free water) giving a final volume of 20  $\mu$ L. Each sample was mixed thoroughly, briefly centrifuged and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes and then transferred to a thermocycler (Biorad, UK). Samples were heated to 37 C for 5 minutes, 42 C for 55 minutes, and then 70 C for 15 minutes and stored at -20 C until use.

Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed using an ABI 7500 standard Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, UK). Reactions were carried out at 50 C for 2 minutes, 95 C for 10 minutes, and then 40 cycles of 95 C for 15 seconds then 60 C for 1 min. Reactions were prepared to 25  $\mu$ L volumes in a 96 well plate. Pre-designed gene specific Taqman probes and primers were used (Applied Biosystems, UK, ATF4: Hs00909569\_g1; CHOP (DDIT3):

95

Hs00358796\_g1; IRE1α (ERN1): Hs00176385\_m1; ATF6: Hs00232586\_m1; IL10: Hs00961622\_m1; CCL2: Hs00234140\_m1; CD68: Hs02836816\_g1, CD14: Hs02621496 s1, IL6: Hs00185926 m; CEBPa: Hs00269972 s1; PPARy: Hs01115513\_m1; Adiponectin (ADIPOQ): Hs00605917\_m1; GLUT4 (SLC2A4): Hs00168966\_m1; TCF7: Hs00175273\_m1; AXIN2: Hs00610344\_m1) in a reaction mix containing TaqMan universal PCR master mix (Applied Biosystems, UK). All reactions were multiplexed with the housekeeping gene 18S, provided as a pre-optimised control probe (Applied Biosystems, UK) enabling calculation of delta threshold cycle ( $\Delta$ Ct) values (where  $\Delta$ Ct = Ct of 18S subtracted from Ct of gene of interest). Data is expressed as 2 raised to the power of the difference between control  $\Delta Ct$  and test  $\Delta Ct$  ( $\Delta \Delta Ct$  method). For the bariatric study all gene expression was calculated for each individual relative to her pre-surgery gene expression. The inverse of  $\Delta Ct$  values were used for correlation analysis. Measurements were carried out in triplicate for each sample. A Bioline SensiMixTM SYBR Low-ROX Kit (#QT625-02) was used to measure mRNA expression using specific primers (Invitrogen UK) for XBP1s: Forward: 5'-GGTCTGCTGAGTCCGCAGCAGG-3', 5'-Reverse: GGGCTTGGTATATATGTGG-3', (Cho, et al., 2014; Gregor, et al., 2009; Lee, et al., 2011); XBP1u: Forward: 5'-CAGACTACGTGCACCTCTGC-3', Reverse: 5'-GTTCATTAATGGCTTCCAGCT-3', designed such that the forward primer is complementary to nucleotides 549 - 569 of XBP1u and spans the 3' end of the 26 nucleotide intron located at 531 – 556 and therefore exclusively amplifies XBP1u mRNA (Uemura, al.. 2009); 18S: Forward: 5'et 5'-GTAACCCGTTGAACCCCATT-3', Reverse: CCATCCAATCGGTAGTAGCG-3', (Gregor, et al., 2009); WNT10B: Forward:

5'-CAGTCGGGCTCTAAGCAATGA-3', Reverse: 5'-CTTGCTCAGGCCGGACAG-3', (Isakson, *et al.*, 2009). The following were added per well: 12.5  $\mu$ L SensiMixTM SYBR Low-ROX, 0.5  $\mu$ L 10  $\mu$ M forward primer, 0.5  $\mu$ L 10  $\mu$ M reverse primer, 10.5  $\mu$ L nuclease free water and 1  $\mu$ L cDNA template.

### 2.4.3 Protein analysis

Human WAT was homogenized and resuspended in 250 µL protein lysis buffer made with 5 mL 1x radioimmunoprecipitation (RIPA) (Millipore UK) with 100 µL of dissolved protease and phosphatase inhibitors (2 Roche Complete Mini protease inhibitor cocktail tablets and 8 mg sodium fluoride (NaF, Fisher Scientific) and 20 mg sodium vanadate (Na3VO4, Acros Organics) in 2 mL 1x RIPA). Protein concentrations were determined using the Bio-Rad detergent compatible protein assay kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, CA) with standard concentrations of albumin from bovine serum (BSA) (Sigma #A9647) and quantified using a nanospectrophotometer (GeneFlow, UK). Western blot analysis was performed using a method previously described (Alhusaini, et al., 2010). For Western blotting, in brief, 20 µg of protein samples were loaded onto a 10 % denaturing polyacrylamide gel (GeneFlow, UK), separated by electrophoresis and transferred at 4 C and 100 V for 60 minutes to membrane filter Immobilon-P transfer membranes 0.45 µm pore size (Fisher), blocked for 60 minutes in 0.2 % I-Block PBS-tween (PBST) and incubated in primary rabbit-derived antibody diluted in 0.2 % I-Block PBST (p-IRE1a 1:500, total IRE1a 1:200, Calnexin 1:1000, BiP/Grp78 1:750, β-actin 1:1000, Cell Signalling; XBP1s and XBP1u 1:250, glut4 1:80, Abcam; ATF6 1:250 Abnova; p-Akt 1:1000, total Akt 1:1000, p-β-catenin 1:500, unphosphorylated β-catenin 1:500, Millipore, UK) at 4 C overnight. Equal protein loading was confirmed by examining β-actin protein expression. Membranes were washed three times for ten minutes in PBST and incubated in anti-rabbit IgG (whole molecule), horseradish peroxidase antibody produced in goat, IgG fraction of antiserum, buffered aqueous solution (Sigma #A9169). A chemiluminescent detection system, ECL/ECL+ (GE Healthcare, UK), enabled visualization of bands on hyperfilm MP (Fisher), and intensity was determined using densitometry (Genesnap, Syngene, UK).

## 2.4.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis

Agarose gel (2.5 % for resolving qRT-PCR products, 1 % for assessing extracted RNA integrity) was made by adding agarose (Fisher Scientific) to 1x TAE (Tris base, acetic acid and EDTA). The agarose was dissolved by heating for 60 seconds in a 900 Watt microwave. The solution was cooled before adding ethidium bromide to a final concentration of 1 ng/mL. After the gel had set, appropriate ladders and test samples were loaded. 1x TAE was used as a buffer and electrophoresis was carried out for 30 - 60 minutes at 100 V. The gel was viewed under UV light to show ethidium bromide incorporated DNA or RNA and digital images were taken (ChemiGenius).

## 2.4.5 Lipolysis assay

Lipolysis was measured by free glycerol in conditioned media using a free glycerol assay kit (Sigma) and following the manufacturers guidelines. Glycerol standard solution (Sigma #G7793) was serially diluted to make eight

concentrations ranging from 4 – 130 µg/mL. Free glycerol reagent (Sigma #F6428) was reconstituted in 40 mL sterile water. 25 µL of each calibration solution and test condition media were added to wells in a 96 microwell plate (Sterlin, UK) in triplicate. Then 200 µL reconstituted free glycerol reagent was added per well. Adhesive film was placed over the plate and incubated plate on shaker for 15 minutes. Absorbance was read at 540 nm using a spectrophotometer (Infinite 200 PRO NanoQuant, TECAN). Appropriate cell culture media was used as a blank because the media contains fetal bovine serum with lipids in (Boone, *et al.*, 1971).

## 2.4.6 Adipocyte staining

Adipocytes were grown on 6 well plates (corning), media was removed and the cells washed with PBS twice. The cells were fixed with 10 % formalin for 60 minutes at room temperature. Excess formalin was washed off with PBS and the wells were air dried completely for 30 minutes.

Hematoxylin and eosin staining: Stained in haematoxylin (Gill's haematoxylin number 3, Sigma #GHS380) for 45 seconds then washed 3 times in water. Stained in eosin (Eosin yellowish: 1 % solution in water, Gurr Certistain, BDH, VWR #341973R) for 1 minute and washed 3 times in water. Dehydrated in 50 %, 70 % and 90 % ethanol for 45 seconds in each, then 1 min in 100 % ethanol. Left to dry overnight lying upside down on tissue.

Oil Red-O staining: Stock Oil Red-O (ORO) solution was made by dissolving 0.5 g ORO powder (Sigma, UK) in 100 mL absolute propan-2-ol and stirring

overnight. Working ORO solution was made by diluting the stock ORO with distilled water 3:2, stirring for 10 minutes and then filtering through a 0.22  $\mu$ m filter. Enough working ORO was made for the whole experiment to ensure all the dye used was exactly the same concentration. 500  $\mu$ L working ORO was added to each well and incubated at room temperature for 60 minutes. All unbound ORO was washed off with distilled water before viewing under a light microscope to assess lipid accumulation. Digital photographs were taken. The wells were then air dried completely for 30 minutes. The bound ORO was eluted by adding 300  $\mu$ L absolute propan-2-ol per well and shaking on an orbital shaker at 100 rpm for 20 minutes. To quantify the ORO in each well, 200  $\mu$ L of eluted solution was transferred to individual wells of a 96 microwell plate (Sterlin, UK) and the absorbance at 520 nm was measured using a spectrophotometer (Infinite 200 PRO NanoQuant, TECAN). Two wells with only isopropanol 200  $\mu$ L were used as blanks in the microwell plate.

### 2.4.7 Glucose uptake assay

Glucose uptake was carried out as previously described (Adaikalakoteswari, *et al.*, 2015; Gathercole, *et al.*, 2007; Liu, *et al.*, 2001). Measurement of 2-deoxy-D-[1-3H] glucose uptake: Cells were grown on 6 or 12 well plates (Corning), washed with PBS and incubated at 37 C for 3 hours in Krebs-Henseleit buffer (KHB) with 0.01 % BSA and 5 mmol/L glucose for insulin and serum starvation. Adipocytes were incubated for 30 minutes at 37 C with KRH buffer without glucose or BSA, then treated with DMSO (basal control) or 100 nm insulin (insulin solution, human, chemically defined, recombinant from Saccharomyces cerevisiae, sterile-filtered, (Sigma # I9278)). 1  $\mu$ Ci/mL of 2-deoxy-D-[1-3H]glucose (PerkinElmer)

was added and incubated for 10 minutes. Cells were washed three times with icecold PBS and harvested in 500  $\mu$ L RIPA per well. 400  $\mu$ L cell lysate was transferred to 4 mL scintillation fluid and radioactivity (becquerels, Bq) was counted using a scintillation counter. The remaining 100  $\mu$ L cell lysate was used to quantify protein and glucose uptake was expressed as Bq/mg protein.

To make 1 L 5x KHB, the following reagents were added separately in the listed order to 900 mL distilled and autoclaved water (dH2O) in a 1 L beaker containing a sterile magnet stir bar. The final volume was adjusted to 1000 mL with dH2O, and stored at 4 C for later use.

Chemical	5X (mM)	5X (g/L)
NaCl	555	32.532
KCl	23.5	1.752
MgSO4	10	1.204
Na2HPO4	6	0.852

On the day before the assay, 500 mL of the following two reagents were prepared and filter sterilized:

- 1x KHB, low glucose 5 mM (450 mg), 0.01 % BSA (50 mg), 10 mM Hepes (1.1915 g), pH 7.4
- 2. 1x KHB, no glucose, no BSA, 10 mM Hepes (1.1915 g), pH 7.4

## 2.4.8 Cell viability assay

Cell viability assay measured the activity of living cells via the activity of mitochondrial dehydrogenases as previously described (Denizot and Lang, 1986; Sharma, *et al.*, 2014). An *in vitro* 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl

tetrazolium bromide (MTT) toxicology assay kit (Sigma # TOX1-1KT) was used according to the manufacturers protocol. Briefly, cells were grown to confluence on 96 well tissue culture plates (Corning) and treatments conducted. Following treatment, MTT was reconstituted and added to culture medium as described in the protocol and cells were returned to incubate for 4 hours. Following incubation, formazan crystals were dissolved by adding MTT solubilization solution and gentle mixing. Absorbance was measured at 570 nm and background absorbance at 690 nm was subtracted from the 570 nm measurement. Complete medium without cells was used as a blank.

## **2.5 Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was undertaken using Microsoft Excel, IBM SPSS Statistics 21.0 and online computer software (Preacher, 2002, May). Data were examined for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Parametrically distributed data were analysed using the two-tailed paired sample t-test and non-parametrically distributed data were analysed with the Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test. Correlations between variables were tested using univariate analyses (Pearson's or Spearman's correlation where appropriate) then calculations to test the difference between two independent correlation coefficients were performed. All data is expressed as mean value  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SE). P<0.05 was considered statistically significant and significance levels are indicated as follows; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P <0.001 and where more than one comparison was made: +P<0.05, ++P<0.01, +++P<0.01.

102

# Chapter 3: Endoplasmic reticulum stress in human adipose tissue

## **3.1 Introduction**

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is a multifunctional organelle that plays a key role in the folding, maturation, storage and transport of proteins. However, in conditions of obesity the ER functions can become dysregulated which manifests in misfolded and unfolded proteins, often referred to as 'ER stress' (Hotamisligil, 2006; Hotamisligil, 2010; Schroder and Kaufman, 2005). Several factors appear to heighten ER stress in obesity including hyperglycaemia and inflammation, as well as hypertrophic adipocyte conditions (Alhusaini, et al., 2010; Gregor and Hotamisligil, 2007; Ozcan, et al., 2004; Ozcan, et al., 2006). Whilst the adipocyte continues to adapt to such stresses, often this leads to the point where the dysregulated ER initiates a complex response system known as the unfolded protein response (UPR) (figure 1.6.1) to restore the functional integrity to the organelle (Marciniak and Ron, 2006; Schroder and Kaufman, 2005). In mammals the UPR is comprised of three main branches, signalling through which is mediated by inositol-requiring enzyme  $1\alpha$  (IRE1 $\alpha$ ), PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK) and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6) (Harding, et al., 2000b; Harding, et al., 1999). In unstressed conditions, the UPR sensing transmembrane proteins are bound by a chaperone, BiP/Grp78, in their intraluminal domains and rendered inactive. In cases of accumulating unfolded proteins and increased protein cargo in the ER, BiP/Grp78 is recruited releasing the IRE1a, PERK and ATF6 (Bertolotti, et al., 2000; Shen, et al., 2002). Upon activation IRE1a with its endoribonuclease activity splices and excises a specific 26 nucleotide fragment from X-box binding protein-1 (XBP1) mRNA to form XBP1s (spliced) mRNA encoding a potent transcription factor. PERK phosphorylates the eukaryotic translation initiation factor  $2\alpha$  (eIF2 $\alpha$ ) (Harding, et

*al.*, 1999) and ATF6 is enzymatically processed into its active form (Chen, *et al.*, 2002; Nadanaka, *et al.*, 2007). Collectively, these factors attenuate protein synthesis and reduce ER protein overload to restore ER integrity (Calfon, *et al.*, 2002; Ruggiano, *et al.*, 2014; Sidrauski and Walter, 1997; Wek, *et al.*, 2006).

Obesity appears to have a particular effect on activating UPR, highlighted by mice fed a high fat diet or *ob/ob* mice, which initiates a raised UPR response in adipose tissue (Gregor and Hotamisligil, 2007; Ozcan, et al., 2004; Ozcan, et al., 2006). Further studies have also indicated that ER stress in adipose tissue can be reversed with diet induced weight loss (Gregor, et al., 2009; Seoane-Collazo, et al., 2014) as well as through gastric bypass bariatric surgery in humans (Gregor, et al., 2009). Bariatric surgery has proven to be highly effective method for prevention as well as remission of type 2 diabetes (T2DM) in obese patients, however the rate of remission varies between different surgical procedures (Schauer, et al., 2012). Each surgery type induces changes in metabolic profiles and anthropometry which may have differential impact on ER stress resolution in WAT although studies to date have not examined this (Madsbad, et al., 2014). Bradley et al. (Bradley, et al., 2012) compared malabsorptive, Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB), and laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding (LAGB) and concluded that marked weight loss itself was primarily responsible for increased insulin sensitivity,  $\beta$ -cell function and oral glucose tolerance in non-diabetic obese adults and not the surgery type. They also suggested that additional studies on obese T2DM subjects were required to confirm their observations. Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate the effect of malabsorptive versus restrictive surgeries on the clinical parameters related to metabolic health of obese type 2 diabetics. For this study patients undergoing three types of bariatric surgeries were recruited: BPD (malabsorptive) (Scopinaro, *et al.*, 2011), LAGB (restrictive) (Kormanova, *et al.*, 2004) and laparoscopic greater curvature plication (LGCP; restrictive) (Bradnova, *et al.*, 2014; Fried, *et al.*, 2012). The effects of surgery induced weight loss on ER stress in abdominal SAT as well as the effects of each surgery type on this pathway were investigated. All measurements were carried out in obese T2DM subjects before undergoing LAGB or LGCP or BPD surgery and after 6 months, in order to understand the rate of improvements in each surgery type.

## **3.2 Results**

## 3.2.1 Body composition, basal metabolic variables and sample analyses

There were significant changes observed in all subjects 6 months post-surgery independent of surgery type. Individual BMI (P<0.001), fasting blood glucose (P<0.001), insulin (P<0.001), HOMA-IR (P<0.001), TG (P<0.05), cholesterol (P<0.001) and LDL-cholesterol (P<0.05) were all significantly improved (Table 3.2.1). According to surgery types, body weight loss post-surgery varied from 10.5  $\pm$  1.0 % observed for LGCP, 11.4  $\pm$  1.6 % for LAGB to 16.8  $\pm$  0.5 % for BPD. Additionally, BPD resulted in a significantly higher rate of weight loss measured as pre body weight (PBW) loss per 100 days compared to LAGB and LGCP. The PBW loss per 100 days for BPD was 11.2  $\pm$  0.7 %, for LGCP it was 5.9  $\pm$  0.7 % and for LAGB it was 7.3  $\pm$  1.2 % (Table 3.2.1). BPD subjects had lower HbA1c and HDL cholesterol compared to LAGB subjects and lower total

cholesterol and HDL cholesterol compared to LGCP subjects. BPD subjects also had a higher TAG/HDL ratio compared to LAGB subjects.

Table 3.2.1Body composition and metabolic characteristics before and after<br/>bariatric surgery (following page, whole page table)

Table 3.2.1 legend: Body composition and metabolic characteristics before and after bariatric surgery. Anthropometric measurements were taken for 30 female subjects at the time of either laparoscopic adjustable gastric band (LAGB), laparoscopic greater curvature plication (LGCP) or biliopancreatic diversion (BPD) bariatric surgery (pre) and six months after surgery (post). Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Pre and post values were compared and P<0.05 was considered statistically significant and significance levels are indicated as follows; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P <0.001.
Table 3.2.1	LAG	LAGB (n=9)		LGCP (n=13)		BPD (n=8)	
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	
Excess BMI Lost		31.85		29.86		40.96	
(% Excess BMI Lost)		± 5.95		± 3.18		± 1.99	
Time Between Biopsies		162.22		184.62		152.50	
(Days)		± 6.83		$\pm 5.38$		$\pm 8.18$	
Weight Loss Rate		7.30		5.87		11.24	
(% Lost per 100 Days)		± 1.17		$\pm 0.70$		$\pm 0.74$	
Age	53.89	54.33***	55.38	55.89***	52.38	52.79***	
(Years)	± 1.99	± 3.70	± 1.07	± 1.65	$\pm 0.63$	± 1.24	
Body Weight	113.03	100.52***	106.23	94.82***	120.01	99.95***	
(kg)	± 6.63	± 6.98	± 4.27	± 3.36	$\pm 4.90$	± 4.32	
BMI	41.92	37.26***	39.43	35.16***	43.30	35.98***	
$(kg/m^2)$	± 2.29	$\pm 2.46$	± 1.44	$\pm 1.14$	$\pm 0.90$	$\pm 0.92$	
Fat Free Mass	57.16	54.53*	54.62	52.39**	59.93	53.89**	
(kg)	$\pm 2.24$	± 3.50	± 1.39	± 1.51	± 1.78	± 1.90	
Fat Mass	55.87	46.00***	51.61	42.43***	60.09	46.06***	
(kg)	± 4.57	± 3.93	± 3.15	$\pm 2.28$	$\pm 3.80$	± 3.48	
Fat Mass	48.91	45.34**	48.18	44.51***	49.80	45.74**	
(% Body Weight)	± 1.31	$\pm 1.51$	$\pm 1.10$	± 1.06	± 1.30	$\pm 1.80$	
Waist Circumference	118.19	113.83*	113.81	105.97**	122.88	112.38*	
(cm)	± 4.34	± 5.18	± 2.66	± 2.48	$\pm 2.78$	± 5.06	
Hip Circumference	131.13	125.00**	128.65	119.82**	135.44	124.63*	
(cm)	$\pm 4.11$	± 4.45	$\pm 4.02$	$\pm 2.82$	± 4.26	± 3.79	
Waist / Hip Ratio	0.90	0.91	0.89	0.89	0.91	0.90	
	± 0.01	$\pm 0.02$	$\pm 0.03$	$\pm 0.02$	$\pm 0.03$	$\pm 0.02$	
HbA1c	53.44	46.00*	56.77	47.77**	58.63	40.25**	
(mmol/mol)	± 3.30	± 2.26	$\pm 2.80$	± 2.95	$\pm 2.92$	$\pm 0.86$	
Plasma Glucose	9.60	7.10***	9.27	7.38**	9.28	7.23**	
(mmol/L)	± 0.86	$\pm 0.54$	$\pm 0.60$	$\pm 0.48$	± 1.09	$\pm 0.65$	
Plasma Insulin	26.69	15.70**	27.19	16.13**	35.26	16.39*	
(mU/L)	± 2.44	± 1.88	± 5.85	± 3.27	± 8.77	$\pm 3.10$	
HOMA-IR	10.70	5.29**	11.40	4.98**	13.68	4.80*	
	± 1.63	± 1.02	$\pm 2.60$	$\pm 1.01$	± 3.93	$\pm 1.05$	
Total Cholesterol	4.83	4.35	4.89	4.76	5.15	3.84***	
(mmol/L)	$\pm 0.28$	± 0.22	$\pm 0.19$	$\pm 0.23$	$\pm 0.42$	$\pm 0.36$	
LDL Cholesterol	2.98	2.72	2.81	2.96	3.41	2.31**	
(mmol/L)	$\pm 0.24$	$\pm 0.18$	$\pm 0.20$	$\pm 0.23$	$\pm 0.43$	$\pm 0.27$	
HDL Cholesterol	1.06	1.08	1.09	1.15	1.00	0.76**	
$\frac{(\text{mmol/L})}{\text{Tr} \cdot 1} = \frac{1}{(\text{TAC})}$	± 0.09	$\pm 0.09$	$\pm 0.08$	± 0.09	$\pm 0.08$	$\pm 0.04$	
Inglyceride (IAG)	1.72	1.19*	2.15	1.45	1.00	1.0/	
(mmol/L)	$\pm 0.25$	$\pm 0.16$	$\pm 0.41$	$\pm 0.21$	$\pm 0.27$	$\pm 0.26$	
HUL/LUL Katio	0.37	U.42 + 0.05	0.42	U.45 + 0.05	$0.33 \pm 0.05$	U.36 ± 0.04	
TAC/UDI Patio	± 0.04	± 0.03 1 22*	$\pm 0.03$	<u> </u>	± 0.03 1 75	<u>- 0.04</u> 2 27*	
IAU/IIUL Kallo	+0.32	+0.23	+ 0.52	+ 0.25	+ 0.37	+0.43	
C-Reactive Protein	4 65	4 41	8 61	5 10	<u> </u>	3.87	
(ng/L)	+155	+1.47	+249	+1.47	+ 1.69	+ 1.46	
( <del>0</del> ,)		/		/			

# **3.2.2** Adipose tissue expression of UPR related genes and proteins were reduced post bariatric surgery

Abdominal SAT mRNA and protein expressions of key UPR genes and proteins were evaluated in all 30 subjects before and 6 months after surgery. This was to assess the effect of weight loss alone. All the three UPR pathways; PERK, IRE-1 $\alpha$ and ATF6 were assessed for changes in gene and protein expression. mRNA expression of downstream targets of PERK, ATF4 and CHOP, were both significantly reduced post-surgery (P<0.01; Figure 3.2.2 A). Both IRE-1 $\alpha$  and ATF6 regulate expression of spliced XBP1 (XBP1s) (Guo, *et al.*, 2014). The IRE-1 $\alpha$  mRNA and phospho-IRE-1 $\alpha$  protein expressions were significantly reduced post-surgery (Figure 3.2.2 B and C). The mRNA and protein expressions of ATF6 and XBP1s were also significantly reduced 6 months after surgery (P<0.05; Figure 3.2.2 B and C). The protein expressions of important protein chaperones, BiP1/Grp78 and calnexin were also significantly reduced 6 months post-surgery (Figure 3.2.2D).







□Pre ■ Post





Figure 3.2.2 legend: ER stress in abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue was reduced six months after bariatric surgery in obese T2DM subjects. ER stress markers from all three ER stress pathways and chaperones were measured in all subjects before (pre) and after (post) bariatric surgery. Gene expression of ATF4 and CHOP (A), ATF6, IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s (B). Protein expression of ATF6, pIRE1 $\alpha$ , XBP1s (C), calnexin and bip (D). Data is expressed as mean ± SE. Pre and post values were compared and P<0.05 was considered statistically significant and significance levels are indicated as follows; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001.

# **3.2.3 Regulation of UPR markers was improved in adipose tissue 6 months** post-surgery

The UPR is activated in response to an accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteins in the ER in order to restore normal cellular functions and this process is tightly regulated. In obesity this activation could be prolonged leading to increased inflammation or cellular dysfunction. PERK regulates expression of ATF4 and CHOP while IRE1a regulates synthesis of active form of XBP1, XBP1s by splicing inactive XBP1u (XBP1 unspliced) through its endoribonuclease activity. To investigate whether this regulation is improved after surgery, correlation studies were carried out. A significant correlation was observed between changes in ATF4 and CHOP mRNA expression post-surgery (Figure 3.2.3 A). There were significant correlations between the change in expression of XBP1s vs CHOP (Figure 3.2.3 B), XBP1s vs ATF4 (Figure 3.2.3 C) and pIRE1a vs calnexin (Figure 3.2.3 D; P<0.001). These association studies highlight the overall improved regulation of UPR pathways post-bariatric surgery.

ER stress signalling regulation in abdominal subcutaneous Figure 3.2.3 adipose tissue was improved six months after bariatric surgery



XBP1s (AU)

-r = 0.645, P < 0.001

ATF4 mRNA vs CHOP mRNA





С

### pIRE1a protein vs calnexin protein



*Figure 3.2.3 legend: ER stress signalling regulation in abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue was improved six months after bariatric surgery.* Correlation analysis for all subjects was undertaken between the change in ER stress signalling markers and chaperones at gene and protein expression level before and after surgery. ATF4 mRNA and CHOP mRNA (A), XBP1s mRNA and CHOP mRNA (B), XBP1s and ATF4 mRNA (C), pIRE1α protein and calnexin protein (D). P<0.05 was considered statistically significant and significance levels are indicated as follows; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001.

#### **3.2.4 Effect of surgery type on ER stress (Restrictive versus Malabsorptive)**

Bariatric surgery is highly effective for prevention as well as for resolving T2DM but the remission rates have been shown to vary between different surgical procedures. Therefore, the effect of each surgery type on ER stress markers in adipose tissue 6 months after each surgery was investigated. Overall the mRNA expression of XBP1s was significantly reduced across all surgery types. While all other markers studied were significantly reduced either in LAGB or LGCP surgery types but not in BPD, even though the overall trend was towards reduction for all the markers in all surgery types (Figure 3.2.4 A-D). It did not reach significance for some markers probably due to the smaller sample size for individual surgery types.









Malabsorptive (BPD) ER stress gene expression







LGCP ER stress gene expression



Figure 3.2.4 legend: Post-surgery ER stress improvements in abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue varied by bariatric surgery type. XBP1s, ATF4, ATF6, CHOP, and IRE1 $\alpha$  gene expressions were measured before (pre) and after (post) bariatric surgery, stratified by restrictive (LAGB and LGCP) (A), malabsorptive (BPD) (B), LAGB (C), and LGCP (D) surgery types. Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Pre and post values were compared and P<0.05 was considered statistically significant and significance levels are indicated as follows; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P <0.001.

#### 3.2.5 Adipose tissue inflammation and macrophage infiltration

Adipose tissue inflammation and macrophage specific markers were assessed pre and post bariatric surgery. The pro-inflammatory markers IL-6 and CCL2 mRNA expressions were significantly reduced post-surgery (Figure 3.2.5; P<0.05) whilst there was no significant change in the anti-inflammatory IL-10 mRNA expression. The macrophage specific surface markers CD68 and CD14 mRNA expressions appeared to reduce post-surgery, although this did not reach significance. Further assessment of the potential link between IL-6 mRNA expression and macrophage markers showed there was no significant correlation with either CD68 or CD14.



independently of macrophage expression



**Inflammation Markers** 

Figure 3.2.5 legend: Adipose tissue inflammation reduced after bariatric surgery independently of macrophage expression. Pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6, antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10, macrophage recruitment chemokine CCL2 and macrophage surface markers CD68 and CD14 gene expressions were measured for all subjects before (pre) and after (post) bariatric surgery. (IL-6; interleukin – 6, IL-10; interleukin – 10, CCL2; C-C motif ligand 2, CD68; cluster of differentiation 68, CD14; cluster of differentiation 14). Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Pre and post values were compared and P<0.05 was considered statistically significant and significance levels are indicated as follows; \*P<0.05.

#### **3.3 Discussion**

This study was designed to investigate the effect of bariatric surgery types on metabolic health of obese T2DM patients. Both restrictive (LAGB and LGCP) as well as malabsorptive (BPD) surgery types were assessed for the outcome. Recent studies suggest an important role for ER stress in underlying mechanisms for insulin resistance and T2DM in obese subjects (Hummasti and Hotamisligil, 2010). The results of this study show that ER stress is activated in obese T2DM subjects and is significantly reduced after bariatric surgery. Surgery specific effects on ER stress and other metabolic parameters were observed.

The results of this study agree with previous findings in obese T2DM patients, showing that the significant weight loss six months post-bariatric surgery, comprising predominantly from reduced fat mass, resulted in marked improvements in both insulin and glucose homeostasis. More specifically, fasting insulin and glucose and HbA1c all significantly decreased suggesting a major role for excess adipose tissue in obesity-linked pathogenesis of T2DM (Bradnova, *et al.*, 2014; Nguyen and Korner, 2014). In addition, the significant weight loss post-surgery was also found to be associated with improvements in other obesity-related metabolic factors including significantly decreased LDL and TAG levels. Patients who underwent BPD had achieved higher percent excess BMI lost (% EBL) compared to the other bariatric interventions. BPD patients also had lower HbA1c, total cholesterol and HDL compared to restrictive surgeries, possibly due to their higher % EBL. There were no significant differences between surgery types in other metabolic parameters including body weight, BMI, fat mass, fasting plasma glucose, plasma insulin, or TAG.

The present study demonstrated that in obese T2DM subjects, UPR regulation in adipose tissue improved six months after bariatric surgery. In agreement with previous studies (Gregor, *et al.*, 2009) the expression of UPR markers at the level of master regulators (IRE1 $\alpha$  and ATF6), downstream signalling effector molecules (XBP1s, ATF4 and CHOP) and key protein chaperones (Bip and Calnexin) were significantly decreased. UPR in WAT has been directly linked to insulin resistance via activation of JNK protein kinases by IRE1 $\alpha$  (Urano, *et al.*, 2000). In this study expression of IRE1 $\alpha$  in its active phosphorylated form and its immediate downstream target XBP1s were both significantly decreased. Furthermore, the correlation between their expressions was highly significant post-surgery (P<0.001), suggesting a tighter regulation.

In addition to the IRE1 $\alpha$  pathway, the regulation of the PERK pathway was also improved following bariatric intervention. The association between the downstream targets of PERK, ATF4 and CHOP, significantly increased postsurgery suggesting improved regulation of this UPR pathway in addition to IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s pathway. The hypothesis that the ER in WAT is under a reduced demand post-surgery is supported by the finding in this study that the expression of protein chaperones BiP/Grp78 and calnexin are significantly reduced postsurgery compared to baseline and are significantly associated (Gulow, *et al.*, 2002). The expression of BiP/Grp78 protein coincides with the level of ER stress; therefore a reduction in BiP protein expression in the patients WAT post-surgery is indicative of a reduction in ER stress. Gregor *et al.* (Gregor, *et al.*, 2009) have reported similar observations with regards to ER stress following malabsorptive bariatric surgery, i.e. gastric bypass, except for one notable difference. In their study, Gregor *et al.* observed no change to CHOP mRNA expression in spite of changes to upstream regulator p-eIF2 $\alpha$ , in the PERK pathway and argued that CHOP expression was probably regulated by additional signals which do not respond to changes in body weight. On the contrary, this study documented significant reduction to CHOP as well as ATF4 mRNA expressions after weight loss at 6 months post-surgery. Upon further investigation CHOP expression was significantly reduced only in restrictive surgery samples (LAGB and LGCP) and not in malabsorptive surgery (BPD) (Figure 3.2.4). Therefore, our results indicate that CHOP expression is also probably affected by the type of the bariatric procedure and is regulated by yet another confounding factor that requires further investigation. In general almost all the ER stress markers were significantly reduced in restrictive compared to malabsorptive surgery.

Glucose homeostasis and WAT UPR regulation were both improved after bariatric induced weight loss and may be linked. This observation is supported by another study in *ob/ob* mice where overexpression of XBP1s has been shown to induce adiponectin multimerisation and improve glucose homeostasis (Sha, *et al.*, 2014). Another bariatric study using Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) and LAGB samples by Bradley *et al.* (Bradley, *et al.*, 2012) has shown improved insulin sensitivity, oral glucose tolerance and beta cell function after surgery but does not provide a mechanism. The IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s pathway has now been linked to adipogenesis (Sha, *et al.*, 2009), differentiation of secretory cell types, such as pancreatic and salivary exocrine cells and regulation of lactation (Gregor, *et al.*, 2013) in addition to regulation of glucose homeostasis.

Furthermore, since chronic inflammation of WAT has been linked to metabolic dysregulation (Wellen and Hotamisligil, 2003; Xu, *et al.*, 2003), the inflammatory status of patients' WAT was investigated. The expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 was significantly reduced after bariatric surgery compared to baseline while no significant change was observed in mRNA expression of anti-inflammatory IL-10. IL-6 expression has been linked to macrophage infiltration in adipose tissue (Di Gregorio, *et al.*, 2005), therefore to establish whether macrophage played any role in the observed changes, macrophage surface markers (CD14 and CD68) and macrophage chemotatric protein 1 (MCP1), were measured. There were no significant changes in CD14 or CD68 expression before and after surgery, although there was a significant reduction in CCL2 expression (figure 3.2.5). However, none correlated with IL-6 expression, therefore the IL-6 reduced expression was likely to be independent of macrophages.

#### **3.4 Conclusions**

This study has demonstrated that both restrictive and malabsorptive bariatric interventions are effective weight loss interventions for obese T2DM patients resulting in significantly improved glucose and insulin levels six months after surgery. While malabsorptive bariatric surgery involves more complicated procedures and requires long-term vitamin and other supplementation, the restrictive bariatric procedures are less complicated and induce almost equal benefits. In this study adipose tissue health was better following the two restrictive procedures (LAGB and LGCP) compared to BPD as shown by higher reduction of ER stress markers as well as improved regulation of CHOP. The data from Bradley et al. (Bradley, et al., 2012) obtained from non-diabetic obese patients did not specifically support malabsorptive (RYGB) over restrictive surgery type (LAGB) and suggested that further studies were required which could apply to obese patients with T2DM. This study offers novel data in that direction indicating that while the clinical outcomes regarding parameters, such as % EBL and HbA1c, were better following BPD, the adipose tissue health was significantly improved following the restrictive procedures. The clinical implications of these findings in the longer term require further investigations. Overall, all the surgery types investigated significantly improved the metabolic health of obese diabetics included in this study irrespective of surgery type.

### **Chapter 4: Regulation of ER stress**

during adipogenesis

#### **4.1 Introduction**

Obesity, characterised by expansion of WAT, is the biggest risk factor for developing the metabolic disease T2DM (Guh, et al., 2009). WAT is a multifunctional organ that plays a key role in energy regulation and metabolism. People with T2DM who lost weight predominantly through a reduction in WAT mass following bariatric surgery improved their glucose and lipid metabolic profile (table 3.2.1). Therefore excess WAT in obesity may lead to dysregulation and impaired metabolic health. However, not all WAT is equal. WAT, like skeletal muscle, is distributed through the body in discrete depots (Shen, et al., 2003). SAT represents about 85 % of all body fat and is unequally distributed through the body, with larger depots in the abdomen, thigh, gluteal and mammary region (Frayn and Karpe, 2014). Abdominal VAT depots are deeper in the body than SAT and include omental that connects to the stomach. The functions and properties of each WAT depot overlap but there are distinct differences (White and Tchoukalova, 2014). Accumulation of adipose tissue in different depots has differential risk associated with development of T2DM. Accumulation of VAT and SAT in the abdomen is referred to as 'central obesity' and confers a higher risk of developing T2DM compared to lower body accumulation of fat. Therefore abdominal WAT was investigated. In central obesity, different depths of abdominal SAT are functionally distinct and independently correlate with metabolic complications of obesity (Smith, et al., 2001). These observations have been supported by several studies, reviewed by Frayn et al. (Frayn, et al., 2003). Lipolysis, TAG synthesis and storage, and protein secretion varies between WAT depots as reviewed by Lee et al. (Lee, et al., 2013). The difference in risk of developing T2DM conferred by different WAT depots is likely to be due to a combination of WAT properties including lipid and carbohydrate metabolism (lipolysis, lipid accumulation and glucose uptake) and systemic signalling (protein and lipid secretion and innervation).

In order to accommodate the energy requirements of the body WAT is able to expand and contract during adult life despite most development during prenatal and early postnatal life (Poulos, et al., 2010). WAT expansion occurs primarily in two ways, by hyperplasia or hypertrophy. Evidence suggests obesity complications in humans result from the inability of SAT to appropriately expand and store lipids, and consequently ectopic fat deposition and lipotoxicity contribute to insulin resistance (Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010). Impaired WAT expandability is mainly due to impaired adipogenesis (Isakson, et al., 2009). Adipocyte progenitors in human AT have been found to be depot-specific (Tchkonia, et al., 2007) and differences between adipocytes derived from SAT and VAT have been documented (Kovsan, et al., 2009). Adjpocytes are central to metabolic regulation (Rosen and Spiegelman, 2006) and therefore differences in adipocyte progenitors may contribute towards regional variation in WAT function and development (Baglioni, et al., 2012). This may in part explain the depotspecific differences in metabolic function and association with relative risk of developing T2DM (Karastergiou, et al., 2013). However the underlying reasons why depot specific differences in adipocytes exist requires clarification.

Within adipocytes the ER plays a key role in metabolic regulation. ER stress can impair ER integrity and influence metabolism and function of adipocytes. Weight loss reduced ER stress and improved metabolic profile in humans (chapter 3). ER stress might be directly linked to metabolism since abdominal SAT XBP1s correlated with plasma glucose after bariatric surgery induced WAT loss in humans (figure 3.2.3). Furthermore, the IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s UPR pathway is essential for adipogenesis in mouse cells (Sha, *et al.*, 2009). However XBP1s has not been studied in human adipogenesis. The underlying differences between WAT depots may be due to different levels of IRE1 $\alpha$  and or XBP1s expression in adipogenesis. Scherer's group have expressed an urgency for understanding the underlying mechanisms of adipogenesis and highlighted that it will bring potential clinical benefit for combating metabolic disease (Wang, *et al.*, 2013).

Therefore the aims of this study were to investigate the extent of adipogenesis and expression of IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s during adipogenesis in preadipocytes from paired human abdominal SAT and VAT depots and whether the IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s UPR pathway is essential in human adipogenesis. To assess depot specific differences in adipogenesis paired primary human abdominal SAT and VAT from lean and obese non-diabetic subjects were collected. Preadipocytes were extracted from WAT depots, cultured and adipogenesis initiated. To assess the effect of ER stress on adipogenesis, TM was administered during early adipogenesis. To assess whether the IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s pathway is essential during human adipogenesis, IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity was selectively blocked with the small molecule inhibitor 4 $\mu$ 8C during early adipogenesis. In order to further assess the role of ER stress on adipogenesis a human adipocyte cell line Chub-S7 was used (Darimont, *et al.*, 2003). Functional differences between mesenchymal stem cell populations are reflected by their transcriptome (Jansen, *et al.*, 2010). Therefore IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s mRNA expressions were measured during adipogenesis in control conditions and following ER stress induction and XBP1s inhibition.

#### 4.2 Results

# 4.2.1 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific differences in lipid metabolism during adipogenesis

Preadipocytes were extracted from primary human tissue, cultured and adipogenesis stimulated. On day 14 after induction of adipogenesis staining was performed (figure 4.2.1 A). Hematoxylin staining dyed the basophilic nucleus dark blue (blue arrows in figure 1.4.1 A) and indicated that lipid droplets (white arrows in figure 1.4.1 A), brightly reflecting circular shapes, formed in the cytoplasm (black arrows in figure 1.4.1 A) around the nucleus. Eosin staining dyed the acidophilic cytoplasm pink and in combination with hematoxylin staining it showed that lipid droplets can occupy virtually the entire adipocyte cytoplasm. ORO staining dyed TAG and lipids red and provided a clearer indication of lipid accumulation compared to HE staining. Therefore ORO staining was used as an indicator of adipogenesis during subsequent adipogenesis experiments. Preadipocytes derived from lean and obese Abd SAT and VAT depots had adipogenesis induced and ORO staining was performed every 48 hours up to 14 days (figure 4.2.1 B - D). Preadipocytes from obese subjects accumulated more lipids during adipogenesis than from lean. Preadipocytes derived from VAT accumulated more lipids than derived from SAT. Lipolysis, an indicator of adipocyte function, was assessed during adipogenesis every 48 hours by measuring free glycerol in conditioned media (figure 4.2.1 E). In preadipocytes

derived from SAT, those derived from obese subjects underwent more lipolysis than from lean. However in VAT derived preadipocytes, those derived from lean subjects underwent more lipolysis than from obese.

Figure 4.2.1 Primary human adipocytes had depot and BMI specific differences in lipid accumulation and lipolysis during adipogenesis

### A

### Adipocyte staining



### Lipid accumulation during lean and obese abdominal

# Lean, Abd SAT Obese, Abd SAT 40x 20x 40x Day 20x Ó 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

### subcutaneous adipocyte adipogenesis

### visceral adipocyte adipogenesis





Days after initiation of adipogenesis





#### Adipocyte lipid accumulation during adipogenesis

Figure 4.2.1 legend: Primary human adipocytes had depot and BMI specific differences in lipid accumulation and lipolysis during adipogenesis. Preadipocytes from paired abdominal subcutaneous (Abd SAT) and visceral (VAT) depots from lean and obese subjects were cultured and had adipogenesis induced for 14 days. Hematoxylin and eosin (HE) and oil red-O (ORO) staining were compared in Abd SAT obese adipocytes on day 14 after induction of adipogenesis (A), nucleus - blue arrows, lipid droplets - white arrows, cytoplasm - black arrows. Images of ORO stained adipocytes from lean and obese Abd SAT (B) and VAT (C) were compared and lipid accumulation (D) and lipolysis (E) was measured every 48 hours. Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values at each time point are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05 compared to lean Abd SAT, + P<0.05 compared to lean VAT.

# 4.2.2 Cultured primary human preadipocytes had depot and BMI specific differences in glucose uptake during adipogenesis: VAT is insulin resistant

To further characterise Abd SAT and VAT lean and obese adipogenesis, functional glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity was assessed 14 days after induction of adipogenesis (figure 4.2.2). SAT adipocytes from lean and obese subjects significantly increased glucose uptake after insulin stimulation (P<0.05 - P<0.001), however the adipocytes from lean had a greater increase in insulin stimulated glucose uptake compared to obese. VAT adipocytes from lean and obese subjects increased glucose uptake after insulin stimulation but did not reach significance. Their basal glucose uptake was significantly higher (P<0.05) than from SAT. The basal glucose uptake was significantly higher in obese subjects

compared to lean in both Abd SAT and VAT depots (P<0.05 and P<0.01 respectively).

Figure 4.2.2 Glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity in primary human

adipocytes varied depending on adipose tissue depot and BMI



**Glucose uptake** 

Figure 4.2.2 legend: Glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity in primary human adipocytes varied depending on adipose tissue depot and BMI. Paired Abd SAT and VAT preadipocytes from lean and obese subjects were cultured and differentiated for 14 days. On day 14, adipocytes were subjected to basal and insulin stimulated glucose uptake assays. Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001.

# 4.2.3 The IRE1α - XBP1s UPR pathway was elevated during adipogenesis in obese subjects compared to lean

ER stress in WAT is elevated in obese compared to lean subjects and ER stress was reduced in obese subjects after bariatric surgery (chapter 3). To compare ER stress during adipogenesis in lean and obese SAT and VAT derived preadipocytes, IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s mRNA expression was measured every 48 hours during adipogenesis (figure 4.2.3 A – B). IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s mRNA expression in the lean SAT and VAT derived adipocytes decreased after the induction of adipogenesis. In contrast, IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s mRNA expression in the obese SAT and VAT derived adipocytes increased after the onset of adipogenesis in two phases. XBP1s mRNA expression was higher than day 0 for the entire duration of adipogenesis in obese SAT and VAT derived adipocytes.





adipocytes derived from obese subjects compared to lean

Days after initiation of adipogenesis

Figure 4.2.3 legend: The IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s pathway was elevated during adipogenesis in adipocytes derived from obese subjects compared to lean. Preadipocytes from paired Abd SAT and VAT depots in lean and obese subjects were differentiated for 14 days. IRE1 $\alpha$  (A) and XBP1s (B) mRNA expression was measured every 48 hours. Data is expressed as mean ± SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001.

# 4.2.4 Chronic disruption of the UPR after induction of adipogenesis inhibited adipogenic capacity

The expression of UPR markers IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s varied between lean and obese derived preadipocytes during adipogenesis. To assess whether ER stress influences adipogenesis, ER stress was induced during early adipogenesis with TM. Lipid accumulation was considered a marker of adipogenic capacity and measured by ORO staining 14 days after the initiation of adipogenesis (figure 4.2.4 A - B). Lipid accumulation in adipocytes from both SAT and VAT depots was significantly reduced (P<0.001) following TM treatment compared to control. The IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s UPR pathway was differentially expressed during adipogenesis in lean and obese derived preadipocytes. To assess whether the UPR pathway is necessary during adipogenesis IRE1a endonuclease activity was inhibited during early adipogenesis with 4µ8C at two concentrations; 16 µM and 32 µM. Lipid accumulation was considered a marker of adipogenic capacity and measured by ORO staining 14 days after the initiation of adipogenesis (figure 4.2.4 C - D). Lipid accumulation was significantly reduced (P<0.001) in adipocytes derived from both SAT and VAT following 4µ8C addition. The higher concentration of inhibitor resulted in lower lipid accumulation.

Figure 4.2.4 Chronic disruption of the UPR after induction of adipogenesis

inhibited adipogenic capacity

A

## Tunicamycin (TM) induced ER stress during early adipogenesis blocked lipid accumulation

20x20x40x40xAbd SAT day 14 control40x40x



Abd SAT day 14 after TM 1.0  $\mu g/mL$  day 0-4



### VAT day 14 control



VAT day 14 after TM 1.0  $\mu$ g/mL day 0 – 4





### C 4µ8C blocked lipid accumulation

Abd SAT day 14 control



Abd SAT day 14 following 16  $\mu M$  4µ8c day 0 – 4



Abd SAT day 14 following 32  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8c day 0 – 4



### VAT day 14 control

D



VAT day 14 following 16  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8c day 0 – 4



VAT day 14 following 32  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8c day 0 – 4







Adipose tissue depot

Figure 4.2.4 legend: Chronic disruption of the UPR after induction of adipogenesis inhibited adipogenic capacity. Paired Abd SAT and VAT preadipocytes from lean subjects were cultured and differentiated for 14 days. Adipocytes were subjected to DMSO (control) or 1.0  $\mu$ g/mL TM (A - B), or 16  $\mu$ M or 32  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C (C - D) from induction of adipogenesis for 96 hours (day 0 to 4) and then treatments were withdrawn. On day 14 after induction of adipogenesis, adipocytes were subjected to ORO staining and images captured. Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001.

# 4.2.5 To investigate the IRE1 $\alpha$ - XBP1s pathway further a reproducible model system, human preadipocyte cell line ChubS7, was used

In order to further assess the role of IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s during adipogenesis a suitable, reliable and consistent human preadipocyte model system was required. To assess ChubS7 adipogenic capacity and ER stress expression, adipogenesis was induced in ChubS7 preadipocytes for 14 days. Successful adipogenesis was confirmed by increased lipid accumulation, lipolysis, insulin stimulated glucose uptake and increased gene expression of adipogenesis regulators (figure 4.2.5 A – D). IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s mRNA expression was assessed every 48 hours (figure 4.2.5 E). IRE1 $\alpha$  expression initially decreased, then gradually increased to the same level as day 0. XBP1s expression followed the same pattern of expression as IRE1 $\alpha$  although remained below the day 0 level.

Figure 4.2.5 To investigate the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s pathway further, a reproducible model system, human preadipocyte cell line ChubS7, was used



Lipid accumulation during ChubS7 adipogenesis






Figure 4.2.5 legend: To investigate the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s pathway further, a reproducible model system, human preadipocyte cell line ChubS7, was used. Adipogenesis was induced in ChubS7 preadipocytes and the cells cultured for 14 days. Lipid accumulation (A) and lipolysis (B) were measured every 48 hours. Glucose uptake without and with insulin stimulation was measured on day 14 (C). mRNA expression of adipogenic markers CEBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  (D) and UPR pathway IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s were measured every 48 hours (E). Data is expressed as mean ± SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001.

### 4.3 Discussion

This study was designed to investigate adipogenesis in preadipocytes derived from different primary human WAT depots. The role of IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s UPR pathway in adipogenesis in preadipocytes from abdominal SAT and VAT depots from lean and obese subjects was studied. Accumulation of WAT in different depots has been reported to associate with different risk of developing T2DM (White and Tchoukalova, 2014). ER stress has been suggested to play an important role in the underlying mechanisms of insulin resistance and T2DM in obese subjects (Hummasti and Hotamisligil, 2010). And the ER stress pathway IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s has been reported to be essential in murine adipogenesis (Sha, *et al.*, 2009). The results of this study show that the extent of human adipogenesis depends on subject adiposity and specific WAT depot. Furthermore, ER stress significantly disrupts human adipogenesis and the IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s pathway is essential in human adipogenesis.

Human abdominal adipogenesis is influenced by subject adiposity (Isakson, *et al.*, 2009; Ma, *et al.*, 2015; Maumus, *et al.*, 2008). The results from this study support this theory. Preadipocytes from obese SAT and VAT depots accumulated more lipids during adipogenesis than matched depots from lean subjects. This finding contradicts van Harmelen *et al.* who reported no regional difference between human abdominal SAT and VAT differentiation, however they used adipocyte morphology and determination of glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GPDH) to assess differentiation and therefore may not have resolved differences in lipid accumulation and lipolysis (van Harmelen, *et al.*, 2004). Preadipocytes derived from obese SAT underwent more lipolysis during adipogenesis than lean SAT;

however conversely, lean VAT underwent more lipolysis than obese VAT. Furthermore in lean derived preadipocytes, those from VAT had higher levels lipolysis compared to SAT whereas in obese derived adipocytes SAT had higher levels of lipolysis than VAT. These findings are consistent with the hypothesis of Karpe *et al.* that NEFA concentration is largely unrelated to body fat mass (Karpe, *et al.*, 2011). The observed differences in lipid accumulation and lipolysis may be due to different physiological functions of abdominal SAT and VAT, in accordance with existing dogma (Kissebah, *et al.*, 1982). SAT may primarily serve as a long-term energy store whereas VAT may be more plastic and therefore release more NEFA. In lean subjects the higher VAT lipolysis may serve to supply the nearby liver with NEFA to be oxidized to transfer energy in a controlled way.

This study indicated differences during adipogenesis in preadipocytes from different origin and importantly also showed differences in adipocyte function after adipogenesis. Adipocyte function was assessed by insulin stimulated glucose uptake. Lean Abd SAT adipocytes had the lowest basal glucose uptake and the biggest fold increase following insulin stimulation, over twice the basal rate. This reflects regulated metabolism and suggests the lean subjects Abd SAT was metabolically healthy and highly sensitive to insulin. Lean VAT adipocytes had a greater basal glucose uptake rate than Abd SAT, however there was no change after insulin stimulation. This further supports the hypothesis that WAT depot function is distinct (Kovacova, *et al.*, 2012; McLaughlin, *et al.*, 2011). Obese Abd SAT adipocytes had a higher basal glucose uptake and a lower fold increase upon insulin addition compared to lean but still had a significant increase. This suggests

obese Abd SAT adipocytes metabolism is compromised and less sensitive to insulin action. Obese VAT adipocytes had the greatest basal glucose uptake and it did not increase following insulin stimulation. This suggests that the obese VAT adipocytes are dysregulated and insulin resistant. Collectively these findings support human investigations that suggest Abd SAT is protective for insulin resistance whereas VAT mass has the opposite effect (McLaughlin, *et al.*, 2011).

The IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s UPR pathway is indispensible in murine adipogenesis (Sha, et al., 2009), therefore IRE1a and XBP1s mRNA expressions were measured during human adipogenesis. Abd SAT derived preadipocytes from both lean and obese subjects decreased IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s expression during adipogenesis. Conversely VAT derived preadipocytes from both lean and obese subjects increased IRE1a expression in a biphasic way peaking on days 4 and 12, and increased XBP1s expression throughout adipogenesis. Therefore there were clear depot specific differences in gene expression irrespective of adiposity. This study indicated adiposity and WAT region influence adipocyte metabolic function through altered lipid accumulation, lipolysis and glucose uptake and it also showed adiposity and WAT region influence gene expression during adipogenesis. These findings support Tchkonia et al. that WAT depot-specific characteristics are retained in strains derived from human preadipocytes (Tchkonia, et al., 2006). Since functional differences between mesenchymal stem cell populations are reflected by their transcriptome (Jansen, et al., 2010), the observed differences in gene expression likely reflect different adipocyte functions and further support the hypothesis that regional WAT depots have different functions (White and Tchoukalova, 2014).

This study showed that chronic inhibition or activation of the UPR during adipogenesis inhibits adipogenic capacity. The IRE1a - XBP1s pathway was differentially expressed in SAT and VAT adipogenesis and activation of the UPR has been linked to metabolic dysfunction (Hummasti and Hotamisligil, 2010). Therefore the UPR was hypothesised to play a key role in adipogenesis. Induction of ER stress with TM or blocking IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity with 4 $\mu$ 8C and depleting cellular XBP1s during the initial 4 days of adipogenesis prevented cell lipid accumulation, collectively morphological changes and blocking adipogenesis. Therefore functional ER integrity and XBP1s are required for successful adipogenesis in humans. The finding that XBP1s is essential for human adipogenesis supports murine studies (Sha, et al., 2009) and therefore provides a translation from mouse to man. The importance of ER integrity in adipogenesis supports the postulation that the ER is tightly connected to metabolic regulation (Unanue and Urano, 2014). Bariatric surgery induced WAT loss led to a reduction in ER stress and an improved metabolic profile (chapter 3). Therefore the reduced ER stress following WAT loss may have improved WAT metabolic function partly through improved adipogenesis regulation.

SAT was investigated further because SAT represents the vast majority of AT (about 85 % of all body fat (Frayn and Karpe, 2014)) and the inability of SAT to expand has been causally related to obesity complications such as T2DM (Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010). In order to investigate SAT adipocyte signalling pathways in more detail a suitable human adipocyte cell line, ChubS7, was used for reproducibility. ChubS7 cells have previously been characterised in detail and

shown to express typical white adipocyte markers upon adipogenesis (Bujalska, et al., 2008; Darimont, et al., 2003; Gathercole, et al., 2007). In this study during adipogenesis ChubS7 preadipocytes accumulated lipids, had increased lipolysis, and increased adipogenic regulator gene expression, and adipocytes had significantly increased glucose uptake. Therefore they successfully differentiated in agreement with literature. IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s mRNA expression levels in ChubS7 cells significantly reduced upon activation of adipogenesis and then oscillated during the subsequent 14 days and therefore may play an important role in regulating adipogenesis. However ChubS7 cells were derived from an obese female subject with a BMI of 54 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and ChubS7 cells coexpress human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) and papillomavirus E7 oncoprotein (HPV-E7) (Darimont, et al., 2003), therefore caution must be taken when extrapolating results from ChubS7 cells to adipocytes. Nonetheless, ChubS7 cells serve as a useful tool to optimise adipocyte treatment conditions due to their consistency. Thus in order to investigate the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s pathway in further detail, ChubS7 cells were used for optimisation and pilot studies before key experiments were repeated in primary human adipocytes.

#### **4.4 Conclusions**

In summary, this study showed that adipogenesis in primary human preadipocytes is influenced by both adiposity and WAT depot of preadipocyte source and that the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s UPR pathway plays an integral role in human adipogenesis. Adipogenesis is an important process within WAT to allow normal turnover of adipocytes (Spalding, et al., 2008) and facilitate appropriate WAT expansion to respond to the energy needs of the body (Wang, et al., 2013). This investigation indicated that during adipogenesis obese derived preadipocytes accumulated more lipid than lean irrespective of WAT depot, however lipolysis and insulin sensitivity were both influenced by adiposity and WAT depot. Collectively these findings support human investigations that suggest Abd SAT is protective for insulin resistance whereas VAT mass has the opposite effect (McLaughlin, et al., 2011). The expressions of IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s during adipogenesis differed between depots and may in part explain the observed functional differences in adipocytes. ER stress induction prevented adipogenesis irrespective of preadipocyte origin and may in part explain why WAT ER stress is associated with metabolic dysfunction (Hotamisligil, 2010). The novel finding that XBP1s is a prerequisite for human adipogenesis strengthens the link between UPR and adipogenesis, although further investigation is required to elucidate the role of XBP1s in human adipogenesis. These findings provide insight into adipocyte functional differences and their integration with the UPR and therefore this information will benefit development of translational clinical interventions to improve metabolic health.

# Chapter 5: The role of the IRE1α - XBP1s UPR pathway in human adipogenesis and metabolism

### **5.1 Introduction**

WAT is able to expand and contract during adult life to accommodate the energy requirements of the body despite most development during prenatal and early postnatal life (Poulos, *et al.*, 2010). Evidence suggests obesity complications in humans such as T2DM result from the inability of SAT to appropriately expand and store lipids, and consequently ectopic fat deposition and lipotoxicity contribute to insulin resistance (Hill, *et al.*, 2009; Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010). Impaired WAT expandability is mainly due to defects in adipogenesis (Isakson, *et al.*, 2009). Therefore adipogenesis is an important process to maintain metabolic function. Further understanding of adipogenesis may present targets to improve metabolic regulation. Preadipocytes derived from SAT and VAT were both effected by ER stress and blocking XBP1s expression during adipogenesis to the same extent (figure 4.2.4). SAT will be investigated further because SAT represents the vast majority of WAT (about 85 % of all body fat (Frayn and Karpe, 2014)) and the inability of SAT to expand has been causally related to obesity complications such as T2DM (Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010).

Within adipocytes the ER plays a key role in metabolic regulation. ER stress can lead to activation of the UPR (figure 1.6.1) and influence metabolism and function of adipocytes (figures 1.7.1 and 1.7.2). Inducing ER stress with TM during induction of differentiation prevented adipogenesis (chapter 4). Therefore ER function is a prerequisite for successful adipogenesis. The IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s UPR pathway is essential for adipogenesis in mouse cells (Sha, *et al.*, 2009) and this study has confirmed this in human cells for the first time (chapter 4). However the role of XBP1s in human adipogenesis is not known. Understanding the role of XBP1s in adipogenesis will provide insight into the regulation of adipogenesis and may reveal targets to boost adipogenesis. Forced expansion of WAT via increased hyperplasia induced by transgenic overexpression of adiponectin in *ob/ob* mice normalized glucose and insulin levels and prevented insulin resistance (Kim, *et al.*, 2007). Therefore upregulating adipogenesis may have protective effects for metabolic health. Since XBP1s is essential for adipogenesis, then targeting XBP1s or its downstream targets may provide a mechanism to boost adipogenesis and subsequently help WAT expansion and prevent ectopic fat deposition and lipotoxicity, and therefore help metabolic regulation.

Understanding how XBP1s fits into the complex system of adipogenesis regulation may provide pharmacological targets and therefore have clinical benefit. Characterisation of adipogenesis regulatory processes have benefited from the discovery of key pathways and transcription factors that contribute to the adipogenic process, as reviewed by Lefterova and Lazar (Lefterova and Lazar, 2009). The transcription factors PPAR $\gamma$  and CEBPs are the crucial determinants of adipocyte fate although other factors including extracellular acting Wnts and intracellular cell-cycle proteins also play roles in adipogenesis. There are several inhibitors of adipogenesis including CHOP, which is upregulated in ER stress (Hou, *et al.*, 2013), and certain TCF/LEF proteins, activated by Wnt signalling (Farmer, 2006). Recently miRNA-540 has been suggested to impair adipogenesis via suppression of PPAR $\gamma$  (Chen, *et al.*, 2015). Therefore a network of transcription factors and cell-cycle regulators, in concert with transcriptional coactivators and corepressors, respond to extracellular stimuli to activate or repress adipogenesis. Cho *et al.* have shown in mouse 3T3-L1 cells that XBP1s

enhances adipogenesis through the downregulation of Wnt10b (Cho, *et al.*, 2013). And in mouse 3T3-L1 cells that XBP1s is a key regulator of adipogenic modulator PPAR $\gamma$  (Cho, *et al.*, 2014). However the role of XBP1s in human cells during adipogenesis has not been studied.

Therefore the aim of this study was to investigate the role of XBP1s in human adipogenesis. Human adipocytes were used to optimise inhibition conditions with IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease inhibitor 4 $\mu$ 8C and XBP1 siRNA. Human preadipocytes were subjected to various XBP1s inhibition studies via inhibitor or siRNA during adipogenesis. Adipogenesis and adipocyte function were assessed by lipid accumulation, lipolysis and glucose uptake. Expression of key adipogenic and ER stress proteins and mRNAs were measured during adipogenesis and following XBP1s inhibition.

#### **5.2 Results**

# 5.2.1 IRE1 $\alpha$ endonuclease activity was specifically inhibited with the small molecule inhibitor 4µ8C in adipocytes without effecting cell viability

To investigate the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s pathway in adipogenesis a method of blocking the signalling pathway was sought. The small molecule inhibitor 4µ8C has been shown to block IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF cells) (Cross, *et al.*, 2012), but not human adipocytes. In order to assess the effects of 4µ8C in human adipocytes on IRE1 $\alpha$  inhibition, adipocytes were treated with DMSO (control) or subjected to ER stress by treatment with 0.75 µg/mL TM for 24 hours in the presence of 4µ8C concentrations 0 – 64 µM and ER stress gene expressions measured (figure 5.2.1 A - E). In the absence of 4µ8C, TM increased XBP1s expression 13-fold higher than control. 4µ8C decreased the expression of XBP1s both without and with ER stress induction in a dose dependent way. 16 µM 4µ8C reduced ER stress induced XBP1s expression by 99 % compared to control. XBP1u decreased in the presence of 4µ8C without TM but increased in the presence of TM in a dose dependent way. In the absence of TM, IRE1 $\alpha$  expression did not change with 4µ8C up to 16 µM, above this concentration IRE1 $\alpha$  expression increased more with more inhibitor and so induced ER stress. In the presence of TM, IRE1 $\alpha$  increased consistently to 4 - 5 fold higher than without TM up to 16  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C, above this concentration IRE1 $\alpha$ expression increased to 8 fold higher than control. ATF6 expression did not change with TM or  $4\mu 8C$  up to 16  $\mu$ M, above this concentration it increased with and without TM. CHOP expression did not change without TM up to 16 µM  $4\mu 8C$ , above this concentration it increased. CHOP consistently increased 30 - 50fold in the presence of TM and up to 32 µM 4µ8C. At 64 µM 4µ8C and the presence of TM, CHOP expression increased 20 fold higher than control.

In order to assess the effect of  $4\mu$ 8C on cell viability, cytotoxicity assays were conducted on ChubS7 and primary adipocytes with  $4\mu$ 8C concentrations 0 - 32 $\mu$ M and without or with TM (figure 5.2.1 F – G). Cell viability compared to control with 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C for 24 hours was 99 % and for 48 hours was 90 % for both primary and ChubS7 adipocytes. Cell viability in the absence of 4 $\mu$ 8C and with TM for 24 hours was 80 % and 60 % for primary and ChubS7 cells respectively. As the concentration of  $4\mu 8C$  was increased cell viability decreased with dose and exposure.

The optimum concentration of  $4\mu 8C$  to use in human adipogenesis experiments was decided as 4  $\mu$ M because XBP1s mRNA expression was reduced by over 90 % whilst cell viability was over 90 % compared to control. All subsequent experiments used a concentration of 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C.

Figure 5.2.1 IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity was specifically inhibited with the small molecule inhibitor 4 $\mu$ 8C in adipocytes without effecting cell viability



A







IRE1 $\alpha$  mRNA following 24hr incubation with increasing concentrations of 4 $\mu$ 8C ± tunicamycin (TM)













D

#### F □ Primary 24 hours 100 Cell viability (% control mitochondrial dehydrogenase activity) ChubS7 24 hours Primary 80 \* 48 hours ChubS7 48 hours 60 \* \* \*\*\* 40 20 0 0 4 8 16 32 4µ8C (µM)



G



Cell viability following IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity inhibition

Figure 5.2.1 legend: IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity was specifically inhibited with the small molecule inhibitor  $4\mu 8C$  in adipocytes without effecting cell viability. Adipogenesis was induced in ChubS7 cells and on day 14 cells were incubated for 24 hours with 0.75 µg/mL TM or DMSO without TM (control) with 4µ8C concentrations  $0 - 64 \mu M$ . mRNA expression of XBP1s (A), XBP1u (B), IRE1a (C), ATF6 (D) and CHOP (E) were measured. The expressions of mRNA without and with TM are compared to 0 µM 4µ8C without and with TM respectively. Cytotoxicity assays were conducted on ChubS7 and primary lean SAT cells with treatments starting on day 0 (preadipocytes) and day 14 after induction of adipogenesis (adipocytes). No significant differences in cell viability between day 0 and day 14 were detected. Cell viability is presented as mean of day 0 and day 14. ER stress was induced for 24 or 48 hours with 0.75 µg/mL TM or control without TM in the presence of  $4\mu 8C$ , concentrations  $0 - 32 \mu M$ . Cell viability was assessed by MTT assay without TM (F) and with TM (G) and significantly lower cell viability compared to without 4µ8C are indicated. Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001.

# 5.2.2 During adipogenesis $4\mu 8C$ reduced adipogenic capacity depending on time and duration of treatment

ER stress induction and inhibition of IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity during early adipogenesis reduced adipogenic capacity (chapter 4). To determine the critical period during early adipogenesis for the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s pathway, adipogenesis was induced in primary SAT lean preadipocytes for 14 days in conjunction with DMSO (control) or 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C for different time periods during early adipogenesis. Adipogenesis was measured by lipid accumulation, lipolysis and insulin stimulated glucose uptake (figure 5.2.2 A – D). Treatment with 4 $\mu$ 8C during the initial 48 hours of adipogenesis had no significant effect on lipid accumulation, lipolysis or glucose uptake. However treatment with 4 $\mu$ 8C between 48 hours and 96 hours after induction of adipogenesis significantly reduced lipid accumulation, lipolysis and glucose uptake. All three parameters were further reduced when 4 $\mu$ 8C was administered for the initial 96 hours and furthermore during the initial 144 hours. Therefore, day 0 – 4 (96 hour) inhibition was used for all further studies.

Figure 5.2.2 During adipogenesis 4µ8C reduced adipogenic capacity depending on time and duration of treatment

A

### Lipid accumulation in differentiated adipocytes following 4µ8C treatment



 $<sup>4 \</sup>mu M 4\mu 8C$  treatment

B

### Lipid accumulation during adipogenesis following 4µ8C treatment



 $4 \ \mu M \ 4 \mu 8C$  treatment



### Lipolysis during adipogenesis following 4µ8C treatment



Days after initiation of adipogenesis



Figure 5.2.2 legend: During adipogenesis  $4\mu 8C$  reduced adipogenic capacity depending on time and duration of treatment. Adipogenesis was induced in primary SAT lean preadipocytes for 14 days without (control) and with 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C for the initial 48 hours (day 0 – 2), between 48 and 96 hours (day 2 – 4), the initial 96 hours (day 0 – 4) and the initial 144 hours (day 0 – 6). Lipid accumulation was assessed on day 8 and day 14 after induction of adipogenesis (A – B), lipolysis was measured every 48 hours (C), and glucose uptake without or with insulin stimulation was measured on day 14 (D). Data is expressed as mean ± SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001.

### 5.2.3 During adipogenesis 4µ8C inhibited XBP1s, adipogenic regulator and adiponectin mRNA expression depending on treatment duration

Inhibiting IRE1 $\alpha$  activity during early adipogenesis reduced lipid accumulation, lipolysis and glucose uptake compared to control (figure 5.2.2). To assess what effect the inhibition had on gene expression during adipogenesis, primary adipocytes were treated with 4µ8C for different times during early adipogenesis and key ER stress and adipogenic gene expressions were measured every 48 hours for 14 days (figure 5.2.3 A – G). At every time point following 4µ8C treatment XBP1s mRNA was significantly reduced (P<0.05), however XBP1u mRNA did not change compared to control. After inhibitor treatments had been withdrawn XBP1s mRNA recovered to within no significant difference from control, however XBP1u mRNA increased significantly higher (P<0.05) than control following 96 hour inhibitor treatment. Without inhibitor treatment IRE1 $\alpha$  and CHOP expression decreased after induction of adipogenesis and fluctuated at levels below that of day 0. Both IRE1 $\alpha$  and CHOP expression remained the same as control following 4µ8C treatments at every time point during adipogenesis.

In control cells CEBP $\alpha$  expression peaked at day 8 of adipogenesis at 600 fold higher than day 0 and then gradually decreased to 400 fold higher than day 0 on day 14. CEBP $\alpha$  expression was significantly reduced (P<0.05) on day 4 and day 6 following IRE1 $\alpha$  inhibition compared to control. CEBP $\alpha$  expression following IRE1 $\alpha$  inhibition then recovered to the control expression level between days 8 and 12 but on day 14 it was significantly lower (P<0.05) than control for all treatment groups. PPAR $\gamma$  expression, in control adipocytes, increased up to day 8 and then remained at the same level up to day 14. PPAR $\gamma$  was significantly lower compared to control on day 6 for adipocytes with IRE1 $\alpha$  inhibited day 0 – 2, 0 – 4 and 0 – 6. At all other time points there was no significant difference from control to any of the treatment groups. Adiponectin mRNA was undetected on day 0 in control and all the treatment groups. The control adipocytes increased adiponectin mRNA expression on day 6 to over 3,000 fold higher than day 2. It remained around this level until day 12 and then it decreased on day 14 to 2,000 fold higher than day 2. Adiponectin expression was significantly (P<0.05) lower than control on day 4 and day 6 following IRE1 $\alpha$  inhibition. Adiponectin expression remained significantly lower (P<0.05) than control 2 days after IRE1 $\alpha$  inhibition had been withdrawn for day 0 – 4 and day 0 – 6 treatments. Adiponectin expression then recovered to control levels before decreasing to significantly below (P<0.05) control on day 12 and 14 in cell treated with 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C on days 2 – 4, 0 – 4 and 0 – 6.



XBP1s mRNA during adipogenesis following 4µ8C

treatment

A

3 4 μM 4μ8C mRNA (fold relative to day 0) 2 Control Day 0 - 2 Day 2 - 4 Day 0 - 4 Day 0 - 6 1 0 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

regulator mRNA expression depending on treatment duration

Days after inititation of adipogenesis



XBP1u mRNA during adipogenesis following 4µ8C

Days after inititation of adipogenesis



Days after initiation of adipogenesis



D





Days after inititation of adipogenesis







Figure 5.2.3 legend: During adipogenesis  $4\mu 8C$  inhibited XBP1s and adipogenic regulator mRNA expression depending on treatment duration. Adipogenesis was induced in primary SAT lean preadipocytes for 14 days with DMSO (control) or 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C for the initial 48 hours (day 0 – 2), between 48 and 96 hours (day 2 – 4), the initial 96 hours (day 0 – 4) and the initial 144 hours (day 0 – 6). mRNA expression was measured every 48 hours for XBP1s (A), XBP1u (B), IRE1 $\alpha$  (C), CHOP (D), CEBP $\alpha$  (E), PPAR $\gamma$  (F), Adiponectin (G). Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05.

## 5.2.4 During adipogenesis 4µ8C consistently reduced adipogenic capacity and function in adipocytes

Inhibiting IRE1 $\alpha$  with 4µ8C for 96 hours (day 0 – 4) after induction of adipogenesis resulted in the most profound reduction in adipogenic capacity compared to other treatment durations (figures 5.2.2 – 5.2.3). Therefore this duration of inhibition was used in subsequent studies. To confirm the preliminary outcomes of 4µ8C treatment during day 0 – 4 of adipogenesis in preadipocytes from one lean metabolically healthy subject, the treatments were repeated in SAT preadipocytes from three metabolically healthy lean subjects, each in triplicate. The preadipocytes were subjected to adipogenesis in DMSO (control) and 4 µM 4µ8C treated conditions during day 0 – 4 of adipogenesis and then lipid accumulation, lipolysis and glucose uptake were measured (figure 5.2.4 A – C). Day 14 lipid accumulation, lipolysis and insulin stimulated glucose uptake were all significantly reduced (P<0.001) following 4µ8C treatment compared to control.

Figure 5.2.4 During adipogenesis 4µ8C consistently reduced adipogenic



capacity and function in adipocytes



4 µM 4µ8C Day 0 - 4



Control

0.6





Figure 5.2.4 legend: During adipogenesis  $4\mu 8C$  consistently reduced adipogenic capacity and function in adipocytes. Adipogenesis was induced in primary SAT lean preadipocytes (n=3, each in triplicate) for 14 days with DMSO (control) or 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C for the initial 96 hours (day 0 – 4). Lipid accumulation was assessed on day 14 after induction of adipogenesis (A), lipolysis was measured during adipogenesis (B), and basal and insulin stimulated glucose uptake was measured on day 14 (C). Data is expressed as mean ± SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001.

### 5.2.5 During adipogenesis 4µ8C inhibited XBP1s and adipogenic regulator mRNA expression

Adipogenic capacity was significantly reduced in primary human adipocytes following 4µ8C treatment (figure 5.2.4). To assess the effects of 4µ8C on ER stress and adipogenic gene expression during adipogenesis, 4 µM 4µ8C was administered for the initial 96 hours of adipogenesis and ER stress and adipogenic regulator gene expressions were measured for 14 days (figure 5.2.6 A - G). The initial six days of adipogenesis were considered vital for adipogenic capacity outcome because in control cells, adipocyte marker adiponectin gene expression peaked on day 6 (figure 5.2.3 G). Therefore gene expression was measured every 48 hours between day 0 and day 6 and every 96 hours between day 10 and day 14. XBP1s expression in control adipocytes reduced to 0.2 fold compared to day 0 on day 2 before gradually increasing to 1.5 fold higher than day 0 on day 14. Following 4µ8C, XBP1s mRNA expression was significantly lower (P<0.01 – P<0.001) than control on day 2 and day 4. The inhibitor was removed on day 4, and on day 6 the expression of XBP1s remained significantly below (P<0.05) control. The expression of XBP1s matched that of control on day 10 and day 14. XBP1u expression in control and IRE1a inhibited adipocytes decreased to 0.4 fold compared to day 0 on day 2 and then gradually increased to 1.1 fold compared to day 0 on day 14. IRE1a and CHOP expression in both control and IRE1 $\alpha$  inhibited adipocytes decreased on day 2 and then fluctuated below the day 0 level for the duration of adipogenesis. There were no significant differences in XBP1u, IRE1a, or CHOP mRNA expression between control and IRE1a inhibited adipocytes for the duration of adipogenesis.

CEBP $\alpha$  expression in control adipocytes increased and peaked on day 6 – 10 after induction of adipogenesis, however the fold increase compared to day 0 varied between subjects and only the median control is shown. In all the subjects, IRE1 $\alpha$ inhibition reduced CEBP $\alpha$  expression by approximately 50 % (P<0.001) from day 4 to 14 of adipogenesis compared to control. PPAR $\gamma$  expression gradually increased for the duration of adipogenesis in control cells, peaking on day 14 at 5 fold higher than day 0. In 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C treated adipocytes, PPAR $\gamma$  expression increased after initiation of adipogenesis but was significantly lower (P<0.05) than control from day 4 to day 14. Adiponectin was not detected on day 0 in any of the adipocytes. In control adipocytes, adiponectin increased considerably after day 2, and similarly to CEBP $\alpha$ , the extent of fold increase compared to day 0 varied between subjects. Following 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C treatment, adiponectin expression was reduced compared to control for the duration of adipogenesis.









XBP1s mRNA during adipogenesis with



Days after initiation of adipogenesis



Days after initiation of adipogenesis



Figure 5.2.5 legend: During adipogenesis  $4\mu 8C$  inhibited XBP1s and adipogenic regulator mRNA expression. Adipogenesis was induced in primary SAT lean preadipocytes (n=9) for 14 days with DMSO (control) or with 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C for the initial 96 hours (day 0 – 4). mRNA was measured during adipogenesis for XBP1s (A), XBP1u (B), IRE1 $\alpha$  (C), and CHOP (D). Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001.
# 5.2.6 4µ8C reduced insulin stimulated glucose uptake and inhibited Akt phosphorylation

XBP1s mRNA correlated with plasma glucose in subjects after bariatric surgery (figure 3.2.3) and glucose uptake was affected after 4µ8C treatment during early adipogenesis (5.2.4 C), suggesting a possible link between the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s pathway and glucose uptake. To investigate the role of IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s during glucose uptake, 4µM 4µ8C was added during the final 24 or 96 hours of adipogenesis up to day 14 and on day 14 insulin stimulated glucose uptake, p-Akt and glut4 proteins, and XBP1s, XBP1u and GLUT4 mRNA expression were measured (figure 5.2.6 A - D). Day 14 insulin stimulated glucose uptake was significantly reduced (P<0.001) following IRE1 $\alpha$  inhibition for 24 and 96 hours. p-Akt protein normalised with total Akt was highly expressed in control adipocytes and significantly reduced (P<0.001) following 4µ8C treatment compared to control. There was no difference in glut4 protein expression between control and IRE1a inhibited adipocytes. XBP1s mRNA was significantly reduced (P<0.01) and XBP1u mRNA was significantly increased (P<0.05) following 4µ8C treatment compared to control. There was no difference in GLUT4 mRNA following 24 hours with  $4\mu 8C$  but there was a significant reduction (P<0.05) following 96 hours with 4µ8C compared to control.



phosphorylation

B







Duration of treatment prior to insulin stimulation



Duration of treatment prior to insulin stimulation



182

Figure 5.2.6 legend:  $4\mu$ 8C reduced insulin stimulated glucose uptake and inhibited Akt phosphorylation. Adipogenesis was induced for 14 days in ChubS7 cells and treated for the final 24 hours with DMSO (control 24 hours) or 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C, or treated for the final 96 hours with DMSO (control 96 hours) or 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C. On day 14 after induction of adipogenesis, insulin stimulated glucose uptake (A), p-Akt (B) and glut4 (C) protein expression, and XBP1s, XBP1u, and GLUT4 (D) mRNA expression were measured. Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001.

## 5.2.7 XBP1 siRNA transfection during early adipogenesis reduced adipocyte function

To validate the findings using 4µ8C to downregulate XBP1s (figure 5.2.4), XBP1 siRNA treatment was performed. XBP1 siRNA treatment was optimised and administered during day 0 - 4 of adipogenesis. To ensure successful XBP1 knockdown with XBP1 siRNA, XBP1s and XBP1u mRNA were measured on day 4. Glucose uptake was measured on day 14 following induction of adipogenesis and siRNA transfection (figure 5.2.7 A – C). During optimisation both XBP1s and XBP1u mRNA were significantly reduced (P<0.05) following XBP1 siRNA compared to non-targeting siRNA treatment in a dose dependent way. The higher concentration of transfection reagent (1 % DharmaFECT Duo) reduced the XBP1 mRNAs more than the lower concentration (0.5 % DharmaFECT Duo). 25 nmol XBP1 siRNA with DharmaFECT Duo 0.5 % was selected to inhibit XBP1 during adipogenesis because it significantly reduced XBP1s and XBP1u mRNA whilst

having the fewest cytotoxic effects, since it was the lowest concentration of siRNA and transfection reagent. On day 4 following XBP1 siRNA transfection XBP1s and XBP1u mRNA were significantly reduced (P<0.01) compared to non-targeting siRNA transfection. On day 14 following induction of adipogenesis, insulin stimulated glucose uptake was significantly reduced (P<0.01) following XBP1 siRNA compared to non-targeting siRNA transfection.

Figure 5.2.7 XBP1 siRNA transfection during early adipogenesis reduced

adipocyte function





B



175

siRNA treatment on day 0 and day 2

Figure 5.2.7 legend: XBP1 siRNA transfection during early adipogenesis reduced adipocyte function. Optimal XBP1 siRNA conditions were established in ChubS7 adipocytes (A) (25 nm, 50 nm, 100 nm; 25 nmol, 50 nmol, 100 nmol, NT; non-targeting siRNA, XBP1; XBP1 siRNA). Adipogenesis was induced in ChubS7 adipocytes and transfection was carried out with 50 nmol non-targeting (NT) or 25 nmol XBP1 siRNA treatment at induction (day 0) and at 48 hours after induction (day 2). XBP1s and XBP1u mRNA expression was measured at 96 hours following adipogenesis induction (day 4) (B). Adipogenic capacity was assed by functional glucose uptake under basal and insulin stimulated conditions on day 14 after induction of adipogenesis (C). Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\*

#### **5.3 Discussion**

This study was designed to investigate the role of XBP1s in human adipogenesis. Inhibition of XBP1s was optimised in human adipocytes with small molecule inhibitor 4µ8C and then the effects of inhibiting XBP1s during adipogenesis were assessed before investigating the molecular mechanisms and validating the findings with XBP1 siRNA. Adipogenesis is an important process to maintain WAT metabolic function. The study in chapter 4 found that the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s pathway is indispensible for successful human adipogenesis, however the role of XBP1s in human adipogenesis is not known. Recently Cho *et al.* have shown in mouse 3T3-L1 cells that XBP1s is a key regulator of adipogenic modulator PPAR $\gamma$  (Cho, *et al.*, 2014). The results of this study show that XBP1s plays a key role in early human adipogenesis independently of other UPR pathways and may mediate its effects through PPAR $\gamma$  and CEBP $\alpha$ . Furthermore, XBP1s is essential for insulin stimulated Akt phosphorylation mediated glucose uptake. Therefore XBP1s is necessary for adipogenesis and transmitting insulin action and thus plays a key role in glucose uptake, metabolic health, insulin resistance and T2DM.

The small molecule inhibitor  $4\mu$ 8C has been used to inhibit IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity without effecting cell viability (Cross, *et al.*, 2012; Qiu, *et al.*, 2013; Zhang, *et al.*, 2014a). However previous reports have investigated 4 $\mu$ 8C in MEF cells (Cross, *et al.*, 2012), macrophages from the synovial fluid of rheumatoid arthritis patients (Qiu, *et al.*, 2013) and mouse pancreatic beta-cells (Zhang, *et al.*, 2014a) but not human adipocytes. Therefore appropriate pharmacological studies were conducted to ascertain a suitable dose to use in human adipocytes that inhibited XBP1s expression without inducing cytotoxic effects. This study found that  $4\mu 8C$  specifically inhibits IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity in adipocytes; it reduced the expression of XBP1s in the presence of TM without affecting the expression of IRE1 $\alpha$ , ATF6 or CHOP in agreement with Cross *et al.* (Cross, *et* al., 2012). In the absence of TM, 4µ8C reduced the expression of XBP1u, however in the presence of TM, 4µ8C increased the expression of XBP1u perhaps as a compensatory mechanism of the adipocytes to increase the substrate of IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity in an attempt to restore expression of XBP1s. This study found that human adipocytes treated with 4 µM 4µ8C maintained 100 % cell viability when treated for 24 hours and over 90 % cell viability when treated for 48 hours. As the concentration of inhibitor increased, adipocyte cell viability decreased in contrast to studies in MEF cells (Cross, et al., 2012), however the MEF cells were only exposed to  $4\mu 8C$  for 6 hours and therefore any cytotoxic effects may not have had time to take effect. The optimum concentration of 4µ8C for human adipocytes was decided as 4 µM because this concentration reduced TM induced XBP1s expression by 90 % and maintained 90 % cell viability after 48 hours of treatment. Therefore 4 µM 4µ8C was used for all subsequent studies.

This investigation found that the time and duration of XBP1s inhibition during adipogenesis affected adipogenic capacity in primary human adipocytes. Inhibiting XBP1s did not alter other UPR factors during adipogenesis and therefore its effects are likely to be mediated independently of UPR activation and via alternative mechanisms. This study shows that during adipogenesis in control cells, XBP1s significantly decreased initially until day 2 and then gradually increased to above the day 0 expression. This overall pattern of XBP1s expression during adipogenesis is the same as Cho *et al.* reported in 3T3-L1 cells (Cho, *et al.*,

2013). However, Cho et al. suggested that an increase in XBP1s expression during the initial onset of adipogenesis plays a role in successful adipogenesis (Cho, et al., 2013). This study disagrees with their hypothesis because inhibiting XBP1s during the initial 48 hours of adipogenesis had no effect on adipogenesis or adipocyte function as assessed by CEBPa, PPARy and adiponectin mRNA expression, lipid accumulation, lipolysis, or adipocyte glucose uptake. This study found that inhibiting XBP1s during day 2 - 4 of adipogenesis significantly reduced CEBP $\alpha$  and adiponectin expression on day 4 and 6, reduced PPAR $\gamma$  on day 6 and significantly reduced lipid accumulation compared to control. Administering 4µ8C for the initial 4 days of adipogenesis resulted in significantly lower CEBP $\alpha$  expression on days 4 and 6, reduced PPAR $\gamma$  on day 6 and reduced adipogenic capacity, measured by lipid accumulation, lipolysis and glucose uptake. There was no additional impact on adipogenesis when XBP1s was inhibited for the initial 6 days of adipogenesis. Therefore collectively these results suggest that XBP1s exerts its effects during the early but not immediate early stages of adipogenesis. In context of existing literature, this suggests XBP1s acts downstream of the early activated CEBPB (Guo, et al., 2015) and may interact directly with CEBP $\alpha$  or PPAR $\gamma$ .

A link between UPR signalling and metabolism has been suggested (Hotamisligil, 2010; Lee and Ozcan, 2014). This study showed that XBP1s plays a key role during early adipogenesis in primary human adipogenesis and affects primary human adipocyte metabolism. Having found that inhibiting IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease activity and subsequent depletion of XBP1s during early adipogenesis reduced primary human adipogenic capacity, it was validated further with primary human

preadipocytes from three lean metabolically healthy subjects, each with experiments repeated in triplicate. This study showed that inhibiting IRE1 $\alpha$  with 4  $\mu$ M 4 $\mu$ 8C during the initial 4 days of adipogenesis consistently and significantly reduced lipid uptake, lipolysis and insulin stimulated glucose uptake in primary human adipocytes. Therefore concurring with the hypothesis of a link between ER stress and insulin resistance (Flamment, *et al.*, 2012).

This investigation showed that XBP1s exerts its effects on adipogenesis independently of other UPR signalling factors and it may regulate CEBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  expression. These findings are the first of their kind in human adipocytes and support the mouse cell line work of Cho *et al.* that suggest XBP1s may regulate PPAR $\gamma$  in adipogenesis (Cho, *et al.*, 2014). Blocking XBP1s expression had no significant effect compared to control on CHOP expression, which has been shown to inhibit adipogenesis (Hou, *et al.*, 2013). All three lean metabolically healthy subjects had varying degrees of CEBP $\alpha$  activation during adipogenesis, however inhibition of XBP1s resulted in consistent downregulation of CEBP $\alpha$  compared to control. Despite the variation in CEBP $\alpha$  expression during adipogenesis between the preadipocytes, PPAR $\gamma$  expression was consistent. Nonetheless, when XBP1s was inhibited PPAR $\gamma$  was downregulated compared to control. Thus, XBP1s likely acts upstream of CEBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  in the sequential transcriptional processes involved in adipogenesis.

XBP1s has been shown to promote adiponectin multimerisation and improve glucose regulation in mice (Sha, *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, WAT XBP1s and plasma glucose were both reduced after bariatric surgery in humans (chapter 3).

190

This study provides novel evidence that XBP1s is necessary for insulin stimulated glucose uptake in a controlled human adipocyte cell culture system. Insulin stimulated glucose uptake on day 14 of adipogenesis was blocked in human adipocytes when treated with 4µ8C for the final 24 and 96 hours of adipogenesis. To investigate the molecular mechanisms linking XBP1s and glucose uptake, key proteins and mRNA expressions were measured. GLUT4 mRNA expression was not affected by 24 hour XBP1s inhibition but was significantly reduced following 96 hours of inhibition compared to control, although this was not reflected at the protein level. In control adipocytes, 30 minutes following insulin addition, p-Akt was highly expressed whereas it was almost completely blocked in 4µ8C treated adipocytes irrespective of inhibitor treatment duration. This suggests that XBP1s is necessary for transmitting the acute action of insulin and therefore plays a key role in metabolism. Therefore this study provides a novel mechanism that links the UPR to metabolism and supports the hypothesis of UPR integration with metabolism (Lee and Ozcan, 2014). The findings using 4µ8C to inhibit XBP1s were supported by XBP1 siRNA transfection. XBP1s siRNA transfection during early adipogenesis in human preadipocyte cell line ChubS7 significantly reduced day 14 insulin stimulated glucose uptake compared to non-targeting siRNA transfection. A summary of findings from this study and proposed roles of UPR signalling in adipocyte metabolism are shown in figure 5.3.1.

Figure 5.3.1 Proposed roles of unfolded protein response molecular signalling



in adipocyte metabolism

Figure 5.3.1 legend: Proposed roles of unfolded protein response molecular signalling in adipocyte metabolism. The results from this study indicate that the unfolded protein response (UPR) plays an integrated role in adipocyte metabolism. UPR may be directly activated by glycaemic status and it influences short-term glucose uptake via Akt phosphorylation and long-term adipogenesis via balancing inhibiting and activating adipogenic factors. (ER; endoplasmic reticulum, Bip; binding immunoglobulin protein – also known as GRP78; glucose regulated protein 78 kDa, PERK; protein kinase RNA-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase, p; phosphorylated, eIF2 $\alpha$ ; eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 A, ATF4; activating transcription factor 4, CHOP; C/EBP homologous protein, IRE1 $\alpha$ ; inositol requiring enzyme 1 alpha, XBP1u; X-box binding protein 1

unspliced, XBP1s; X-box binding protein 1 spliced, GRPs; glucose regulated proteins, AKT; Akt, also known as protein kinase B (PKB), PPAR $\gamma$ ; peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma, CEBP $\alpha$ ; CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein alpha, GLUT4; Glucose transporter type 4).

#### **5.4 Conclusions**

In summary, this study has shown that XBP1s plays a vital role upstream of CEBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  in human adipogenesis and that it is necessary for mediating the action of insulin. These findings are the first of their kind in human adipocytes and support the mouse cell line work of Cho *et al.* that suggest XBP1s may regulate PPAR $\gamma$  in adipogenesis (Cho, *et al.*, 2014). XBP1s has been shown to promote adiponectin multimerisation and improve glucose regulation in mice (Sha, *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, WAT XBP1s and plasma glucose improved after bariatric surgery in humans (chapter 3). This study provides novel evidence that XBP1s is necessary for insulin stimulated glucose uptake in a controlled human adipocyte cell culture system. Taken together, these results support the link between UPR signalling and metabolism (Hotamisligil, 2010; Lee and Ozcan, 2014). Although further research is required, these findings have provided useful insight into the role of XBP1s in adipogenesis and metabolism and will benefit the development of clinical interventions to alleviate metabolic diseases.

### Chapter 6: Wnt10b in human

adipogenesis

#### **6.1 Introduction**

Adipogenesis is an important process to maintain WAT metabolic function. WAT can dynamically change in size during adult life to accommodate the energy requirements of the body (Poulos, et al., 2010). Obesity complications in humans such as T2DM can result from the inability of SAT to appropriately expand and store lipids (Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010). Impaired WAT expandability is mainly due to defects in adipogenesis (Isakson, et al., 2009). Further understanding of adipogenesis may present targets to improve metabolic regulation. The IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1s UPR pathway is essential for adipogenesis in mouse cells (Sha, et al., 2009) and in human cells (chapters 4 and 5). XBP1s plays an important role during early human adipogenesis and may regulate CEBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  (chapter 5). It has been hypothesised that reciprocal repression might exist during adipogenesis between Wnt signalling and CEBPa or PPARy because activation of these factors can lead to a substantial reduction in Wnt downstream signalling βcatenin levels (Moldes, et al., 2003). More recently it has been suggested that Wnt normally inhibits CEBPa as a negative feedback loop to reduce adipogenesis (Christodoulides, et al., 2009). Cho et al. have shown in mouse 3T3-L1 cells that XBP1s enhances adipogenesis through the downregulation of Wnt10b (Cho, et al., 2013). Therefore there may be a link between XBP1s and Wnt10b in human adipogenesis, however it has not been studied.

Wnt proteins comprise a family of highly conserved secreted proteins that exert autocrine and paracrine actions via binding to cell-surface receptors (Herr, *et al.*, 2012). Wnt ligands bind to the frizzled (FZD) and low-density-lipoprotein-related protein 5/6 (LRP5/6) coreceptor complex to activate the canonical Wnt signalling

196

pathway. The activated receptor complex disrupts or functionally inactivates a  $\beta$ catenin destruction complex. The destruction complex consists of the scaffold protein Axin, adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) and casein kinase-1 (CKI). When Wnt is not bound to its surface receptors, the destruction complex is active and regulates the phosphorylation, ubiquitination and subsequent degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin. When Wnt is bound to its surface receptors, the destruction complex is inhibited,  $\beta$ -catenin accumulates in the cytoplasm and translocates to the nucleus where is engages the TCF/LEF transcription factors to activate the Wnt transcriptional program (figure 1.5.3) (Li, et al., 2012). Several TCF/LEF targets are linked to cell differentiation. For example TCF7 has been shown to regulate a self-renewal/differentiation switch that operates in the absence of Wnt signalling (Wu, et al., 2012). Negative feedback regulation of the Wnt pathway is mediated through conductin, encoded by the AXIN2 gene and also known as axin2 (Bernkopf, et al., 2015). Wnt10b has been extensively studied in an adipogenesis context (Rosen and MacDougald, 2006). Wnt10b has been shown to impair WAT and BAT formation in vivo when overexpressed specifically in mouse adipocytes (Longo, et al., 2004). Furthermore, increasing Wnt10b levels in WAT leads to decreased susceptibility to obesity in both diet-induced (Longo, et al., 2004) and genetic mouse models (Wright, et al., 2007). Wnt10b also seems to play a key inhibitory role in human adipogenesis. Naturally occurring mutations in the WNT10B gene such as C256Y are associated with early-onset obesity (Christodoulides, et al., 2006). Furthermore, Wnt10b has been shown to impair human preadipocyte differentiation (Isakson, et al., 2009) and abnormal expression of genes involved in Wnt signalling have been recorded in the adipose tissue of PCOS patients (Chazenbalk, *et al.*, 2012).

Characterisation of adipogenesis regulatory processes have benefited from the discovery of key pathways and transcription factors that contribute to the adipogenic process, as reviewed by Lefterova and Lazar (Lefterova and Lazar, 2009). The transcription factors PPAR $\gamma$  and CEBPs are the crucial determinants of adipocyte fate. There are several inhibitors of adipogenesis including CHOP, upregulated in ER stress (Hou, *et al.*, 2013), and certain TCF/LEF proteins, activated by Wnt signalling (Farmer, 2006). Therefore a network of transcription factors and corepressors, respond to extracellular stimuli to activate or repress adipogenesis. Understanding how Wnt10b and XBP1s fit together in the complex system of adipogenesis regulation may provide pharmacological targets and therefore have clinical benefit.

Therefore the aim of this study was to investigate the role of Wnt10b in human adipogenesis and whether it is linked to XBP1s. In order to investigate the role of Wnt10b in human adipogenesis, anthropometry and a SAT biopsy were collected from a female subject with a naturally occurring WNT10B C256Y mutation rendering a non-functional Wnt10b protein, characterised by Christodoulides *et al.* (Christodoulides, *et al.*, 2006). Preadipocytes were extracted from the WNT10B C256Y SAT biopsy, cultured and adipogenesis induced and compared with preadipocytes derived from SAT of lean metabolically healthy subjects. Adipogenesis and adipocyte function were assessed by lipid accumulation, lipolysis and glucose uptake. Expression of key adipogenic, ER stress and Wnt signalling proteins and mRNAs were measured during adipogenesis.

#### **6.2 Results**

#### 6.2.1 Body composition and metabolic profile of a WNT10B C256Y subject

The systemic effects of non-functional Wnt10b on body composition and metabolic profile were studied. Anthropometric measurements were collected for a subject with a WNT10B C256Y mutation (table 6.2.1). The female subject was 19 years old and had a BMI of 62 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Her body weight (143.2 kg) and fat mass (59.8 % body weight) were greater than any of the obese T2DM subjects described in chapter 3 (table 3.2.1). However, unlike the subjects who underwent bariatric surgery, the WNT10B C256Y subject was not diabetic and had normal glucose control. Her HbA1c (40 mmol/mol) and fasting plasma glucose (4.2 mmol/L) were in the reference range for subjects with controlled blood glucose concentrations. She had a more favorable lipid profile than the obese T2DM subjects prior to their bariatric surgery. Her total cholesterol (4.5 mmol/L), LDL (2.5 mmol/L) and TAG (1.2 mmol/L) were lower, and her HDL (1.3 mmol/L) was higher than the obese T2DM subjects prior to bariatric surgery.

 Table
 6.2.1
 Body composition and metabolic profile of a WNT10B C256Y

subject

Gender	Female
Age (Years)	19
Body Weight (kg)	143.2
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	62
Fat Mass (kg)	57.6
Fat Free Mass (kg)	85.6
Fat Mass (% Body Weight)	59.8
Fat Free Mass (% Body Weight)	40.2
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	40
Plasma Glucose (mmol/L)	4.2
Total Cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.5
LDL Cholesterol (mmol/L)	2.5
HDL Cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.3
Triglyceride (TAG) (mmol/L)	1.2
HDL/LDL (ratio)	0.52

Table 6.2.1 legend: Body composition and metabolic profile of a WNT10B C256Y subject. Anthropometric measurements were taken for a WNT10B C256Y subject.

#### 6.2.2 Functional Wnt10b was not required for adipogenesis

To assess the role of Wnt during adipogenesis, adipogenesis was induced in Abd SAT WNT10B C256Y and lean and obese preadipocytes for 14 days. Lipid accumulation and lipolysis were measured during adipogenesis and basal and insulin stimulated glucose uptake were measured on day 14 (figure 6.2.2 A – D). During adipogenesis the WNT10B C256Y adipocytes accumulated more lipid than lean or obese SAT adipocytes. They underwent the same level of lipolysis as lean while the obese control Abd SAT adipocytes underwent significantly higher

lipolysis than lean. On day 14 after induction of adipogenesis, the adipocytes had significantly higher (P<0.01) insulin stimulated glucose uptake compared to basal.



A Lipid accumulation during WNT10B C256Y adipogenesis





Days after initiation of adipogenesis

Adipocyte lipolysis during adipogenesis



Day after initiation of adipogenesis



Figure 6.2.2 legend: Functional Wnt10b was not required for adipogenesis. Adipogenesis was induced in Abd SAT WNT10B C256Y and lean and obese control preadipocytes for 14 days. Lipid accumulation (A - B), and lipolysis were measured every 48 hours (C), and basal and insulin stimulated glucose uptake were measured on day 14 (D). Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001.

### 6.2.3 XBP1s mRNA expression was reduced during adipogenesis in SAT WNT10B C256Y adipocytes compared to lean

To assess UPR in non-functional Wnt adipogenesis, adipogenesis was induced in SAT lean (control) and SAT WNT10B C256Y adipocytes for 14 days and key UPR gene expressions were measured (figure 6.2.3 A - D). XBP1s mRNA decreased on day 2 after induction of adipogenesis in control and WNT10B C256Y adipocytes. After day 2 XBP1s expression increased in the control cells to 1.5 fold higher than day 0 on day 14. XBP1s mRNA also increased after day 2 in the WNT10B C256Y adipocytes, however it was significantly lower (P<0.05 – P < 0.01) than control cells for the remaining days of adipogenesis and on day 14 it was less than half compared to day 0. XBP1u expression was similar to XBP1s and at every time point after day 0 the WNT10B C256Y subject had lower XBP1u expression compared to control, although this only reached significance (P<0.05) on day 6. IRE1a and CHOP expression decreased after day 0 and remained below the day 0 level for the duration of adipogenesis in both control and WNT10B C256Y adipocytes. At almost every time point for IRE1a and CHOP, WNT10B C256Y adipocytes had lower expression levels compared to control, although they only reached significance (P<0.05) for IRE1 $\alpha$  on day 6.









#### XBP1u mRNA during adipogenesis





Days after initiation of adipogenesis



С

Figure 6.2.3 legend: XBP1s mRNA expression was reduced during adipogenesis in WNT10B C256Y adipocytes compared to lean. Adipogenesis was induced in lean (control) and WNT10B C256Y adipocytes for 14 days. mRNA expression was measured during adipogenesis for XBP1s (A), XBP1u (B), IRE1 $\alpha$  (C) and CHOP (D). Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01.

# 6.2.4 Adipogenesis regulator CEBPα gene expression was altered during adipogenesis in SAT WNT10B C256Y adipocytes compared to lean

To assess adipogenesis regulation and adipocyte gene expression in nonfunctional Wnt adipogenesis, adipogenesis was induced in SAT lean (control) and SAT WNT10B C256Y adipocytes for 14 days and adipogenesis regulator and adipocyte gene expressions were measured (figure 6.2.4 A – C). In WNT10B C256Y adipocytes, CEBP $\alpha$  expression increased gradually throughout adipogenesis unlike control adipocytes where CEBP $\alpha$  expression peaked on day 6 – 10 of adipogenesis (figure 5.2.7 A – C). PPAR $\gamma$  expression increased during adipogenesis in both control and WNT10B C256Y adipogenesis. However the WNT10B C256Y adipocytes had lower PPAR $\gamma$  expression at every time point during adipogenesis, although this only reached significance (P<0.05) on day 6. Adiponectin was not detected on day 0 in the WNT10B C256Y or control adipocytes. After day 2 the adiponectin expression profile in WNT10B C256Y adipocytes was significantly lower than the median control adipocytes.

Adipogenesis regulator CEBPa gene expression continued to Figure 6.2.4 increase during adipogenesis in WNT10B C256Y adipocytes unlike lean



CEBPa mRNA during adipogenesis



Days after initiation of adipogenesis



### 6.2.5 Wnt signalling was altered during adipogenesis in SAT WNT10B C256Y adipocytes compared to lean

To assess Wnt signalling in adipogenesis, adipogenesis was induced in lean (control) and WNT10B C256Y adipocytes for 14 days. During adipogenesis expression of phosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin and unphosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin and mRNA expression of WNT10B, TCF7, and AXIN2 were measured (figure 6.2.5 A – D). In control adipocytes p- $\beta$ -catenin expression relative to  $\beta$ -catenin increased by 10 % during adipogenesis and peaked on day 10. However in WNT10B C256Y adipocytes p-\beta-catenin expression relative to β-catenin increased by 50 % and peaked on day 4. The p- $\beta$ -catenin expression relative to  $\beta$ catenin was significantly higher (P<0.05) in WNT10B C256Y adipocytes on day 4 and day 6 compared to control. In control cells WNT10B and TCF7 mRNA expression decreased on day 2 after induction of adipogenesis and continued to decrease through adipogenesis. In WNT10B C256Y adipocytes WNT10B mRNA expression remained the same as day 0 on day 2, significantly higher (P<0.05) than control, before decreasing to within no significant difference from control adipocytes. In WNT10B C256Y adipocytes, TCF7 mRNA expression was significantly lower (P<0.05) than control on days 2 - 6. In control adipocytes AXIN2 mRNA expression increased after induction of adipogenesis and remained 3 fold higher than day 0 for the duration of adipogenesis. In contrast, the expression of AXIN2 in the WNT10B C256Y adipocytes remained at the same level as day 0 until increasing on day 14. At every time point during adipogenesis the WNT10B C256Y adipocytes had significantly lower (P < 0.05 - P < 0.01) AXIN2 expression compared to the control adipocytes.









Figure 6.2.5: Wnt signalling protein and gene expression significantly differed during adipogenesis in WNT10B C256Y adipocytes compared to lean. Adipogenesis was induced in lean (control) and WNT10B C256Y adipocytes for 14 days. During adipogenesis protein expression of phosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin and unphosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin (A), and mRNA expression of WNT10B (B), TCF7 (C), and AXIN2 (D) were measured. Data is expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE. Significantly different values are indicated as follows: \* P<0.05, \*\* P<0.01.

#### 6.3 Discussion

This study was designed to investigate the role of Wnt10b in human adipogenesis and whether it is linked to XBP1s. Preadipocytes were extracted from abdominal SAT of a naturally occurring genetically defective WNT10B subject and from lean metabolically healthy subjects (control). These were then cultured and adipogenesis induced. Adipogenic capacity, adipocyte function and key adipogenic, Wnt signalling and ER stress gene and protein expressions were compared. Adipogenesis is an important process to maintain WAT metabolic function. Studies have implicated Wnt10b as a key inhibitor in human adipogenesis (Christodoulides, *et al.*, 2006), (Isakson, *et al.*, 2009), (Chazenbalk, *et al.*, 2012) and recently Cho *et al.* have shown in mouse 3T3-L1 cells that XBP1s enhances adipogenesis through the downregulation of Wnt10b (Cho, *et al.*, 2013). This study showed that functional Wnt10b was not required for adipogenesis, XBP1s expression was significantly lower and Wnt cellular signalling was altered in non-functional Wnt10b adipogenesis compared to control.

Christodoulides *et al.* reported that non-functional Wnt10b is associated with early-onset obesity (Christodoulides, *et al.*, 2006). This study supports their findings. Interestingly, despite the subject's substantial obesity, they had and a healthy metabolic profile (table 6.2.1) and therefore were considered metabolically healthy but obese (MHO) (Seo and Rhee, 2014). The female subject was 19 years old and had a BMI of 62 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. She had normal glycaemic control, measured both by HbA1c (40 mmol/mol) and fasting plasma glucose (4.2 mmol/L). She had a more favourable lipid profile than the subjects investigated in

214

chapter 3 (table 3.2.1). Her total cholesterol (4.5 mmol/L), LDL (2.5 mmol/L) and TAG (1.2 mmol/L) were lower, and her HDL (1.3 mmol/L) was higher than the obese T2DM subjects prior to bariatric surgery. Collectively these results suggest that the expanded WAT in the WNT10B C256Y subject is regulated and metabolically healthy. The expanded WAT may protect the subject from metabolic dysfunction in a similar way to *ob/ob* mice, when forced WAT expansion normalized glucose and insulin levels and prevented insulin resistance despite massive obesity (Kim, *et al.*, 2007). The defective Wnt10b protein was thought to play a role in the vast WAT expansion because of its reported inhibitory role in human adipogenesis (Isakson, *et al.*, 2009). Therefore a SAT biopsy was collected from the subject, preadipocytes were extracted and adipogenesis was studied in more detail.

During adipogenesis WNT10B C256Y preadipocytes accumulated lipid, increased lipolysis and adipocytes had significantly higher insulin stimulated glucose uptake compared to basal. Therefore the cells successfully underwent adipogenesis, functional Wnt10b was not required for adipogenesis and non-functional Wnt10b adipocytes were sensitive to insulin. During adipogenesis the SAT derived defective Wnt10b preadipocytes accumulated more lipids and underwent less lipolysis than preadipocytes derived from obese SAT and more closely resembled preadipocytes derived from lean SAT studied in chapter 4 (figure 4.2.1 D - E). Taken together, these results suggest that the Wnt10b defective adipocytes can accumulate and retain lipids better than functional Wnt10b obese adipocytes. This may in part explain why the WNT10B C256Y subject had a healthy lipid profile. The favorable lipid regulation in the adipocytes
of the defective Wnt10b MHO subject exemplifies the findings of Karpe *et al.* who convincingly discredited the hypothesis that adiposity correlates with plasma NEFA (Karpe, *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, these results suggest that plasma NEFA may correlate with adipocyte and WAT metabolic function, irrespective of adiposity. The defective Wnt10b adipocytes significantly increased insulin stimulated glucose uptake compared to basal, and therefore were sensitive to insulin. This suggests the defective Wnt10b adipocytes are able to respond to the anabolic hormone insulin and may explain why the subject had a healthy carbohydrate profile. Taken together, these findings indicate that the WNT10B C256Y subject has metabolically regulated and functional adipocytes and may explain their MHO phenotype.

This investigation showed that WNT10B C256Y adipocytes had significantly lower XBP1s expression during adipogenesis compared to control. This downregulation of XBP1s may have been due to less XBP1u substrate and also less IRE1 $\alpha$  since both their expressions were lower in Wnt10b defective cells compared to control, although this only reached significance on day 6. This suggests that the Wnt10b defective cells may have had less ER stress during adipogenesis and subsequently less IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s expression. However, there was no difference in CHOP expression between the Wnt10b defective and control adipocytes, thus the level of ER stress and subsequent UPR activation may not have been different. Nonetheless, the diversity of ER stress induced UPR signalling likely generates suitable outcomes that are specific to the stress imposed and the homeostatic needs of the cell (Kim, *et al.*, 2008). Therefore it is possible that the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s and PERK - eIF2 $\alpha$  - ATF4 - CHOP UPR pathways are differentially activated during adipogenesis and the reported inhibitory role of CHOP on adipogenesis (Hou, *et al.*, 2013) may act independently of the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s UPR pathway. Cho *et al.* have shown in mouse 3T3-L1 cells that XBP1s enhances adipogenesis through the downregulation of Wnt10b, and that XBP1s and Wnt10b have a reciprocal mRNA expression profile during adipogenesis (Cho, *et al.*, 2013). This study disagrees with their findings because both WNT10B and XBP1s mRNA expression decreased initially after induction of adipogenesis, suggesting an alternative upstream factor inhibits their expression. In order to investigate this further, Wnt signalling was studied.

Wnt signalling during adipogenesis in WNT10B C256Y cells was significantly altered compared to control cells and supports the findings that Wnt10b plays an inhibitory role in human adipogenesis (Christodoulides, et al., 2006), (Isakson, et al., 2009), (Chazenbalk, et al., 2012). WNT10B mRNA expression was measured to assess its upstream activation during adipogenesis. The expression of WNT10B mRNA in control cells decreased by day 2 of adipogenesis and stayed low for the duration of adipogenesis, however the Wnt10b defective cells remained the same as day 0 until day 2 before decreasing. This suggests that Wnt10b is suppressed upon activation of adipogenesis and the Wnt10b defective cells may have experienced a lack of inhibition during immediate early differentiation. Li et al. proposed that Wnt proteins mediate their action via unphosphorylated β-catenin when p- $\beta$ -catenin has saturated the destruction complex (Li, et al., 2012). This study found no differences in unphosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin expression during adipogenesis between defective Wnt10b and control cells, however phosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin (p- $\beta$ -catenin) levels were significantly higher in Wnt10b defective cells on day 4 and 6 compared to control cells. In order to assess the activity of Wnt signalling, the expression of downstream target genes TCF7 and AXIN2 were measured. TCF7 expression decreased after induction of adipogenesis in both defective Wnt10b and control cells and supports the finding that TCF7 regulates a self-renewal/differentiation switch that operates in the absence of Wnt signalling (Wu, *et al.*, 2012). Negative feedback regulation of the Wnt pathway is mediated through Axin2, encoded by the AXIN2 gene (Bernkopf, *et al.*, 2015). Control cells increased the expression of AXIN2 from day 2 for the duration of adipogenesis, whereas the expression in defective Wnt10b cells remained the same as day 0 until day 14 and was significantly lower than control cells for the duration of adipogenesis. Therefore, collectively, these results show that Wnt signalling is significantly altered in defective Wnt10b adipocytes compared to control and may be due to dysregulated negative feedback mechanisms.

The findings in control cells in this study support the hypotheses that reciprocal repression might exist during adipogenesis between Wnt signalling and CEBP $\alpha$  or PPAR $\gamma$  (Moldes, *et al.*, 2003) and that Wnt normally inhibits CEBP $\alpha$  as a negative feedback loop to reduce adipogenesis (Christodoulides, *et al.*, 2009). Wnt10b defective cells expressed slightly lower levels of PPAR $\gamma$  during adipogenesis compared to control cells, although this only reached significance on day 6 and the pattern of expression was largely the same. The expression pattern of adipocyte marker adiponectin in Wnt10b defective cells largely matched that of control cells, peaking before day 14 of adipogenesis, showing that they

218

successfully underwent adipogenesis. Furthermore, this suggests that the WAT expansion in the WNT10B C256Y subject developed independently of upregulated adiponectin, unlike the forced expansion of WAT in *ob/ob* mouse investigation (Kim, *et al.*, 2007). This study found that the expression of CEBP $\alpha$  in Wnt10b defective cells continued to increase throughout adipogenesis whereas in control cells it peaked on day 6 – 10 (figure 5.2.7). This suggests that CEBP $\alpha$  is inhibited late in regulated adipogenesis control cells and that WNT10B C256Y cells lack the ability to inhibit CEBP $\alpha$ . Thus, given CEBP $\alpha$  acts as a key adipogenic factor (Lefterova and Lazar, 2009), continued upregulation of CEBP $\alpha$  in the Wnt10b defective subject may have induced considerable adipogenesis and may partly explain their substantial WAT mass. Therefore collectively these data suggest that upon activation of adipogenesis in adipocytes from metabolically healthy lean subjects, Wnt signalling changes from active Wnt on to inactive Wnt off, summarised in figure 6.3.1.



Figure 6.3.1 Proposed changes in Wnt signalling during adipogenesis

*Figure 6.3.1 legend: Proposed changes in Wnt signalling during adipogenesis.* The results from this study indicate that upon activation of adipogenesis Wnt signalling changes from Wnt on to Wnt off. (Wnt; Wingless-type mouse mammary tumour virus integration site family protein, LRP; low-density-lipoprotein-related protein, Dvl; dishevelled, APC; adenomatous polyposis coli, GSK-3; glycogen synthase kinase-3, CKI; casein kinase-1,  $\beta$ -TrCP; beta-transducin repeat containing E3 ubiquitin protein ligase, p; phosphorylated, Ub; ubiquitin, TCF; T-cell factor, WNT10B; Wingless-type mouse mammary tumour virus integration site family protein 10b, TCF; T-cell factor 7, CEBP $\alpha$ ; CCAAT/enhancer binding protein alpha, PPAR $\gamma$ ; peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma, AXIN2; axis inhibitory protein 2.)

### **6.4 Conclusions**

In summary, the results of this study suggest that Wnt10b plays an inhibitory role in human adipogenesis and acts independently of XBP1s. A subject with a naturally occurring WNT10B C256Y mutation rendering a non-functional Wnt10b protein was severely obese and had a metabolically healthy phonotype. This study found a reciprocal expression profile between WNT10B and CEBPa or PPARy in preadipocytes derived from healthy lean subjects during adipogenesis and supports the hypotheses that reciprocal repression might exist during adipogenesis between Wnt signalling and CEBP $\alpha$  or PPAR $\gamma$  (Moldes, et al., 2003) and that Wnt normally inhibits CEBP $\alpha$  as a negative feedback loop to reduce adipogenesis (Christodoulides, et al., 2009). This study disagrees with the murine findings of Cho et al. that XBP1s downregulates Wnt10b (Cho, et al., 2013) because both WNT10B and XBP1s mRNA expression decreased initially after induction of adipogenesis. Taken together, the results in this study suggest that non-functional Wnt10b leads to dysregulated Wnt signalling, upregulation of CEBPa and subsequent enhanced adipogenesis and expanded metabolically healthy WAT. These findings provide a molecular mechanistic hypothesis to partially explain the MHO phenotype. However, further research is required to fully elucidate the roles of Wnt10b and XBP1s in human adipogenesis. Nonetheless, these studies have identified Wnt10b as an exciting potential pharmacological target to improve metabolic health and reduce the burden of insulin resistance and T2DM.

**Chapter 7: Overall discussion** 

## 7.1 Overall discussion

This thesis researched the role of ER stress and consequent UPR activation in human WAT regulation in metabolic health and T2DM. Current evidence about WAT regulation and UPR activation was reviewed to identify areas where further research had the potential to benefit T2DM clinical outcomes. Translational experimental methodologies from humans to the laboratory were adopted in order to generate valid and representative information about human WAT regulation. SAT from T2DM subjects before and after bariatric surgery, paired SAT and VAT from lean and obese non-diabetic subjects and SAT from a naturally occurring non-functional Wnt10b subject were utilised alongside a human adipocyte cell line to investigate the molecular mechanisms governing WAT regulation. Standardised cell culture and analytical laboratory techniques were employed to systematically research the role of UPR activation in human WAT regulation in metabolic health and T2DM. Several novel outcomes from this body of research provide mechanistic insight into the regulation of human WAT and have identified potential therapeutic targets to improve metabolic health.

Current evidence about the role of WAT in metabolic regulation and T2DM was studied. The main outcomes of the literature review found the following: the chronic metabolic disease T2DM presents a huge burden on individuals and global society through medical, social and financial implications. Obesity, characterised by WAT expansion, is the most significant risk factor for developing T2DM. WAT is a multifunctional organ that plays a key role in metabolic health and regulating energy homeostasis. An inability of WAT to expand to accommodate excess nutrients is predominantly due to impaired adipogenesis and results in ectopic fat deposition, lipotoxicity and insulin resistance. Adipogenesis is influenced by several extracellular and intercellular factors. Obesity associated physiological characteristics such as hyperglycaemia, endotoxemia, elevated circulating FFAs, and local hypoxia induce adipocyte ER stress. This occurs via several mechanisms including increased demand on the ER for protein synthesis and processing, lipid droplet formation and lipid partitioning, and elevated ROS production. ER stress is a key factor in the initiation of insulin resistance through inhibiting insulin action and inducing WAT inflammation and may interfere with adipogenesis. Interventions that alleviate ER stress may be suitable first-line treatments to restore ER function and metabolic regulation in metabolic diseases such as T2DM.

The most durably effective treatment for T2DM has emerged as bariatric surgery, however the mechanisms governing the improvement in glucose homeostasis have not been fully elucidated (Nguyen and Korner, 2014). Some bariatric procedures improve glycaemic control in people with T2DM beyond that expected for weight loss alone (Dixon, *et al.*, 2012). Since WAT plays a vital role in metabolic health, it was hypothesised that the improvements in glycaemic regulation after bariatric surgery may be due to alleviated ER stress in WAT and improved regulation and function. The study in chapter 3 demonstrated that both restrictive and malabsorptive bariatric interventions are effective weight loss interventions for obese T2DM patients resulting in significantly improved glucose and insulin levels six months after surgery. While malabsorptive bariatric surgery involves more complicated procedures and requires long-term vitamin and other supplementation, the restrictive bariatric procedures are less complicated and

induce almost equal benefits. In this study WAT health was better following the two restrictive procedures (LAGB and LGCP) compared to BPD as shown by higher reduction of ER stress markers as well as improved regulation of CHOP. The data from Bradley *et al.* (Bradley, *et al.*, 2012) obtained from non-diabetic obese patients did not specifically support malabsorptive (RYGB) over restrictive surgery type (LAGB) and suggested that further studies were required which could apply to obese patients with T2DM. This study offers novel data in that direction indicating that while the clinical outcomes regarding parameters such as % EBL and HbA1c were better following BPD, the adipose tissue health was significantly improved following the restrictive procedures. The clinical implications of these findings in the longer term require further investigations. Overall, all the surgery types investigated significantly improved the metabolic health of obese diabetics included in this study irrespective of surgery type.

WAT health and subsequent metabolic regulation was improved in obese T2DM subjects who lost weight almost exclusively through WAT mass reduction following bariatric surgery. Therefore mechanisms governing WAT regulation were considered vital for metabolic health. Evidence suggests obesity complications in humans such as T2DM result from the inability of SAT to appropriately expand and store lipids, and consequently ectopic fat deposition and lipotoxicity contribute to insulin resistance (Hill, *et al.*, 2009; Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010). Impaired WAT expandability is mainly due to defects in adipogenesis (Isakson, *et al.*, 2009). Adipogenesis is an important process within WAT to allow normal turnover of adipocytes (Spalding, *et al.*, 2008) and facilitate appropriate WAT expansion to respond to the energy needs of the body (Wang, *et al.*).

al., 2013), therefore adipogenesis in primary human preadipocytes was studied. The studies in chapter 4 showed that adipogenesis in primary human preadipocytes is influenced by both adiposity and WAT depot of preadipocyte source and that the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s UPR pathway plays an integral role in human adipogenesis. This investigation indicated that during adipogenesis obese derived preadipocytes accumulated more lipid than lean irrespective of WAT depot, however lipolysis and insulin sensitivity were both influenced by adiposity and WAT depot. Collectively these findings support human investigations that suggest abdominal SAT is protective for insulin resistance whereas VAT mass has the opposite effect (McLaughlin, et al., 2011). The expressions of IRE1α and XBP1s during adipogenesis differed between depots and may in part explain the observed functional differences in adipocytes. ER stress prevented adipogenesis irrespective of preadipocyte origin and may in part explain why WAT ER stress is associated with metabolic dysfunction (Hotamisligil, 2010). The novel finding that XBP1s is a prerequisite for human adipogenesis strengthens the link between UPR and adipogenesis, although further investigation is required to elucidate the role of XBP1s in human adipogenesis. These findings provide insight into adipocyte functional differences and their integration with the UPR and therefore this information will benefit development of translational clinical interventions to improve metabolic health.

Adipogenesis in preadipocytes derived from SAT was investigated further because SAT represents the vast majority of WAT (about 85 % of all body fat (Frayn and Karpe, 2014)) and the inability of SAT to expand has been causally related to obesity complications such as T2DM (Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010). Chapter 4 indicated that XBP1s is essential for adipogenesis, therefore the role of XBP1s in adipogenesis was investigated further. The studies in chapter 5 showed that XBP1s plays a vital role upstream of CEBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  in human adipogenesis and that it is necessary for mediating the action of insulin. These findings are the first of their kind in human adipocytes and support the mouse cell line work of Cho et al. that suggest XBP1s may regulate PPARy in adipogenesis (Cho, et al., 2014). XBP1s has been shown to promote adiponectin multimerisation and improve glucose regulation in mice (Sha, et al., 2014). Furthermore, WAT XBP1s and plasma glucose reduced after bariatric surgery in humans (chapter 3). This study provides novel evidence that XBP1s is necessary for insulin stimulated glucose uptake in controlled human adipocyte cell culture system. Taken together, these results support the link between UPR signalling and metabolism (Hotamisligil, 2010; Lee and Ozcan, 2014). Although further research is required, these findings have provided useful insight into the role of XBP1s in adipogenesis and metabolism and will benefit the development of clinical interventions to alleviate metabolic diseases.

A link between XBP1s and Wnt10b in human adipogenesis was considered because Cho *et al.* have reported in mouse 3T3-L1 cells that XBP1s enhances adipogenesis through the downregulation of Wnt10b (Cho, *et al.*, 2013). Therefore the role of Wnt10b in primary human adipogenesis was investigated in chapter 6. The results from this study suggest that Wnt10b plays an inhibitory role in human adipogenesis and acts independently of XBP1s. A subject with a naturally occurring WNT10B C256Y mutation rendering a non-functional Wnt10b protein was severely obese and had a metabolically healthy phonotype. This study found a reciprocal expression profile between WNT10B and CEBPa or PPARy in preadipocytes derived from healthy lean subjects during adipogenesis. The study supports the hypotheses that reciprocal repression might exist during adipogenesis between Wnt signalling and CEBP $\alpha$  or PPAR $\gamma$ (Moldes, et al., 2003) and that Wnt normally inhibits CEBP $\alpha$  as a negative feedback loop to reduce adipogenesis (Christodoulides, et al., 2009). This study disagrees with the murine findings of Cho et al. that XBP1s downregulates Wnt10b (Cho, et al., 2013) because both WNT10B and XBP1s mRNA expression decreased initially after induction of adipogenesis. Taken together, the results in this study suggest that non-functional Wnt10b leads to dysregulated Wnt signalling, upregulation of CEBPa and subsequent enhanced adipogenesis and expanded metabolically healthy WAT. These findings provide a molecular mechanistic hypothesis to partially explain the MHO phenotype. Given the expanded WAT in non-functional WNT10B C256Y subject, Wnt10b may influence appetite. Furthermore, given the subjects favourable metabolic profile considering their BMI of 62 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, having non-functional Wnt10b may protect against T2DM. Although the subject was only 19 years old and therefore unlikely to have developed T2DM at such a young age, irrespective of severe obesity. Follow up studies of the WNT10B C256Y subject would be beneficial to ascertain whether T2DM develops. Further research is also required to fully elucidate the roles of Wnt10b and XBP1s in human adipogenesis. Nonetheless, these studies have identified Wnt10b as an exciting potential pharmacological target to improve metabolic health and reduce the burden of insulin resistance and T2DM.

#### 7.2 Future work

This body of work has generated novel data about the role of ER stress in human adipose tissue metabolism. The results from this thesis suggest that WAT function is crucial for metabolic regulation and adipocyte ER stress signalling may play an integrative role between metabolic function and systemic homeostasis. If these results are corroborated in future investigations then specific pharmaceutical agents to ameliorate ER stress and improve metabolic function may provide substantial tangible clinical benefits. Therefore the findings in this thesis warrant further investigations.

The subjects who underwent bariatric surgery improved their metabolic profile and their WAT ER stress levels and regulation six months after surgery (chapter 3). Although the subjects appeared to have an improved metabolic profile six months after surgery, their metabolic status is likely to fluctuate with time. During the initial six months after surgery the subjects experienced a negative energy flux where more calories were used compared to being consumed. Consequently the subjects lost weight almost exclusively from a reduction in WAT mass. Their rate of weight loss is unsustainable, they cannot continue to lose weight indefinitely. Therefore there must be a certain point when their body weight stabilises. This will be partly influenced by their surgery type since their altered physiology will govern the rate at which calories from ingested food can be absorbed and stored or utilised. In addition, there are likely to be considerable WAT reorganisation events such as altered innervation, vasculature and cell composition. Since WAT plays a key integrative role in regulating metabolism (figure 1.4.3) it is likely that the altered WAT architecture will influence the subject's long-term metabolism. For example, the reciprocal hormonal brain – WAT axis controlling appetite may be altered, leading to changes in calorie consumption. Or the immune cell repertoire may change thus altering the local cytokine production and consequently influencing the inflammatory status of the WAT. Furthermore, the regulation of adipogenesis may be altered following the changes in WAT physiology. Therefore to investigate the long-term metabolic changes following LAGB, LGCP and BPD bariatric surgery procedures further studies will be required. Annual anthropometric measurements and Abd SAT biopsies from the subjects will allow long-term follow up and assessment of metabolic profile, ER stress levels and WAT regulation. Preadipocytes can be extracted from the biopsies and adipogenesis experiments conducted to investigate the change in adipogenesis regulation over time. Furthermore, the long-term follow up may indicate which procedure is most favourable for WAT health and therefore influence clinical decision making when considering a patient for bariatric surgery.

The IRE1 $\alpha$  – XBP1s pathway was found to play an essential role in adipogenesis and insulin stimulated glucose uptake (chapters 4 and 5). Perhaps the reason why the UPR pathway is essential for adipogenesis is because it is essential to mediate the effects of insulin signalling. This study found that insulin stimulated glucose uptake and Akt phosphorylation were almost completely blocked in the presence of IRE1 $\alpha$  endonuclease inhibitor 4 $\mu$ 8C compared to control (figure 5.2.6). It is possible that 4 $\mu$ 8C has off-target effects and simultaneously blocks IRE1 $\alpha$ endonuclease and insulin signalling upstream of Akt. However XBP1 knockdown with XBP1 siRNA also prevented insulin stimulated glucose uptake compared to non-targeting siRNA (figure 5.2.7). Therefore suggesting that XBP1s does indeed play a key role in insulin stimulated glucose uptake. Further studies to pinpoint the role of XBP1s in insulin stimulated glucose uptake are required. For example, assessing IRS1 phosphorylation upstream of Akt following insulin stimulation in control adipocytes and in the presence of 4µ8C. Elucidating a role for IRE1 $\alpha$ and/or XBP1s in insulin stimulated glucose uptake will have profound effects on clinical management. For instance, if a T2DM patient has elevated ER stress and IRE1 $\alpha$  and XBP1s, treatment with insulin might be ineffective.

A subject with a WNT10B C256Y mutation rendering a non-functional Wnt10b protein was severely obese with a healthy metabolic profile (chapter 6). The subject's adipocytes continued to increase the expression of adipogenesis master regulator CEBPa upon activation of adipogenesis whereas the marker peaked on day 6 - 10 in preadiportes from control lean subjects (figure 6.2.4). Furthermore, the WNT10B C256Y subject had significantly different Wnt signalling gene and protein expression during adipogenesis compared to lean control (figure 6.2.5). AXIN2 gene expression increased in lean adipocytes during adipogenesis, however it did not increase in the WNT C256Y subject. Therefore Axin2, encoded by the AXIN2 gene may act as a negative feedback regulator to 'turn off' CEBPa during adipogenesis. Further studies are required to elucidate the role of Wnt signalling and Axin2 in adipogenesis. Elucidating the signalling networks involved in adipogenesis may allow the process to be manipulated to favour the metabolic health of the patients with T2DM. For example, a regulated expanded WAT with sufficient functioning adipocytes can act like an active pool to uptake harmful lipids and glucose from the circulation, thereby protecting the subject

from the adverse effects of hyperlipidemia and hyperglycemia. The WNT10B C256Y subject had a metabolically healthy phenotype despite her massive obesity. This may be because her expanded WAT is metabolically healthy or it could be that she has dysregulated WAT but it has not had sufficient time to influence her metabolic profile because she is only 19 years old. Therefore follow up studies are required to assess the subjects metabolic profile over time. Will she be protected from insulin resistance with her expanded WAT, or will she develop insulin resistance because of her expanded WAT? Follow up studies of this rare naturally occurring mutation have the potential to provide useful information about the regulation of adipogenesis and overall WAT health.

Further studies investigating people with MONW and MHO phenotypes, PCOS and matched controls may identify additional regulatory factors in adipose tissue health and metabolism. WAT biopsies alongside anthropometric data from the aforementioned groups can be utilised to assess differences in genome using GWAS, ER stress levels assessing protein and gene expression and adipogenesis regulation by extracting stem cells and inducing adipogenesis *in vitro*. These naturally occurring differences in WAT and metabolic regulation may assist the identification of integrated pathways of metabolism. Understanding the metabolic pathways involved will allow development of therapeutics to modulate said pathways in order to improve metabolic health and thus reduce the encumbrance of T2DM.

## 7.3 Overall conclusions

In conclusion, this thesis has researched the role of ER stress and consequent UPR activation in human WAT regulation in metabolic health and T2DM. The main outcomes of these studies have shown: Both restrictive and malabsorptive bariatric interventions are effective weight loss interventions for obese T2DM patients and result in significantly improved glucose and insulin levels six months after surgery. WAT health is better following restrictive procedures (LAGB and LGCP) compared to BPD as shown by higher reduction of ER stress markers as well as improved regulation of CHOP. Adipogenesis in primary human preadipocytes is influenced by both adiposity and WAT depot of preadipocyte source and the IRE1 $\alpha$  - XBP1s UPR pathway plays an integral role in human adipogenesis. XBP1s plays a vital role upstream of CEBP $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  in human adipogenesis and it is necessary for mediating the action of insulin. Wnt10b plays an inhibitory role in human adipogenesis and acts independently of XBP1s. Collectively these findings suggest that WAT function is key for metabolic health and can be impaired by ER stress; however regulated adipogenesis may serve to improve WAT function and therefore improve metabolic health. In order to confirm these findings further studies are required with larger numbers of human subjects and specific in vivo investigations. If confirmed, clinical trials with therapeutic targets to improve adipogenesis and therefore WAT function and metabolic health could hold significant clinical potential.

# **Bibliography**

- Adaikalakoteswari, A., Finer, S., Voyias, P.D., McCarthy, C.M., Vatish, M., Moore, J., Smart-Halajko, M., Bawazeer, N., Al-Daghri, N.M., McTernan, P.G., Kumar, S., Hitman, G.A., Saravanan, P. and Tripathi, G. (2015). Vitamin B12 insufficiency induces cholesterol biosynthesis by limiting s-adenosylmethionine and modulating the methylation of SREBF1 and LDLR genes. *Clin Epigenetics* 7(1), pp. 14.
- Adaikalakoteswari, A., Jayashri, R., Sukumar, N., Venkataraman, H., Pradeepa, R., Gokulakrishnan, K., Anjana, R., McTernan, P.G., Tripathi, G., Patel, V., Kumar, S., Mohan, V. and Saravanan, P. (2014). Vitamin B12 deficiency is associated with adverse lipid profile in Europeans and Indians with type 2 diabetes. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* 13(1), pp. 129.
- Agha, G., Houseman, E.A., Kelsey, K.T., Eaton, C.B., Buka, S.L. and Loucks, E.B. (2014). Adiposity is associated with DNA methylation profile in adipose tissue. *Int J Epidemiol*pp.
- Aguilar-Valles, A., Inoue, W., Rummel, C. and Luheshi, G.N. (2015). Obesity, adipokines and neuroinflammation. *Neuropharmacologypp*.
- Aguirre, V., Uchida, T., Yenush, L., Davis, R. and White, M.F. (2000). The c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase promotes insulin resistance during association with insulin receptor substrate-1 and phosphorylation of Ser(307). J Biol Chem 275(12), pp. 9047-9054.
- Alfa, R.W., Park, S., Skelly, K.R., Poffenberger, G., Jain, N., Gu, X., Kockel, L., Wang, J., Liu, Y., Powers, A.C. and Kim, S.K. (2015). Suppression of insulin production and secretion by a decretin hormone. *Cell Metab* 21(2), pp. 323-333.
- Alhusaini, S., McGee, K., Schisano, B., Harte, A., McTernan, P., Kumar, S. and Tripathi, G. (2010). Lipopolysaccharide, high glucose and saturated fatty acids induce endoplasmic reticulum stress in cultured primary human adipocytes: Salicylate alleviates this stress. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 397(3), pp. 472-478.
- Allan, C.A. and McLachlan, R.I. (2010). Androgens and obesity. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* 17(3), pp. 224-232.
- Arango, N.A., Szotek, P.P., Manganaro, T.F., Oliva, E., Donahoe, P.K. and Teixeira, J. (2005). Conditional deletion of beta-catenin in the mesenchyme of the developing mouse uterus results in a switch to adipogenesis in the myometrium. *Dev Biol* 288(1), pp. 276-283.
- Arner, P. and Langin, D. (2014). Lipolysis in lipid turnover, cancer cachexia, and obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* **25**(5), pp. 255-262.

- Baglioni, S., Cantini, G., Poli, G., Francalanci, M., Squecco, R., Di Franco, A., Borgogni, E., Frontera, S., Nesi, G., Liotta, F., Lucchese, M., Perigli, G., Francini, F., Forti, G., Serio, M. and Luconi, M. (2012). Functional differences in visceral and subcutaneous fat pads originate from differences in the adipose stem cell. *PLoS One* 7(5), pp. e36569.
- Balkau, B., Deanfield, J.E., Despres, J.P., Bassand, J.P., Fox, K.A., Smith, S.C., Jr., Barter, P., Tan, C.E., Van Gaal, L., Wittchen, H.U., Massien, C. and Haffner, S.M. (2007). International Day for the Evaluation of Abdominal Obesity (IDEA): a study of waist circumference, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes mellitus in 168,000 primary care patients in 63 countries. *Circulation* 116(17), pp. 1942-1951.
- Bartness, T.J., Liu, Y., Shrestha, Y.B. and Ryu, V. (2014). Neural innervation of white adipose tissue and the control of lipolysis. *Front Neuroendocrinol* 35(4), pp. 473-493.
- Bartness, T.J. and Song, C.K. (2007). Thematic review series: adipocyte biology. Sympathetic and sensory innervation of white adipose tissue. *J Lipid Res* **48**(8), pp. 1655-1672.
- Bastard, J.P., Maachi, M., Van Nhieu, J.T., Jardel, C., Bruckert, E., Grimaldi, A., Robert, J.J., Capeau, J. and Hainque, B. (2002). Adipose tissue IL-6 content correlates with resistance to insulin activation of glucose uptake both in vivo and in vitro. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87(5), pp. 2084-2089.
- Bauer, S., Wanninger, J., Schmidhofer, S., Weigert, J., Neumeier, M., Dorn, C., Hellerbrand, C., Zimara, N., Schaffler, A., Aslanidis, C. and Buechler, C. (2011). Sterol regulatory element-binding protein 2 (SREBP2) activation after excess triglyceride storage induces chemerin in hypertrophic adipocytes. *Endocrinology* 152(1), pp. 26-35.
- Berg, A.H. and Scherer, P.E. (2005). Adipose tissue, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease. *Circ Res* 96(9), pp. 939-949.
- Bergman, R.N. and Ader, M. (2000). Free fatty acids and pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 11(9), pp. 351-356.
- Bernkopf, D.B., Hadjihannas, M.V. and Behrens, J. (2015). Negative-feedback regulation of the Wnt pathway by conductin/axin2 involves insensitivity to upstream signalling. *J Cell Sci* **128**(1), pp. 33-39.
- Bertolotti, A., Zhang, Y., Hendershot, L.M., Harding, H.P. and Ron, D. (2000). Dynamic interaction of BiP and ER stress transducers in the unfolded-protein response. *Nat Cell Biol* **2**(6), pp. 326-332.
- Bezaire, V., Mairal, A., Ribet, C., Lefort, C., Girousse, A., Jocken, J., Laurencikiene, J., Anesia, R., Rodriguez, A.M., Ryden, M., Stenson,

**B.M., Dani, C., Ailhaud, G., Arner, P. and Langin, D.** (2009). Contribution of adipose triglyceride lipase and hormone-sensitive lipase to lipolysis in hMADS adipocytes. *J Biol Chem* **284**(27), pp. 18282-18291.

- Billon, N., Iannarelli, P., Monteiro, M.C., Glavieux-Pardanaud, C., Richardson, W.D., Kessaris, N., Dani, C. and Dupin, E. (2007). The generation of adipocytes by the neural crest. *Development* 134(12), pp. 2283-2292.
- Blaak, E. (2001). Gender differences in fat metabolism. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* **4**(6), pp. 499-502.
- Boden, G., Duan, X., Homko, C., Molina, E.J., Song, W., Perez, O., Cheung, P. and Merali, S. (2008). Increase in endoplasmic reticulum stress-related proteins and genes in adipose tissue of obese, insulin-resistant individuals. *Diabetes* 57(9), pp. 2438-2444.
- Bommiasamy, H., Back, S.H., Fagone, P., Lee, K., Meshinchi, S., Vink, E., Sriburi, R., Frank, M., Jackowski, S., Kaufman, R.J. and Brewer, J.W. (2009). ATF6alpha induces XBP1-independent expansion of the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Cell Sci* 122(Pt 10), pp. 1626-1636.
- Boone, C.W., Mantel, N., Caruso, T.D., Jr., Kazam, E. and Stevenson, R.E. (1971). Quality control studies on fetal bovine serum used in tissue culture. *In Vitro* **7**(3), pp. 174-189.
- Boyce, M., Bryant, K.F., Jousse, C., Long, K., Harding, H.P., Scheuner, D., Kaufman, R.J., Ma, D., Coen, D.M., Ron, D. and Yuan, J. (2005). A selective inhibitor of eIF2alpha dephosphorylation protects cells from ER stress. *Science* 307(5711), pp. 935-939.
- Bradley, D., Conte, C., Mittendorfer, B., Eagon, J.C., Varela, J.E., Fabbrini, E., Gastaldelli, A., Chambers, K.T., Su, X., Okunade, A., Patterson, B.W. and Klein, S. (2012). Gastric bypass and banding equally improve insulin sensitivity and beta cell function. *J Clin Invest* 122(12), pp. 4667-4674.
- Bradnova, O., Kyrou, I., Hainer, V., Vcelak, J., Halkova, T., Sramkova, P., Dolezalova, K., Fried, M., McTernan, P., Kumar, S., Hill, M., Kunesova, M., Bendlova, B. and Vrbikova, J. (2014). Laparoscopic greater curvature plication in morbidly obese women with type 2 diabetes: effects on glucose homeostasis, postprandial triglyceridemia and selected gut hormones. *Obes Surg* 24(5), pp. 718-726.
- **Brasaemle, D.L.** (2007). Thematic review series: adipocyte biology. The perilipin family of structural lipid droplet proteins: stabilization of lipid droplets and control of lipolysis. *J Lipid Res* **48**(12), pp. 2547-2559.
- Breen, M.R., Camps, M., Carvalho-Simoes, F., Zorzano, A. and Pilch, P.F. (2012). Cholesterol depletion in adipocytes causes caveolae collapse

concomitant with proteosomal degradation of cavin-2 in a switch-like fashion. *PLoS One* **7**(4), pp. e34516.

- Buhman, K.K., Chen, H.C. and Farese, R.V., Jr. (2001). The enzymes of neutral lipid synthesis. *J Biol Chem* 276(44), pp. 40369-40372.
- Bujalska, I.J., Gathercole, L.L., Tomlinson, J.W., Darimont, C., Ermolieff, J., Fanjul, A.N., Rejto, P.A. and Stewart, P.M. (2008). A novel selective 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 inhibitor prevents human adipogenesis. *J Endocrinol* 197(2), pp. 297-307.
- Burrill, J.S., Long, E.K., Reilly, B., Deng, Y., Armitage, I.M., Scherer, P.E. and Bernlohr, D.A. (2015). Inflammation and ER Stress Regulate Branched Chain Amino Acid Uptake and Metabolism in Adipocytes. *Mol Endocrinol*pp.20141275.
- Calfon, M., Zeng, H., Urano, F., Till, J.H., Hubbard, S.R., Harding, H.P., Clark, S.G. and Ron, D. (2002). IRE1 couples endoplasmic reticulum load to secretory capacity by processing the XBP-1 mRNA. *Nature* 415(6867), pp. 92-96.
- Campos, C. (2012). Chronic hyperglycemia and glucose toxicity: pathology and clinical sequelae. *Postgrad Med* **124**(6), pp. 90-97.
- Cannon, B. and Nedergaard, J. (2004). Brown adipose tissue: function and physiological significance. *Physiol Rev* 84(1), pp. 277-359.
- Cao, Y. (2007). Angiogenesis modulates adipogenesis and obesity. *J Clin Invest* 117(9), pp. 2362-2368.
- Carmean, C.M., Cohen, R.N. and Brady, M.J. (2014). Systemic regulation of adipose metabolism. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1842(3), pp. 424-430.
- Caspar-Bauguil, S., Cousin, B., Galinier, A., Segafredo, C., Nibbelink, M., Andre, M., Casteilla, L. and Penicaud, L. (2005). Adipose tissues as an ancestral immune organ: site-specific change in obesity. *FEBS Lett* 579(17), pp. 3487-3492.
- Chan, J.C., Malik, V., Jia, W., Kadowaki, T., Yajnik, C.S., Yoon, K.H. and Hu, F.B. (2009). Diabetes in Asia: epidemiology, risk factors, and pathophysiology. *Jama* **301**(20), pp. 2129-2140.
- Chandra, V., Huang, P., Hamuro, Y., Raghuram, S., Wang, Y., Burris, T.P. and Rastinejad, F. (2008). Structure of the intact PPAR-gamma-RXRnuclear receptor complex on DNA. *Nature* **456**(7220), pp. 350-356.
- Chazenbalk, G., Chen, Y.H., Heneidi, S., Lee, J.M., Pall, M., Chen, Y.D.I. and Azziz, R. (2012). Abnormal Expression of Genes Involved in Inflammation, Lipid Metabolism, and Wnt Signaling in the Adipose

Tissue of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. In: *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 97, pp. E765-770.

- Chen, L., Chen, Y., Zhang, S., Ye, L., Cui, J., Sun, Q., Li, K., Wu, H. and Liu, L. (2015). MiR-540 as a Novel Adipogenic Inhibitor Impairs Adipogenesis Via Suppression of PPARgamma. *J Cell Biochempp*.
- Chen, L., Magliano, D.J. and Zimmet, P.Z. (2012). The worldwide epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus--present and future perspectives. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* **8**(4), pp. 228-236.
- Chen, X., Shen, J. and Prywes, R. (2002). The luminal domain of ATF6 senses endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and causes translocation of ATF6 from the ER to the Golgi. *J Biol Chem* 277(15), pp. 13045-13052.
- Cho, Y.M., Kim, D.H., Kwak, S.N., Jeong, S.W. and Kwon, O.J. (2013). Xbox binding protein 1 enhances adipogenic differentiation of 3T3-L1 cells through the downregulation of Wnt10b expression. *FEBS Lett* **587**(11), pp. 1644-1649.
- Cho, Y.M., Kwak, S.N., Joo, N.S., Kim, D.H., Lee, A.H., Kim, K.S., Seo, J.B., Jeong, S.W. and Kwon, O.J. (2014). X-box binding protein 1 is a novel key regulator of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma2. *Febs j* 281(22), pp. 5132-5146.
- Christodoulides, C., Lagathu, C., Sethi, J.K. and Vidal-Puig, A. (2009). Adipogenesis and WNT signalling. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* **20**(1), pp. 16-24.
- Christodoulides, C., Scarda, A., Granzotto, M., Milan, G., Dalla Nora, E., Keogh, J., De Pergola, G., Stirling, H., Pannacciulli, N., Sethi, J.K., Federspil, G., Vidal-Puig, A., Farooqi, I.S., O'Rahilly, S. and Vettor, R. (2006). WNT10B mutations in human obesity. *Diabetologia* 49(4), pp. 678-684.
- Clevers, H. and Nusse, R. (2012). Wnt/beta-catenin signaling and disease. *Cell* 149(6), pp. 1192-1205.
- Creely, S.J., McTernan, P.G., Kusminski, C.M., Fisher, M., Da Silva, N.F., Khanolkar, M., Evans, M., Harte, A.L. and Kumar, S. (2007). Lipopolysaccharide activates an innate immune system response in human adipose tissue in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 292(3), pp. E740-747.
- Cross, B.C.S., Bond, P.J., Sadowski, P.G., Jha, B.K., Zak, J., Goodman, J.M., Silverman, R.H., Neubert, T.A., Baxendale, I.R., Ron, D. and Harding, H.P. (2012). The molecular basis for selective inhibition of unconventional mRNA splicing by an IRE1-binding small molecule. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109(15), pp. E869-878.

- Cypess, A.M., Lehman, S., Williams, G., Tal, I., Rodman, D., Goldfine, A.B., Kuo, F.C., Palmer, E.L., Tseng, Y.H., Doria, A., Kolodny, G.M. and Kahn, C.R. (2009). Identification and importance of brown adipose tissue in adult humans. *N Engl J Med* **360**(15), pp. 1509-1517.
- Cypess, A.M., Weiner, L.S., Roberts-Toler, C., Elia, E.F., Kessler, S.H., Kahn, P.A., English, J., Chatman, K., Trauger, S.A., Doria, A. and Kolodny, G.M. (2015). Activation of Human Brown Adipose Tissue by a beta3-Adrenergic Receptor Agonist. *Cell Metab* 21(1), pp. 33-38.
- Darimont, C., Zbinden, I., Avanti, O., Leone-Vautravers, P., Giusti, V., Burckhardt, P., Pfeifer, A.M.A. and Mace, K. (2003). Reconstitution of telomerase activity combined with HPV-E7 expression allow human preadipocytes to preserve their differentiation capacity after immortalization. *Cell Death Differ* 10(9), pp. 1025-1031.
- Davis, R.J. (2000). Signal transduction by the JNK group of MAP kinases. *Cell* 103(2), pp. 239-252.
- de Brito, O.M. and Scorrano, L. (2010). An intimate liaison: spatial organization of the endoplasmic reticulum–mitochondria relationship. *EMBO J* 29(16), pp. 2715-2723.
- **Denizot, F. and Lang, R.** (1986). Rapid colorimetric assay for cell growth and survival. Modifications to the tetrazolium dye procedure giving improved sensitivity and reliability. *J Immunol Methods* **89**(2), pp. 271-277.
- Di Gregorio, G.B., Yao-Borengasser, A., Rasouli, N., Varma, V., Lu, T., Miles, L.M., Ranganathan, G., Peterson, C.A., McGehee, R.E. and Kern, P.A. (2005). Expression of CD68 and macrophage chemoattractant protein-1 genes in human adipose and muscle tissues: association with cytokine expression, insulin resistance, and reduction by pioglitazone. *Diabetes* 54(8), pp. 2305-2313.
- **DiabetesUK**. (2015). *Hypos Diabetes UK*. [Online]. (http://www.diabetes.org.uk/Information-for-parents/Hypos-and-hypers/Hypos/).
- **Diraison, F., Yankah, V., Letexier, D., Dusserre, E., Jones, P. and Beylot, M.** (2003). Differences in the regulation of adipose tissue and liver lipogenesis by carbohydrates in humans. *J Lipid Res* **44**(4), pp. 846-853.
- Dixon, J.B., le Roux, C.W., Rubino, F. and Zimmet, P. (2012). Bariatric surgery for type 2 diabetes. *The Lancet* **379**(9833), pp. 2300-2311.
- Drel, V.R., Mashtalir, N., Ilnytska, O., Shin, J., Li, F., Lyzogubov, V.V. and Obrosova, I.G. (2006). The leptin-deficient (ob/ob) mouse: a new animal model of peripheral neuropathy of type 2 diabetes and obesity. *Diabetes* 55(12), pp. 3335-3343.

- **Escobar-Morreale, H.F. and San Millan, J.L.** (2007). Abdominal adiposity and the polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* **18**(7), pp. 266-272.
- Exley, M.A., Hand, L., O'Shea, D. and Lynch, L. (2014). Interplay between the immune system and adipose tissue in obesity. J Endocrinol 223(2), pp. R41-48.
- Fadini, G.P., Ferraro, F., Quaini, F., Asahara, T. and Madeddu, P. (2014). Concise review: diabetes, the bone marrow niche, and impaired vascular regeneration. *Stem Cells Transl Med* 3(8), pp. 949-957.
- Fain, J.N. (2006). Release of interleukins and other inflammatory cytokines by human adipose tissue is enhanced in obesity and primarily due to the nonfat cells. *Vitam Horm* 74pp. 443-477.
- Fantuzzi, G. (2005). Adipose tissue, adipokines, and inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 115(5), pp. 911-919.
- **Farmer, S.R.** (2006). Transcriptional control of adipocyte formation. *Cell Metab* **4**(4), pp. 263-273.
- Farooqi, I.S., Matarese, G., Lord, G.M., Keogh, J.M., Lawrence, E., Agwu, C., Sanna, V., Jebb, S.A., Perna, F., Fontana, S., Lechler, R.I., DePaoli, A.M. and O'Rahilly, S. (2002). Beneficial effects of leptin on obesity, T cell hyporesponsiveness, and neuroendocrine/metabolic dysfunction of human congenital leptin deficiency. J Clin Invest 110(8), pp. 1093-1103.
- Feng, B., Yao, P.M., Li, Y., Devlin, C.M., Zhang, D., Harding, H.P., Sweeney, M., Rong, J.X., Kuriakose, G., Fisher, E.A., Marks, A.R., Ron, D. and Tabas, I. (2003). The endoplasmic reticulum is the site of cholesterolinduced cytotoxicity in macrophages. *Nat Cell Biol* 5(9), pp. 781-792.
- Flamment, M., Hajduch, E., Ferre, P. and Foufelle, F. (2012). New insights into ER stress-induced insulin resistance. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 23(8), pp. 381-390.
- Forouhi, N.G. and Wareham, N.J. (2014). Epidemiology of diabetes. In: *Medicine (Abingdon)*, vol. 42, pp. 698-702.
- Foufelle, F., Gouhot, B., Pegorier, J.P., Perdereau, D., Girard, J. and Ferre, P. (1992). Glucose stimulation of lipogenic enzyme gene expression in cultured white adipose tissue. A role for glucose 6-phosphate. *J Biol Chem* 267(29), pp. 20543-20546.
- Frayn, K.N. and Humphreys, S.M. (2012). Metabolic characteristics of human subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissueafter overnight fast. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 302(4), pp. E468-475.

- Frayn, K.N. and Karpe, F. (2014). Regulation of human subcutaneous adipose tissue blood flow. Int J Obes (Lond) 38(8), pp. 1019-1026.
- Frayn, K.N., Karpe, F., Fielding, B.A., Macdonald, I.A. and Coppack, S.W. (2003). Integrative physiology of human adipose tissue. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 27(8), pp. 875-888.
- Fried, M., Dolezalova, K., Buchwald, J.N., McGlennon, T.W., Sramkova, P. and Ribaric, G. (2012). Laparoscopic greater curvature plication (LGCP) for treatment of morbid obesity in a series of 244 patients. *Obes Surg* 22(8), pp. 1298-1307.
- Fried, S.K., Bunkin, D.A. and Greenberg, A.S. (1998). Omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues of obese subjects release interleukin-6: depot difference and regulation by glucocorticoid. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83(3), pp. 847-850.
- Friedewald, W.T., Levy, R.I. and Fredrickson, D.S. (1972). Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. *Clin Chem* **18**(6), pp. 499-502.
- Friedman, J.M. and Halaas, J.L. (1998). Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature* **395**(6704), pp. 763-770.
- Fruebis, J., Tsao, T.S., Javorschi, S., Ebbets-Reed, D., Erickson, M.R., Yen, F.T., Bihain, B.E. and Lodish, H.F. (2001). Proteolytic cleavage product of 30-kDa adipocyte complement-related protein increases fatty acid oxidation in muscle and causes weight loss in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A 98(4), pp. 2005-2010.
- Fu, J., Oveisi, F., Gaetani, S., Lin, E. and Piomelli, D. (2005). Oleoylethanolamide, an endogenous PPAR-alpha agonist, lowers body weight and hyperlipidemia in obese rats. *Neuropharmacology* 48(8), pp. 1147-1153.
- Galic, S., Oakhill, J.S. and Steinberg, G.R. (2010). Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* **316**(2), pp. 129-139.
- Gathercole, L.L., Bujalska, I.J., Stewart, P.M. and Tomlinson, J.W. (2007). Glucocorticoid modulation of insulin signaling in human subcutaneous adipose tissue. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **92**(11), pp. 4332-4339.
- Geer, E.B. and Shen, W. (2009). Gender differences in insulin resistance, body composition, and energy balance. *Gend Med* 6 Suppl 1pp. 60-75.
- Gerstein, H.C. and Werstuck, G.H. (2013). Dysglycaemia, vasculopenia, and the chronic consequences of diabetes. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* **1**(1), pp. 71-78.

- Gesta, S., Tseng, Y.H. and Kahn, C.R. (2007). Developmental origin of fat: tracking obesity to its source. *Cell* **131**(2), pp. 242-256.
- Goldfine, A.B., Fonseca, V., Jablonski, K.A., Pyle, L., Staten, M.A. and Shoelson, S.E. (2010). The effects of salsalate on glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* **152**(6), pp. 346-357.
- Goto, A., Arah, O.A., Goto, M., Terauchi, Y. and Noda, M. (2013). Severe hypoglycaemia and cardiovascular disease: systematic review and meta-analysis with bias analysis. *Bmj* **347**pp. 533.
- Grant, R.W. and Dixit, V.D. (2015). Adipose tissue as an immunological organ. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*pp.
- Grant, S.F., Thorleifsson, G., Reynisdottir, I., Benediktsson, R., Manolescu, A., Sainz, J., Helgason, A., Stefansson, H., Emilsson, V., Helgadottir, A., Styrkarsdottir, U., Magnusson, K.P., Walters, G.B., Palsdottir, E., Jonsdottir, T., Gudmundsdottir, T., Gylfason, A., Saemundsdottir, J., Wilensky, R.L., Reilly, M.P., Rader, D.J., Bagger, Y., Christiansen, C., Gudnason, V., Sigurdsson, G., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Gulcher, J.R., Kong, A. and Stefansson, K. (2006). Variant of transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene confers risk of type 2 diabetes. *Nat Genet* 38(3), pp. 320-323.
- **Green, H. and Kehinde, O.** (1975). An established preadipose cell line and its differentiation in culture. II. Factors affecting the adipose conversion. *Cell* **5**(1), pp. 19-27.
- Gregor, M.F. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2007). Thematic review series: Adipocyte Biology. Adipocyte stress: the endoplasmic reticulum and metabolic disease. *J Lipid Res* **48**(9), pp. 1905-1914.
- Gregor, M.F., Misch, E.S., Yang, L., Hummasti, S., Inouye, K.E., Lee, A.H., Bierie, B. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2013). The role of adipocyte XBP1 in metabolic regulation during lactation. *Cell Rep* **3**(5), pp. 1430-1439.
- Gregor, M.F., Yang, L., Fabbrini, E., Mohammed, B.S., Eagon, J.C., Hotamisligil, G.S. and Klein, S. (2009). Endoplasmic reticulum stress is reduced in tissues of obese subjects after weight loss. *Diabetes* 58(3), pp. 693-700.
- **Gross, D.A., Snapp, E.L. and Silver, D.L.** (2010). Structural insights into triglyceride storage mediated by fat storage-inducing transmembrane (FIT) protein 2. *PLoS One* **5**(5), pp. e10796.
- **Guan, H.P., Ishizuka, T., Chui, P.C., Lehrke, M. and Lazar, M.A.** (2005). Corepressors selectively control the transcriptional activity of PPARγ in adipocytes. *Genes Dev* **19**(4), pp. 453-461.

- Guh, D.P., Zhang, W., Bansback, N., Amarsi, Z., Birmingham, C.L. and Anis, A.H. (2009). The incidence of co-morbidities related to obesity and overweight: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health* 9(1), pp. 88.
- Gulow, K., Bienert, D. and Haas, I.G. (2002). BiP is feed-back regulated by control of protein translation efficiency. *J Cell Sci* **115**(Pt 11), pp. 2443-2452.
- Guo, F.J., Xiong, Z., Lu, X., Ye, M., Han, X. and Jiang, R. (2014). ATF6 upregulates XBP1S and inhibits ER stress-mediated apoptosis in osteoarthritis cartilage. *Cell Signal* 26(2), pp. 332-342.
- Guo, L., Li, X. and Tang, Q. (2015). Transcriptional Regulation of Adipocyte Differentiation: A Central Role for CCAAT/Enhancer-binding Protein (C/EBP) beta. *J Biol Chem* 290(2), pp. 755-761.
- Guo, S. (2014). Insulin signaling, resistance, and the metabolic syndrome: insights from mouse models into disease mechanisms. *J Endocrinol* 220(2), pp. 1-23.
- Harding, H.P., Novoa, I., Zhang, Y., Zeng, H., Wek, R., Schapira, M. and Ron, D. (2000a). Regulated translation initiation controls stress-induced gene expression in mammalian cells. *Mol Cell* 6(5), pp. 1099-1108.
- Harding, H.P., Zhang, Y., Bertolotti, A., Zeng, H. and Ron, D. (2000b). Perk is essential for translational regulation and cell survival during the unfolded protein response. *Mol Cell* 5(5), pp. 897-904.
- Harding, H.P., Zhang, Y. and Ron, D. (1999). Protein translation and folding are coupled by an endoplasmic-reticulum-resident kinase. *Nature* 397(6716), pp. 271-274.
- Harte, A.L., da Silva, N.F., Miller, M.A., Cappuccio, F.P., Kelly, A., O'Hare, J.P., Barnett, A.H., Al-Daghri, N.M., Al-Attas, O., Alokail, M., Sabico, S., Tripathi, G., Bellary, S., Kumar, S. and McTernan, P.G. (2012a). Telomere length attrition, a marker of biological senescence, is inversely correlated with triglycerides and cholesterol in South Asian males with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Exp Diabetes Res* 2012pp. 895185.
- Harte, A.L., Tripathi, G., Piya, M.K., Barber, T.M., Clapham, J.C., Al-Daghri, N., Al-Disi, D., Kumsaiyai, W., Saravanan, P., Fowler, A.E., O'Hare, J.P., Kumar, S. and McTernan, P.G. (2013). NFkappaB as a potent regulator of inflammation in human adipose tissue, influenced by depot, adiposity, T2DM status, and TNFalpha. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 21(11), pp. 2322-2330.
- Harte, A.L., Varma, M.C., Tripathi, G., McGee, K.C., Al-Daghri, N.M., Al-Attas, O.S., Sabico, S., O'Hare, J.P., Ceriello, A., Saravanan, P., Kumar, S. and McTernan, P.G. (2012b). High fat intake leads to acute

postprandial exposure to circulating endotoxin in type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes Care* **35**(2), pp. 375-382.

- Herman, M.A., Peroni, O.D., Villoria, J., Schön, M.R., Abumrad, N.A., Blüher, M., Klein, S. and Kahn, B.B. (2012). A novel ChREBP isoform in adipose tissue regulates systemic glucose metabolism. *Nature* 484(7394), pp. 333-338.
- **Herman, W.H.** (2013). The Economic Costs of Diabetes: Is It Time for a New Treatment Paradigm? pp.
- Herr, P., Hausmann, G. and Basler, K. (2012). WNT secretion and signalling in human disease. *Trends Mol Med* **18**(8), pp. 483-493.
- Hetz, C., Chevet, E. and Harding, H.P. (2013). Targeting the unfolded protein response in disease. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **12**(9), pp. 703-719.
- Hetz, C. and Glimcher, L.H. (2009). Fine-tuning of the unfolded protein response: Assembling the IRE1alpha interactome. *Mol Cell* **35**(5), pp. 551-561.
- Hicks, J., Wartchow, E. and Mierau, G. (2011). Glycogen storage diseases: a brief review and update on clinical features, genetic abnormalities, pathologic features, and treatment. *Ultrastruct Pathol* **35**(5), pp. 183-196.
- Hill, M.J., Metcalfe, D. and McTernan, P.G. (2009). Obesity and diabetes: lipids, 'nowhere to run to'. *Clin Sci (Lond)* **116**(2), pp. 113-123.
- Hirosumi, J., Tuncman, G., Chang, L., Gorgun, C.Z., Uysal, K.T., Maeda, K., Karin, M. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2002). A central role for JNK in obesity and insulin resistance. *Nature* 420(6913), pp. 333-336.
- Holzer, R.G., Park, E.J., Li, N., Tran, H., Chen, M., Choi, C., Solinas, G. and Karin, M. (2011). Saturated fatty acids induce c-Src clustering within membrane subdomains, leading to JNK activation. *Cell* 147(1), pp. 173-184.
- Hosogai, N., Fukuhara, A., Oshima, K., Miyata, Y., Tanaka, S., Segawa, K., Furukawa, S., Tochino, Y., Komuro, R., Matsuda, M. and Shimomura, I. (2007). Adipose tissue hypoxia in obesity and its impact on adipocytokine dysregulation. *Diabetes* 56(4), pp. 901-911.
- Hotamisligil, G.S. (2006). Inflammation and metabolic disorders. *Nature* 444(7121), pp. 860-867.
- Hotamisligil, G.S. (2010). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the inflammatory basis of metabolic disease. *Cell* **140**(6), pp. 900-917.

- Hotamisligil, G.S., Shargill, N.S. and Spiegelman, B.M. (1993). Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science* **259**(5091), pp. 87-91.
- Hou, Y., Xue, P., Woods, C.G., Wang, X., Fu, J., Yarborough, K., Qu, W., Zhang, Q., Andersen, M.E. and Pi, J. (2013). Association between arsenic suppression of adipogenesis and induction of CHOP10 via the endoplasmic reticulum stress response. *Environ Health Perspect* 121(2), pp. 237-243.
- Hu, P., Han, Z., Couvillon, A.D., Kaufman, R.J. and Exton, J.H. (2006). Autocrine tumor necrosis factor alpha links endoplasmic reticulum stress to the membrane death receptor pathway through IRE1alpha-mediated NFkappaB activation and down-regulation of TRAF2 expression. *Mol Cell Biol* 26(8), pp. 3071-3084.
- Hummasti, S. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2010). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and inflammation in obesity and diabetes. *Circ Res* **107**(5), pp. 579-591.
- Hyvonen, M.T. and Spalding, K.L. (2014). Maintenance of white adipose tissue in man. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 56pp. 123-132.
- IDF. (2014). Diabetes Atlas. [Online]. (http://www.idf.org/diabetesatlas).
- **Isakson, P., Hammarstedt, A., Gustafson, B. and Smith, U.** (2009). Impaired Preadipocyte Differentiation in Human Abdominal Obesity: Role of Wnt, Tumor Necrosis Factor-α, and Inflammation. *Diabetes* **58**(7), pp. 1550-1557.
- Iwasaki, Y., Suganami, T., Hachiya, R., Shirakawa, I., Kim-Saijo, M., Tanaka, M., Hamaguchi, M., Takai-Igarashi, T., Nakai, M., Miyamoto, Y. and Ogawa, Y. (2014). Activating transcription factor 4 links metabolic stress to interleukin-6 expression in macrophages. *Diabetes* 63(1), pp. 152-161.
- Izumida, Y., Yahagi, N., Takeuchi, Y., Nishi, M., Shikama, A., Takarada, A., Masuda, Y., Kubota, M., Matsuzaka, T., Nakagawa, Y., Iizuka, Y., Itaka, K., Kataoka, K., Shioda, S., Niijima, A., Yamada, T., Katagiri, H., Nagai, R., Yamada, N., Kadowaki, T. and Shimano, H. (2013). Glycogen shortage during fasting triggers liver-brain-adipose neurocircuitry to facilitate fat utilization. *Nat Commun* 4pp. 2316.
- Jansen, B.J., Gilissen, C., Roelofs, H., Schaap-Oziemlak, A., Veltman, J.A., Raymakers, R.A., Jansen, J.H., Kogler, G., Figdor, C.G., Torensma, R. and Adema, G.J. (2010). Functional differences between mesenchymal stem cell populations are reflected by their transcriptome. *Stem Cells Dev* 19(4), pp. 481-490.

- Jia, H., Zack, M.M. and Thompson, W.W. (2013). The effects of diabetes, hypertension, asthma, heart disease, and stroke on quality-adjusted life expectancy. *Value Health* **16**(1), pp. 140-147.
- Jiao, P., Ma, J., Feng, B., Zhang, H., Diehl, J.A., Chin, Y.E., Yan, W. and Xu, H. (2011). FFA-induced adipocyte inflammation and insulin resistance: involvement of ER stress and IKKbeta pathways. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 19(3), pp. 483-491.
- Joe, A.W., Yi, L., Even, Y., Vogl, A.W. and Rossi, F.M. (2009). Depot-specific differences in adipogenic progenitor abundance and proliferative response to high-fat diet. *Stem Cells* **27**(10), pp. 2563-2570.
- Kadowaki, T. and Yamauchi, T. (2005). Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors. *Endocr Rev* 26(3), pp. 439-451.
- Kaijser, M., Edstedt Bonamy, A.K., Akre, O., Cnattingius, S., Granath, F., Norman, M. and Ekbom, A. (2009). Perinatal Risk Factors for Diabetes in Later Life. *Diabetes* 58(3), pp. 523-526.
- Kammoun, H.L., Kraakman, M.J. and Febbraio, M.A. (2014). Adipose tissue inflammation in glucose metabolism. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* **15**(1), pp. 31-44.
- Karastergiou, K., Fried, S.K., Xie, H., Lee, M.J., Divoux, A., Rosencrantz, M.A., Chang, R.J. and Smith, S.R. (2013). Distinct developmental signatures of human abdominal and gluteal subcutaneous adipose tissue depots. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98(1), pp. 362-371.
- Karelis, A.D., St-Pierre, D.H., Conus, F., Rabasa-Lhoret, R. and Poehlman, E.T. (2004). Metabolic and body composition factors in subgroups of obesity: what do we know? *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 89(6), pp. 2569-2575.
- Karpe, F., Dickmann, J.R. and Frayn, K.N. (2011). Fatty acids, obesity, and insulin resistance: time for a reevaluation. *Diabetes* **60**(10), pp. 2441-2449.
- Kars, M., Yang, L., Gregor, M.F., Mohammed, B.S., Pietka, T.A., Finck, B.N., Patterson, B.W., Horton, J.D., Mittendorfer, B., Hotamisligil, G.S. and Klein, S. (2010). Tauroursodeoxycholic Acid may improve liver and muscle but not adipose tissue insulin sensitivity in obese men and women. *Diabetes* 59(8), pp. 1899-1905.
- Kato, M. and Natarajan, R. (2014). Diabetic nephropathy--emerging epigenetic mechanisms. *Nat Rev Nephrol* **10**(9), pp. 517-530.
- Kern, P.A., Saghizadeh, M., Ong, J.M., Bosch, R.J., Deem, R. and Simsolo, R.B. (1995). The expression of tumor necrosis factor in human adipose

tissue. Regulation by obesity, weight loss, and relationship to lipoprotein lipase. *J Clin Invest* **95**(5), pp. 2111-2119.

- Khan, M. and Joseph, F. (2014). Adipose tissue and adipokines: the association with and application of adipokines in obesity. *Scientifica (Cairo)* **2014**pp. 328592.
- Kim, I., Xu, W. and Reed, J.C. (2008). Cell death and endoplasmic reticulum stress: disease relevance and therapeutic opportunities. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 7(12), pp. 1013-1030.
- Kim, J.Y., van de Wall, E., Laplante, M., Azzara, A., Trujillo, M.E., Hofmann, S.M., Schraw, T., Durand, J.L., Li, H., Li, G., Jelicks, L.A., Mehler, M.F., Hui, D.Y., Deshaies, Y., Shulman, G.I., Schwartz, G.J. and Scherer, P.E. (2007). Obesity-associated improvements in metabolic profile through expansion of adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 117(9), pp. 2621-2637.
- Kim, P.S. and Arvan, P. (1998). Endocrinopathies in the family of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) storage diseases: disorders of protein trafficking and the role of ER molecular chaperones. *Endocr Rev* 19(2), pp. 173-202.
- Kim, W. and Egan, J.M. (2008). The Role of Incretins in Glucose Homeostasis and Diabetes Treatment. *Pharmacol Rev* **60**(4), pp. 470-512.
- Kissebah, A.H., Vydelingum, N., Murray, R., Evans, D.J., Hartz, A.J., Kalkhoff, R.K. and Adams, P.W. (1982). Relation of body fat distribution to metabolic complications of obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 54(2), pp. 254-260.
- Kohno, D. and Yada, T. (2012). Arcuate NPY neurons sense and integrate peripheral metabolic signals to control feeding. *Neuropeptides* **46**(6), pp. 315-319.
- Kopp, H.P., Kopp, C.W., Festa, A., Krzyzanowska, K., Kriwanek, S., Minar, E., Roka, R. and Schernthaner, G. (2003). Impact of weight loss on inflammatory proteins and their association with the insulin resistance syndrome in morbidly obese patients. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 23(6), pp. 1042-1047.
- Kormanova, K., Fried, M., Hainer, V. and Kunesova, M. (2004). Is laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding a day surgery procedure? *Obes Surg* **14**(9), pp. 1237-1240.
- Kovacova, Z., Tencerova, M., Roussel, B., Wedellova, Z., Rossmeislova, L., Langin, D., Polak, J. and Stich, V. (2012). The impact of obesity on secretion of adiponectin multimeric isoforms differs in visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 36(10), pp. 1360-1365.

- Kovsan, J., Osnis, A., Maissel, A., Mazor, L., Tarnovscki, T., Hollander, L., Ovadia, S., Meier, B., Klein, J., Bashan, N. and Rudich, A. (2009). Depot-specific adipocyte cell lines reveal differential drug-induced responses of white adipocytes--relevance for partial lipodystrophy. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 296(2), pp. E315-322.
- Krintel, C., Osmark, P., Larsen, M.R., Resjo, S., Logan, D.T. and Holm, C. (2008). Ser649 and Ser650 are the major determinants of protein kinase Amediated activation of human hormone-sensitive lipase against lipid substrates. *PLoS One* 3(11), pp. e3756.
- Kusminski, C.M., da Silva, N.F., Creely, S.J., Fisher, F.M., Harte, A.L., Baker, A.R., Kumar, S. and McTernan, P.G. (2007). The in vitro effects of resistin on the innate immune signaling pathway in isolated human subcutaneous adipocytes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **92**(1), pp. 270-276.
- Kusminski, C.M. and Scherer, P.E. (2012). Mitochondrial dysfunction in white adipose tissue. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 23(9), pp. 435-443.
- Le Lay, S., Krief, S., Farnier, C., Lefrere, I., Le Liepvre, X., Bazin, R., Ferre, P. and Dugail, I. (2001). Cholesterol, a cell size-dependent signal that regulates glucose metabolism and gene expression in adipocytes. *J Biol Chem* 276(20), pp. 16904-16910.
- Lee, A.S. (2014). Glucose-regulated proteins in cancer: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic potential. *Nat Rev Cancer* 14(4), pp. 263-276.
- Lee, J. and Ozcan, U. (2014). Unfolded protein response signaling and metabolic diseases. *J Biol Chem* 289(3), pp. 1203-1211.
- Lee, J., Sun, C., Zhou, Y., Lee, J., Gokalp, D., Herrema, H., Park, S.W., Davis, R.J. and Ozcan, U. (2011). p38 MAPK-mediated regulation of Xbp1s is crucial for glucose homeostasis. *Nat Med* **17**(10), pp. 1251-1260.
- Lee, M.J., Wu, Y. and Fried, S.K. (2013). Adipose Tissue Heterogeneity: Implication of depot differences in adipose tissue for Obesity Complications. *Mol Aspects Med* 34(1), pp. 1-11.
- Lefterova, M.I. and Lazar, M.A. (2009). New developments in adipogenesis. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 20(3), pp. 107-114.
- Lefterova, M.I., Zhang, Y., Steger, D.J., Schupp, M., Schug, J., Cristancho, A., Feng, D., Zhuo, D., Stoeckert, C.J., Jr., Liu, X.S. and Lazar, M.A. (2008). PPARgamma and C/EBP factors orchestrate adipocyte biology via adjacent binding on a genome-wide scale. *Genes Dev* 22(21), pp. 2941-2952.
- Lehrke, M. and Lazar, M.A. (2005). The many faces of PPARgamma. *Cell* **123**(6), pp. 993-999.

- Leibowitz, S.F. and Wortley, K.E. (2004). Hypothalamic control of energy balance: different peptides, different functions. *Peptides* 25(3), pp. 473-504.
- Li, S., Shin, H.J., Ding, E.L. and van Dam, R.M. (2009). Adiponectin levels and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* **302**(2), pp. 179-188.
- Li, V.S., Ng, S.S., Boersema, P.J., Low, T.Y., Karthaus, W.R., Gerlach, J.P., Mohammed, S., Heck, A.J., Maurice, M.M., Mahmoudi, T. and Clevers, H. (2012). Wnt signaling through inhibition of beta-catenin degradation in an intact Axin1 complex. *Cell* 149(6), pp. 1245-1256.
- Li, Y., Ge, M., Ciani, L., Kuriakose, G., Westover, E.J., Dura, M., Covey, D.F., Freed, J.H., Maxfield, F.R., Lytton, J. and Tabas, I. (2004). Enrichment of endoplasmic reticulum with cholesterol inhibits sarcoplasmic-endoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase-2b activity in parallel with increased order of membrane lipids: implications for depletion of endoplasmic reticulum calcium stores and apoptosis in cholesterol-loaded macrophages. J Biol Chem 279(35), pp. 37030-37039.
- Linhart, H.G., Ishimura-Oka, K., DeMayo, F., Kibe, T., Repka, D., Poindexter, B., Bick, R.J. and Darlington, G.J. (2001). C/EBPalpha is required for differentiation of white, but not brown, adipose tissue. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98(22), pp. 12532-12537.
- Liu, F., Kim, J., Li, Y., Liu, X., Li, J. and Chen, X. (2001). An extract of Lagerstroemia speciosa L. has insulin-like glucose uptake-stimulatory and adipocyte differentiation-inhibitory activities in 3T3-L1 cells. J Nutr 131(9), pp. 2242-2247.
- Liu, M. and Liu, F. (2014). Regulation of adiponectin multimerization, signaling and function. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* **28**(1), pp. 25-31.
- Liu, M., Zhou, L., Xu, A., Lam, K.S., Wetzel, M.D., Xiang, R., Zhang, J., Xin, X., Dong, L.Q. and Liu, F. (2008). A disulfide-bond A oxidoreductaselike protein (DsbA-L) regulates adiponectin multimerization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105(47), pp. 18302-18307.
- Longo, K.A., Wright, W.S., Kang, S., Gerin, I., Chiang, S.H., Lucas, P.C., Opp, M.R. and MacDougald, O.A. (2004). Wnt10b inhibits development of white and brown adipose tissues. J Biol Chem 279(34), pp. 35503-35509.
- Lord, G.M. (2006). Leptin as a proinflammatory cytokine. *Contrib Nephrol* **151**pp. 151-164.
- Lu, B., Bridges, D., Yang, Y., Fisher, K., Cheng, A., Chang, L., Meng, Z.X., Lin, J.D., Downes, M., Yu, R.T., Liddle, C., Evans, R.M. and Saltiel,

**A.R.** (2014). Metabolic crosstalk: molecular links between glycogen and lipid metabolism in obesity. *Diabetes* **63**(9), pp. 2935-2948.

- Lumeng, C.N. and Saltiel, A.R. (2011). Inflammatory links between obesity and metabolic disease. J Clin Invest 121(6), pp. 2111-2117.
- Lundgren, M., Buren, J., Lindgren, P., Myrnas, T., Ruge, T. and Eriksson, J.W. (2008). Sex- and depot-specific lipolysis regulation in human adipocytes: interplay between adrenergic stimulation and glucocorticoids. *Horm Metab Res* 40(12), pp. 854-860.
- Ma, X., Lee, P., Chisholm, D.J. and James, D.E. (2015). Control of adipocyte differentiation in different fat depots; implications for pathophysiology or therapy. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* 6pp. 1.
- Madsbad, S., Dirksen, C. and Holst, J.J. (2014). Mechanisms of changes in glucose metabolism and bodyweight after bariatric surgery. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* **2**(2), pp. 152-164.
- Majka, S.M., Fox, K.E., Psilas, J.C., Helm, K.M., Childs, C.R., Acosta, A.S., Janssen, R.C., Friedman, J.E., Woessner, B.T., Shade, T.R., Varella-Garcia, M. and Klemm, D.J. (2010). De novo generation of white adipocytes from the myeloid lineage via mesenchymal intermediates is age, adipose depot, and gender specific. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107(33), pp. 14781-14786.
- Manolopoulos, K.N., Karpe, F. and Frayn, K.N. (2010). Gluteofemoral body fat as a determinant of metabolic health. *Int J Obes (Lond)* **34**(6), pp. 949-959.
- Mansbach, C.M., 2nd and Gorelick, F. (2007). Development and physiological regulation of intestinal lipid absorption. II. Dietary lipid absorption, complex lipid synthesis, and the intracellular packaging and secretion of chylomicrons. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 293(4), pp.645-650.
- Marciniak, S.J. and Ron, D. (2006). Endoplasmic reticulum stress signaling in disease. *Physiol Rev* 86(4), pp. 1133-1149.
- Marshall, S. (2006). Role of insulin, adipocyte hormones, and nutrient-sensing pathways in regulating fuel metabolism and energy homeostasis: a nutritional perspective of diabetes, obesity, and cancer. *Sci STKE* 2006(346), pp. e7.
- Martin, S. and Parton, R.G. (2006). Lipid droplets: a unified view of a dynamic organelle. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **7**(5), pp. 373-378.
- Masoodi, M., Kuda, O., Rossmeisl, M., Flachs, P. and Kopecky, J. (2014). Lipid signaling in adipose tissue: Connecting inflammation & metabolism. *Biochim Biophys Acta*pp.

- Matthews, D.R., Hosker, J.P., Rudenski, A.S., Naylor, B.A., Treacher, D.F. and Turner, R.C. (1985). Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia* 28(7), pp. 412-419.
- Mauer, J., Denson, J.L. and Bruning, J.C. (2015). Versatile functions for IL-6 in metabolism and cancer. *Trends Immunol* **36**(2), pp. 92-101.
- Maumus, M., Peyrafitte, J.A., D'Angelo, R., Fournier-Wirth, C., Bouloumie, A., Casteilla, L., Sengenes, C. and Bourin, P. (2011). Native human adipose stromal cells: localization, morphology and phenotype. *Int J Obes* (*Lond*) 35(9), pp. 1141-1153.
- Maumus, M., Sengenes, C., Decaunes, P., Zakaroff-Girard, A., Bourlier, V., Lafontan, M., Galitzky, J. and Bouloumie, A. (2008). Evidence of in situ proliferation of adult adipose tissue-derived progenitor cells: influence of fat mass microenvironment and growth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93(10), pp. 4098-4106.
- McGee, K.C., Harte, A.L., da Silva, N.F., Al-Daghri, N., Creely, S.J., Kusminski, C.M., Tripathi, G., Levick, P.L., Khanolkar, M., Evans, M., Chittari, M.V., Patel, V., Kumar, S. and McTernan, P.G. (2011). Visfatin is regulated by rosiglitazone in type 2 diabetes mellitus and influenced by NFkappaB and JNK in human abdominal subcutaneous adipocytes. *PLoS One* 6(6), pp. e20287.
- McLaughlin, T., Lamendola, C., Liu, A. and Abbasi, F. (2011). Preferential fat deposition in subcutaneous versus visceral depots is associated with insulin sensitivity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **96**(11), pp. E1756-1760.
- McTernan, P.G., McTernan, C.L., Chetty, R., Jenner, K., Fisher, F.M., Lauer, M.N., Crocker, J., Barnett, A.H. and Kumar, S. (2002). Increased resistin gene and protein expression in human abdominal adipose tissue. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87(5), pp. 2407.
- Mead, J.R., Irvine, S.A. and Ramji, D.P. (2002). Lipoprotein lipase: structure, function, regulation, and role in disease. *J Mol Med (Berl)* **80**(12), pp. 753-769.
- Miller, B.R., Nguyen, H., Hu, C.J., Lin, C. and Nguyen, Q.T. (2014). New and emerging drugs and targets for type 2 diabetes: reviewing the evidence. *Am Health Drug Benefits* **7**(8), pp. 452-463.
- Moldes, M., Zuo, Y., Morrison, R.F., Silva, D., Park, B.H., Liu, J. and Farmer, S.R. (2003). Peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor gamma suppresses Wnt/beta-catenin signalling during adipogenesis. *Biochem J* 376(Pt 3), pp. 607-613.
- Mueckler, M. and Thorens, B. (2013). The SLC2 (GLUT) family of membrane transporters. *Mol Aspects Med* 34(2-3), pp. 121-138.
- Murphy, S., Martin, S. and Parton, R.G. (2009). Lipid droplet-organelle interactions; sharing the fats. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1791**(6), pp. 441-447.
- Musso, G., Gambino, R. and Cassader, M. (2013). Cholesterol metabolism and the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Prog Lipid Res* **52**(1), pp. 175-191.
- Nadanaka, S., Okada, T., Yoshida, H. and Mori, K. (2007). Role of disulfide bridges formed in the luminal domain of ATF6 in sensing endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Mol Cell Biol* 27(3), pp. 1027-1043.
- Nakamura, T., Furuhashi, M., Li, P., Cao, H., Tuncman, G., Sonenberg, N., Gorgun, C.Z. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2010). Double-stranded RNAdependent protein kinase links pathogen sensing with stress and metabolic homeostasis. *Cell* 140(3), pp. 338-348.
- Nautiyal, J., Christian, M. and Parker, M.G. (2013). Distinct functions for RIP140 in development, inflammation, and metabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 24(9), pp. 451-459.
- Nguyen, D.T., Kebache, S., Fazel, A., Wong, H.N., Jenna, S., Emadali, A., Lee, E.H., Bergeron, J.J., Kaufman, R.J., Larose, L. and Chevet, E. (2004). Nck-dependent activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase-1 and regulation of cell survival during endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Mol Biol Cell* 15(9), pp. 4248-4260.
- Nguyen, K.T. and Korner, J. (2014). The sum of many parts: potential mechanisms for improvement in glucose homeostasis after bariatric surgery. *Curr Diab Rep* 14(5), pp. 481.
- Ni, M. and Lee, A.S. (2007). ER chaperones in mammalian development and human diseases. *FEBS Lett* **581**(19), pp. 3641-3651.
- NICE. (2009). Type 2 diabetes / Guidance and guidelines / NICE. [Online]. (https://<u>http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg87)</u>. NICE.
- Nielsen, R., Pedersen, T.A., Hagenbeek, D., Moulos, P., Siersbaek, R., Megens, E., Denissov, S., Borgesen, M., Francoijs, K.J., Mandrup, S. and Stunnenberg, H.G. (2008). Genome-wide profiling of PPARgamma:RXR and RNA polymerase II occupancy reveals temporal activation of distinct metabolic pathways and changes in RXR dimer composition during adipogenesis. *Genes Dev* 22(21), pp. 2953-2967.
- Nishimura, S., Manabe, I., Takaki, S., Nagasaki, M., Otsu, M., Yamashita, H., Sugita, J., Yoshimura, K., Eto, K., Komuro, I., Kadowaki, T. and Nagai, R. (2013). Adipose Natural Regulatory B Cells Negatively Control Adipose Tissue Inflammation. *Cell Metab*pp.

- **O'Reilly, M.W., House, P.J. and Tomlinson, J.W.** (2014). Understanding androgen action in adipose tissue. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* **143**pp. 277-284.
- **Obregon, M.J.** (2014). Adipose tissues and thyroid hormones. *Front Physiol* **5**pp. 479.
- **Ohsaki, Y., Cheng, J., Suzuki, M., Fujita, A. and Fujimoto, T.** (2008). Lipid droplets are arrested in the ER membrane by tight binding of lipidated apolipoprotein B-100. *J Cell Sci* **121**(Pt 14), pp. 2415-2422.
- Oral, E.A., Simha, V., Ruiz, E., Andewelt, A., Premkumar, A., Snell, P., Wagner, A.J., DePaoli, A.M., Reitman, M.L., Taylor, S.I., Gorden, P. and Garg, A. (2002). Leptin-replacement therapy for lipodystrophy. N Engl J Med 346(8), pp. 570-578.
- **Osborn, O. and Olefsky, J.M.** (2012). The cellular and signaling networks linking the immune system and metabolism in disease. *Nat Med* **18**(3), pp. 363-374.
- Otto, T.C. and Lane, M.D. (2005). Adipose development: from stem cell to adipocyte. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol* **40**(4), pp. 229-242.
- Ouchi, N., Kihara, S., Funahashi, T., Matsuzawa, Y. and Walsh, K. (2003). Obesity, adiponectin and vascular inflammatory disease. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 14(6), pp. 561-566.
- Ouchi, N., Parker, J.L., Lugus, J.J. and Walsh, K. (2011). Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* **11**(2), pp. 85-97.
- Oxford. (2015).Diabetes mellitus -Oxford Reference. [Online]. (http://www.oxfordreference.com/view/10.1093/acref/9780199557141.001.0001/ acref-9780199557141-e-2638?result=4). :Oxford University PressPrint ISBN-13:9780199557141Published Publication Date:2010Print online:2010Current Online Version:2014eISBN:9780191727016.
- **Oyadomari, S., Harding, H.P., Zhang, Y., Oyadomari, M. and Ron, D.** (2008). Dephosphorylation of translation initiation factor 2alpha enhances glucose tolerance and attenuates hepatosteatosis in mice. *Cell Metab* **7**(6), pp. 520-532.
- Ozcan, U., Cao, Q., Yilmaz, E., Lee, A.H., Iwakoshi, N.N., Ozdelen, E., Tuncman, G., Gorgun, C., Glimcher, L.H. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2004). Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. *Science* **306**(5695), pp. 457-461.
- Ozcan, U., Yilmaz, E., Ozcan, L., Furuhashi, M., Vaillancourt, E., Smith, R.O., Gorgun, C.Z. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2006). Chemical chaperones

reduce ER stress and restore glucose homeostasis in a mouse model of type 2 diabetes. *Science* **313**(5790), pp. 1137-1140.

- Pagnon, J., Matzaris, M., Stark, R., Meex, R.C., Macaulay, S.L., Brown, W., O'Brien, P.E., Tiganis, T. and Watt, M.J. (2012). Identification and functional characterization of protein kinase A phosphorylation sites in the major lipolytic protein, adipose triglyceride lipase. *Endocrinology* 153(9), pp. 4278-4289.
- Paz, K., Hemi, R., LeRoith, D., Karasik, A., Elhanany, E., Kanety, H. and Zick, Y. (1997). A molecular basis for insulin resistance. Elevated serine/threonine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and IRS-2 inhibits their binding to the juxtamembrane region of the insulin receptor and impairs their ability to undergo insulin-induced tyrosine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 272(47), pp. 29911-29918.
- Peirce, V., Carobbio, S. and Vidal-Puig, A. (2014). The different shades of fat. *Nature* 510(7503), pp. 76-83.
- Pelleymounter, M.A., Cullen, M.J., Baker, M.B., Hecht, R., Winters, D., Boone, T. and Collins, F. (1995). Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. *Science* 269(5223), pp. 540-543.
- Perry, A.C. and Martin, L. (2014). Race differences in obesity and its relationship to the sex hormone milieu. *Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig* 19(3), pp. 151-161.
- Pilch, P.F., Meshulam, T., Ding, S. and Liu, L. (2011). Caveolae and lipid trafficking in adipocytes. *Clin Lipidol* 6(1), pp. 49-58.
- Piya, M.K., Harte, A.L., Sivakumar, K., Tripathi, G., Voyias, P.D., James, S., Sabico, S., Al-Daghri, N.M., Saravanan, P., Barber, T.M., Kumar, S., Vatish, M. and McTernan, P.G. (2014). The identification of irisin in human cerebrospinal fluid: influence of adiposity, metabolic markers, and gestational diabetes. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 306(5), pp. E512-518.
- **Pond, C.M. and Mattacks, C.A.** (1995). Interactions between adipose tissue around lymph nodes and lymphoid cells in vitro. *J Lipid Res* **36**(10), pp. 2219-2231.
- **Poulos, S.P., Hausman, D.B. and Hausman, G.J.** (2010). The development and endocrine functions of adipose tissue. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* **323**(1), pp. 20-34.
- Preacher, K.J. (2002, May). Calculation for the test of the difference between two independent correlation coefficients. [Online]. (http://www.quantpsy.org/corrtest/corrtest.htm). Available from http://quantpsy.org.: (27.01.2014)

- Puri, V., Ranjit, S., Konda, S., Nicoloro, S.M., Straubhaar, J., Chawla, A., Chouinard, M., Lin, C., Burkart, A., Corvera, S., Perugini, R.A. and Czech, M.P. (2008). Cidea is associated with lipid droplets and insulin sensitivity in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105(22), pp. 7833-7838.
- Qiang, L., Wang, H. and Farmer, S.R. (2007). Adiponectin secretion is regulated by SIRT1 and the endoplasmic reticulum oxidoreductase Ero1-L alpha. *Mol Cell Biol* 27(13), pp. 4698-4707.
- Qiu, Q., Zheng, Z., Chang, L., Zhao, Y.S., Tan, C., Dandekar, A., Zhang, Z., Lin, Z., Gui, M., Li, X., Zhang, T., Kong, Q., Li, H., Chen, S., Chen, A., Kaufman, R.J., Yang, W.L., Lin, H.K., Zhang, D., Perlman, H., Thorp, E., Zhang, K. and Fang, D. (2013). Toll-like receptor-mediated IRE1alpha activation as a therapeutic target for inflammatory arthritis. *Embo j* 32(18), pp. 2477-2490.
- Raha, S. and Robinson, B.H. (2000). Mitochondria, oxygen free radicals, disease and ageing. *Trends Biochem Sci* 25(10), pp. 502-508.
- Rainbolt, T.K., Saunders, J.M. and Wiseman, R.L. (2014). Stress-responsive regulation of mitochondria through the ER unfolded protein response. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*pp.
- Reddy, N.L., Jones, T.A., Wayte, S.C., Adesanya, O., Sankar, S., Yeo, Y.C., Tripathi, G., McTernan, P.G., Randeva, H.S., Kumar, S., Hutchinson, C.E. and Barber, T.M. (2014). Identification of brown adipose tissue using MR imaging in a human adult with histological and immunohistochemical confirmation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 99(1), pp. E117-121.
- Reshef, L., Olswang, Y., Cassuto, H., Blum, B., Croniger, C.M., Kalhan, S.C., Tilghman, S.M. and Hanson, R.W. (2003). Glyceroneogenesis and the triglyceride/fatty acid cycle. *J Biol Chem* 278(33), pp. 30413-30416.
- Ron, D. and Walter, P. (2007). Signal integration in the endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **8**(7), pp. 519-529.
- Rosell, M., Kaforou, M., Frontini, A., Okolo, A., Chan, Y.W., Nikolopoulou, E., Millership, S., Fenech, M.E., MacIntyre, D., Turner, J.O., Moore, J.D., Blackburn, E., Gullick, W.J., Cinti, S., Montana, G., Parker, M.G. and Christian, M. (2014). Brown and white adipose tissues: intrinsic differences in gene expression and response to cold exposure in mice. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 306(8), pp. E945-964.
- Rosen, E.D. and MacDougald, O.A. (2006). Adipocyte differentiation from the inside out. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **7**(12), pp. 885-896.
- Rosen, E.D. and Spiegelman, B.M. (2006). Adipocytes as regulators of energy balance and glucose homeostasis. *Nature* 444(7121), pp. 847-853.

- Ross, S.E., Hemati, N., Longo, K.A., Bennett, C.N., Lucas, P.C., Erickson, R.L. and MacDougald, O.A. (2000). Inhibition of adipogenesis by Wnt signaling. *Science* 289(5481), pp. 950-953.
- Rothwell, N.J. and Stock, M.J. (1979). A role for brown adipose tissue in dietinduced thermogenesis. *Nature* 281(5726), pp. 31-35.
- Ruderman, N., Chisholm, D., Pi-Sunyer, X. and Schneider, S. (1998). The metabolically obese, normal-weight individual revisited. *Diabetes* 47(5), pp. 699-713.
- Ruggiano, A., Foresti, O. and Carvalho, P. (2014). Quality control: ERassociated degradation: Protein quality control and beyond. *J Cell Biol* 204(6), pp. 869-879.
- Ryo, M., Nakamura, T., Kihara, S., Kumada, M., Shibazaki, S., Takahashi, M., Nagai, M., Matsuzawa, Y. and Funahashi, T. (2004). Adiponectin as a biomarker of the metabolic syndrome. *Circ J* 68(11), pp. 975-981.
- Saltiel, A.R. and Kahn, C.R. (2001). Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Nature* **414**(6865), pp. 799-806.
- Samuel, V.T. and Shulman, G.I. (2012). Mechanisms for insulin resistance: common threads and missing links. *Cell* 148(5), pp. 852-871.
- Schaffler, A. and Buchler, C. (2007). Concise review: adipose tissue-derived stromal cells--basic and clinical implications for novel cell-based therapies. *Stem Cells* **25**(4), pp. 818-827.
- Schauer, P.R., Kashyap, S.R., Wolski, K., Brethauer, S.A., Kirwan, J.P., Pothier, C.E., Thomas, S., Abood, B., Nissen, S.E. and Bhatt, D.L. (2012). Bariatric surgery versus intensive medical therapy in obese patients with diabetes. *N Engl J Med* 366(17), pp. 1567-1576.
- Scheuner, D., Song, B., McEwen, E., Liu, C., Laybutt, R., Gillespie, P., Saunders, T., Bonner-Weir, S. and Kaufman, R.J. (2001). Translational control is required for the unfolded protein response and in vivo glucose homeostasis. *Mol Cell* 7(6), pp. 1165-1176.
- Schisano, B., Harte, A.L., Lois, K., Saravanan, P., Al-Daghri, N., Al-Attas, O., Knudsen, L.B., McTernan, P.G., Ceriello, A. and Tripathi, G. (2012). GLP-1 analogue, Liraglutide protects human umbilical vein endothelial cells against high glucose induced endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Regul Pept* 174(1-3), pp. 46-52.
- Schroder, M. and Kaufman, R.J. (2005). The mammalian unfolded protein response. *Annu Rev Biochem* 74pp. 739-789.
- Scopinaro, N., Adami, G.F., Papadia, F.S., Camerini, G., Carlini, F., Fried, M., Briatore, L., D'Alessandro, G., Andraghetti, G. and Cordera, R.

(2011). Effects of biliopanceratic diversion on type 2 diabetes in patients with BMI 25 to 35. *Ann Surg* **253**(4), pp. 699-703.

- Sengenes, C., Lolmede, K., Zakaroff-Girard, A., Busse, R. and Bouloumie, A. (2005). Preadipocytes in the human subcutaneous adipose tissue display distinct features from the adult mesenchymal and hematopoietic stem cells. *J Cell Physiol* 205(1), pp. 114-122.
- Seo, J., Fortuno, E.S., 3rd, Suh, J.M., Stenesen, D., Tang, W., Parks, E.J., Adams, C.M., Townes, T. and Graff, J.M. (2009). Atf4 regulates obesity, glucose homeostasis, and energy expenditure. *Diabetes* 58(11), pp. 2565-2573.
- Seo, M.H. and Rhee, E.J. (2014). Metabolic and cardiovascular implications of a metabolically healthy obesity phenotype. *Endocrinol Metab (Seoul)* 29(4), pp. 427-434.
- Seoane-Collazo, P., de Morentin, P.B., Ferno, J., Dieguez, C., Nogueiras, R. and Lopez, M. (2014). Nicotine Improves Obesity and Hepatic Steatosis and ER Stress in Diet-Induced Obese Male Rats. *Endocrinology* 155(5), pp. 1679-1689.
- Sha, H., He, Y., Chen, H., Wang, C., Zenno, A., Shi, H., Yang, X., Zhang, X. and Qi, L. (2009). The IRE1alpha-XBP1 pathway of the unfolded protein response is required for adipogenesis. *Cell Metab* 9(6), pp. 556-564.
- Sha, H., Yang, L., Liu, M., Xia, S., Liu, Y., Liu, F., Kersten, S. and Qi, L. (2014). Adipocyte spliced form of X-box-binding protein 1 promotes adiponectin multimerization and systemic glucose homeostasis. *Diabetes* 63(3), pp. 867-879.
- Sharma, M., Bhattacharyya, S., Nain, M., Kaur, M., Sood, V., Gupta, V., Khasa, R., Abdin, M.Z., Vrati, S. and Kalia, M. (2014). Japanese encephalitis virus replication is negatively regulated by autophagy and occurs on LC3-I- and EDEM1-containing membranes. *Autophagy* 10(9), pp. 1637-1651.
- Sharma, N.K., Das, S.K., Mondal, A.K., Hackney, O.G., Chu, W.S., Kern, P.A., Rasouli, N., Spencer, H.J., Yao-Borengasser, A. and Elbein, S.C. (2008). Endoplasmic reticulum stress markers are associated with obesity in nondiabetic subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 93(11), pp. 4532-4541.
- Shen, J., Chen, X., Hendershot, L. and Prywes, R. (2002). ER stress regulation of ATF6 localization by dissociation of BiP/GRP78 binding and unmasking of Golgi localization signals. *Dev Cell* 3(1), pp. 99-111.
- Shen, W., Wang, Z., Punyanita, M., Lei, J., Sinav, A., Kral, J.G., Imielinska, C., Ross, R. and Heymsfield, S.B. (2003). Adipose tissue quantification by imaging methods: a proposed classification. *Obes Res* 11(1), pp. 5-16.

- Sheng, X., Tucci, J., Malvar, J. and Mittelman, S.D. (2014). Adipocyte differentiation is affected by media height above the cell layer. *Int J Obes* (*Lond*) 38(2), pp. 315-320.
- Shoelson, S.E., Lee, J. and Goldfine, A.B. (2006). Inflammation and insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* **116**(7), pp. 1793-1801.
- Sidrauski, C. and Walter, P. (1997). The transmembrane kinase Ire1p is a sitespecific endonuclease that initiates mRNA splicing in the unfolded protein response. *Cell* **90**(6), pp. 1031-1039.
- Skinner, J.R., Shew, T.M., Schwartz, D.M., Tzekov, A., Lepus, C.M., Abumrad, N.A. and Wolins, N.E. (2009). Diacylglycerol enrichment of endoplasmic reticulum or lipid droplets recruits perilipin 3/TIP47 during lipid storage and mobilization. *J Biol Chem* 284(45), pp. 30941-30948.
- Smith, S.R., Lovejoy, J.C., Greenway, F., Ryan, D., deJonge, L., de la Bretonne, J., Volafova, J. and Bray, G.A. (2001). Contributions of total body fat, abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue compartments, and visceral adipose tissue to the metabolic complications of obesity. *Metabolism* 50(4), pp. 425-435.
- Sokka, A.L., Putkonen, N., Mudo, G., Pryazhnikov, E., Reijonen, S., Khiroug, L., Belluardo, N., Lindholm, D. and Korhonen, L. (2007). Endoplasmic reticulum stress inhibition protects against excitotoxic neuronal injury in the rat brain. *J Neurosci* 27(4), pp. 901-908.
- Spalding, K.L., Arner, E., Westermark, P.O., Bernard, S., Buchholz, B.A., Bergmann, O., Blomqvist, L., Hoffstedt, J., Naslund, E., Britton, T., Concha, H., Hassan, M., Ryden, M., Frisen, J. and Arner, P. (2008). Dynamics of fat cell turnover in humans. *Nature* 453(7196), pp. 783-787.
- Sriburi, R., Jackowski, S., Mori, K. and Brewer, J.W. (2004). XBP1: a link between the unfolded protein response, lipid biosynthesis, and biogenesis of the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Cell Biol* **167**(1), pp. 35-41.
- Stone, S.J., Levin, M.C., Zhou, P., Han, J., Walther, T.C. and Farese, R.V., Jr. (2009). The endoplasmic reticulum enzyme DGAT2 is found in mitochondria-associated membranes and has a mitochondrial targeting signal that promotes its association with mitochondria. J Biol Chem 284(8), pp. 5352-5361.
- Strohle, A. and Worm, N. (2014). [Healthy obesity? Why the adiposity paradox is only seemingly paradox]. *Med Monatsschr Pharm* 37(2), pp. 54-64; quiz 65-56.
- Tabata, Y., Takano, K., Ito, T., Iinuma, M., Yoshimoto, T., Miura, H., Kitao, Y., Ogawa, S. and Hori, O. (2007). Vaticanol B, a resveratrol tetramer, regulates endoplasmic reticulum stress and inflammation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 293(1), pp. C411-418.

- Tang, W., Zeve, D., Suh, J.M., Bosnakovski, D., Kyba, M., Hammer, R.E., Tallquist, M.D. and Graff, J.M. (2008). White fat progenitor cells reside in the adipose vasculature. *Science* 322(5901), pp. 583-586.
- Tchkonia, T., Giorgadze, N., Pirtskhalava, T., Thomou, T., DePonte, M., Koo, A., Forse, R.A., Chinnappan, D., Martin-Ruiz, C., von Zglinicki, T. and Kirkland, J.L. (2006). Fat depot-specific characteristics are retained in strains derived from single human preadipocytes. *Diabetes* 55(9), pp. 2571-2578.
- Tchkonia, T., Lenburg, M., Thomou, T., Giorgadze, N., Frampton, G., Pirtskhalava, T., Cartwright, A., Cartwright, M., Flanagan, J., Karagiannides, I., Gerry, N., Forse, R.A., Tchoukalova, Y., Jensen, M.D., Pothoulakis, C. and Kirkland, J.L. (2007). Identification of depot-specific human fat cell progenitors through distinct expression profiles and developmental gene patterns. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 292(1), pp. E298-307.
- Thompson, B.R., Lobo, S. and Bernlohr, D.A. (2010). Fatty acid flux in adipocytes: the in's and out's of fat cell lipid trafficking. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* **318**(1-2), pp. 24-33.
- Tillin, T., Sattar, N., Godsland, I.F., Hughes, A.D., Chaturvedi, N. and Forouhi, N.G. (2015). Ethnicity-specific obesity cut-points in the development of Type 2 diabetes - a prospective study including three ethnic groups in the United Kingdom. *Diabet Med* 32(2), pp. 226-234.
- Tomas, E., Tsao, T.S., Saha, A.K., Murrey, H.E., Zhang Cc, C., Itani, S.I., Lodish, H.F. and Ruderman, N.B. (2002). Enhanced muscle fat oxidation and glucose transport by ACRP30 globular domain: acetyl-CoA carboxylase inhibition and AMP-activated protein kinase activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**(25), pp. 16309-16313.
- Tontonoz, P. and Spiegelman, B.M. (2008). Fat and beyond: the diverse biology of PPARgamma. *Annu Rev Biochem* **77**pp. 289-312.
- Trayhurn, P. and Wood, I.S. (2004). Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue. *Br J Nutr* **92**(3), pp. 347-355.
- Trujillo, M.E. and Scherer, P.E. (2006). Adipose tissue-derived factors: impact on health and disease. *Endocr Rev* 27(7), pp. 762-778.
- Tsutsumi, A., Motoshima, H., Kondo, T., Kawasaki, S., Matsumura, T., Hanatani, S., Igata, M., Ishii, N., Kinoshita, H., Kawashima, J., Taketa, K., Furukawa, N., Tsuruzoe, K., Nishikawa, T. and Araki, E. (2011). Caloric restriction decreases ER stress in liver and adipose tissue in ob/ob mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 404(1), pp. 339-344.

- Tu, B.P. and Weissman, J.S. (2002). The FAD- and O(2)-dependent reaction cycle of Ero1-mediated oxidative protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Mol Cell* 10(5), pp. 983-994.
- **Tu, B.P. and Weissman, J.S.** (2004). Oxidative protein folding in eukaryotes: mechanisms and consequences. *J Cell Biol* **164**(3), pp. 341-346.
- Turer, A.T. and Scherer, P.E. (2012). Adiponectin: mechanistic insights and clinical implications. *Diabetologia* 55(9), pp. 2319-2326.
- Uemura, A., Oku, M., Mori, K. and Yoshida, H. (2009). Unconventional splicing of XBP1 mRNA occurs in the cytoplasm during the mammalian unfolded protein response. *J Cell Sci* 122(Pt 16), pp. 2877-2886.
- Umpierrez, G.E., Smiley, D. and Kitabchi, A.E. (2006). Narrative review: ketosis-prone type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Ann Intern Med* **144**(5), pp. 350-357.
- **Unanue, E.R. and Urano, F.** (2014). Endoplasmic Reticulum: An Interface Between the Immune System and Metabolism. *Diabetes* **63**(1), pp. 48-49.
- Urano, F., Wang, X., Bertolotti, A., Zhang, Y., Chung, P., Harding, H.P. and Ron, D. (2000). Coupling of stress in the ER to activation of JNK protein kinases by transmembrane protein kinase IRE1. *Science* 287(5453), pp. 664-666.
- Uysal, K.T., Wiesbrock, S.M., Marino, M.W. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (1997). Protection from obesity-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking TNFalpha function. *Nature* **389**(6651), pp. 610-614.
- **Vague, J.** (1956). The degree of masculine differentiation of obesities: a factor determining predisposition to diabetes, atherosclerosis, gout, and uric calculous disease. *Am J Clin Nutr* **4**(1), pp. 20-34.
- van Harmelen, V., Röhrig, K. and Hauner, H. (2004). Comparison of proliferation and differentiation capacity of human adipocyte precursor cells from the omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue depot of obese subjects. *Metabolism* 53(5), pp. 632-637.
- van Marken Lichtenbelt, W.D., Vanhommerig, J.W., Smulders, N.M., Drossaerts, J.M., Kemerink, G.J., Bouvy, N.D., Schrauwen, P. and Teule, G.J. (2009). Cold-activated brown adipose tissue in healthy men. N Engl J Med 360(15), pp. 1500-1508.
- Varlamov, O., Bethea, C.L. and Roberts, C.T., Jr. (2015). Sex-specific differences in lipid and glucose metabolism. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* 5pp. 241.

- Virtue, S. and Vidal-Puig, A. (2010). Adipose tissue expandability, lipotoxicity and the Metabolic Syndrome--an allostatic perspective. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1801**(3), pp. 338-349.
- Volmer, R., van der Ploeg, K. and Ron, D. (2013). Membrane lipid saturation activates endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response transducers through their transmembrane domains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**(12), pp. 4628-4633.
- Walther, T.C. and Farese, R.V. (2012). Lipid Droplets And Cellular Lipid Metabolism. *Annu Rev Biochem* 81pp. 687-714.
- Wang, Q.A., Tao, C., Gupta, R.K. and Scherer, P.E. (2013). Tracking adipogenesis during white adipose tissue development, expansion and regeneration. *Nat Med* **19**(10), pp. 1338-1344.
- Wang, S. and Kaufman, R.J. (2014). How does protein misfolding in the endoplasmic reticulum affect lipid metabolism in the liver? *Curr Opin Lipidol* **25**(2), pp. 125-132.
- Wang, Z. and Nakayama, T. (2010). Inflammation, a Link between Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2010pp.
- Wang, Z.V., Schraw, T.D., Kim, J.Y., Khan, T., Rajala, M.W., Follenzi, A. and Scherer, P.E. (2007). Secretion of the adipocyte-specific secretory protein adiponectin critically depends on thiol-mediated protein retention. *Mol Cell Biol* 27(10), pp. 3716-3731.
- WEF. (2014). Global Risks 2014 report. [Online]. (http://www.weforum.org/reports/global-risks-2014-report).
- Wek, R.C., Jiang, H.Y. and Anthony, T.G. (2006). Coping with stress: eIF2 kinases and translational control. *Biochem Soc Trans* 34(Pt 1), pp. 7-11.
- Wellen, K.E. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2003). Obesity-induced inflammatory changes in adipose tissue. *J Clin Invest* **112**(12), pp. 1785-1788.
- Wellen, K.E. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2005). Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. *J Clin Invest* **115**(5), pp. 1111-1119.
- White, R., Morganstein, D., Christian, M., Seth, A., Herzog, B. and Parker, M.G. (2008). Role of RIP140 in metabolic tissues: connections to disease. *FEBS Lett* 582(1), pp. 39-45.
- White, U.A. and Tchoukalova, Y.D. (2014). Sex dimorphism and depot differences in adipose tissue function. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1842(3), pp. 377-392.
- **WHO**. (2006). WHO | Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycaemia. *WHO*pp.

- WHO. (2011). WHO / Diabetes Fact Sheet 312. [Online]. (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs312/en/index.html). World Health Organization. (30/05/12)
- Woo, C.W., Cui, D., Arellano, J., Dorweiler, B., Harding, H., Fitzgerald, K.A., Ron, D. and Tabas, I. (2009). Adaptive suppression of the ATF4-CHOP branch of the unfolded protein response by toll-like receptor signalling. *Nat Cell Biol* 11(12), pp. 1473-1480.
- Wright, W.S., Longo, K.A., Dolinsky, V.W., Gerin, I., Kang, S., Bennett, C.N., Chiang, S.H., Prestwich, T.C., Gress, C., Burant, C.F., Susulic, V.S. and MacDougald, O.A. (2007). Wnt10b inhibits obesity in ob/ob and agouti mice. *Diabetes* 56(2), pp. 295-303.
- Wu, J.Q., Seay, M., Schulz, V.P., Hariharan, M., Tuck, D., Lian, J., Du, J., Shi, M., Ye, Z., Gerstein, M., Snyder, M.P. and Weissman, S. (2012). Tcf7 Is an Important Regulator of the Switch of Self-Renewal and Differentiation in a Multipotential Hematopoietic Cell Line. *PLoS Genet* 8(3), pp.
- Wu, S., Tan, M., Hu, Y., Wang, J.L., Scheuner, D. and Kaufman, R.J. (2004). Ultraviolet light activates NFkappaB through translational inhibition of IkappaBalpha synthesis. *J Biol Chem* 279(33), pp. 34898-34902.
- Wu, Z., Rosen, E.D., Brun, R., Hauser, S., Adelmant, G., Troy, A.E., McKeon, C., Darlington, G.J. and Spiegelman, B.M. (1999). Crossregulation of C/EBP alpha and PPAR gamma controls the transcriptional pathway of adipogenesis and insulin sensitivity. *Mol Cell* 3(2), pp. 151-158.
- Xu, H., Barnes, G.T., Yang, Q., Tan, G., Yang, D., Chou, C.J., Sole, J., Nichols, A., Ross, J.S., Tartaglia, L.A. and Chen, H. (2003). Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesityrelated insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 112(12), pp. 1821-1830.
- Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Minokoshi, Y., Ito, Y., Waki, H., Uchida, S., Yamashita, S., Noda, M., Kita, S., Ueki, K., Eto, K., Akanuma, Y., Froguel, P., Foufelle, F., Ferre, P., Carling, D., Kimura, S., Nagai, R., Kahn, B.B. and Kadowaki, T. (2002). Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. Nat Med 8(11), pp. 1288-1295.
- Ye, J. (2008). Regulation of PPARgamma function by TNF-alpha. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 374(3), pp. 405-408.
- Ye, R., Jung, D.Y., Jun, J.Y., Li, J., Luo, S., Ko, H.J., Kim, J.K. and Lee, A.S. (2010). Grp78 heterozygosity promotes adaptive unfolded protein response and attenuates diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 59(1), pp. 6-16.

- **Yilmaz, M. and Hotamisligil, G.S.** (2013). Damned if you do, damned if you don't: the conundrum of adipose tissue vascularization. *Cell Metab* **17**(1), pp. 7-9.
- Youssef-Elabd, E.M., McGee, K.C., Tripathi, G., Aldaghri, N., Abdalla, M.S., Sharada, H.M., Ashour, E., Amin, A.I., Ceriello, A., O'Hare, J.P., Kumar, S., McTernan, P.G. and Harte, A.L. (2012). Acute and chronic saturated fatty acid treatment as a key instigator of the TLR-mediated inflammatory response in human adipose tissue, in vitro. J Nutr Biochem 23(1), pp. 39-50.
- Yuan, M., Konstantopoulos, N., Lee, J., Hansen, L., Li, Z.W., Karin, M. and Shoelson, S.E. (2001). Reversal of obesity- and diet-induced insulin resistance with salicylates or targeted disruption of Ikkbeta. *Science* 293(5535), pp. 1673-1677.
- Yusta, B., Baggio, L.L., Estall, J.L., Koehler, J.A., Holland, D.P., Li, H., Pipeleers, D., Ling, Z. and Drucker, D.J. (2006). GLP-1 receptor activation improves beta cell function and survival following induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Cell Metab* 4(5), pp. 391-406.
- Zechner, R., Zimmermann, R., Eichmann, T., Kohlwein, S., Haemmerle, G., Lass, A. and Madeo, F. (2012). FAT SIGNALS - Lipases and Lipolysis in Lipid Metabolism and Signaling. *Cell Metab* 15(3), pp. 279-291.
- Zhang, K. and Kaufman, R.J. (2008). From endoplasmic-reticulum stress to the inflammatory response. *Nature* **454**(7203), pp. 455-462.
- Zhang, K., Shen, X., Wu, J., Sakaki, K., Saunders, T., Rutkowski, D.T., Back, S.H. and Kaufman, R.J. (2006). Endoplasmic reticulum stress activates cleavage of CREBH to induce a systemic inflammatory response. *Cell* 124(3), pp. 587-599.
- Zhang, L., Nosak, C., Sollazzo, P., Odisho, T. and Volchuk, A. (2014a). IRE1 inhibition perturbs the unfolded protein response in a pancreatic beta-cell line expressing mutant proinsulin, but does not sensitize the cells to apoptosis. *BMC Cell Biol* 15pp. 29.
- Zhang, P., Zhang, X., Brown, J., Vistisen, D., Sicree, R., Shaw, J. and Nichols, G. (2010). Global healthcare expenditure on diabetes for 2010 and 2030. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 87(3), pp. 293-301.
- Zhang, W., Cline, M.A. and Gilbert, E.R. (2014b). Hypothalamus-adipose tissue crosstalk: neuropeptide Y and the regulation of energy metabolism. *Nutr Metab (Lond)* 11pp. 27.
- Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L. and Friedman, J.M. (1994). Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* 372(6505), pp. 425-432.

- Zhou, L., Liu, M., Zhang, J., Chen, H., Dong, L.Q. and Liu, F. (2010). DsbA-L alleviates endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced adiponectin downregulation. *Diabetes* 59(11), pp. 2809-2816.
- Zhou, Q.G., Zhou, M., Hou, F.F. and Peng, X. (2009). Asymmetrical dimethylarginine triggers lipolysis and inflammatory response via induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress in cultured adipocytes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 296(4), pp. E869-878.
- **Zhuo, X., Zhang, P., Barker, L., Albright, A., Thompson, T.J. and Gregg, E.** (2014). The Lifetime Cost of Diabetes and Its Implications for Diabetes Prevention. pp.
- Zilanawala, A., Davis-Kean, P., Nazroo, J., Sacker, A., Simonton, S. and Kelly, Y. (2014). Race/ethnic disparities in early childhood BMI, obesity and overweight in the United Kingdom and United States. *Int J Obes* (*Lond*)pp.
- Zimmermann, R., Strauss, J.G., Haemmerle, G., Schoiswohl, G., Birner-Gruenberger, R. Riederer, M., Lass, A., Neuberger, G., Eisenhaber, F., Hermetter, A., Zechner, R. (2004). Fat mobilization in adipose tissue is promoted by adipose triglyceride lipase. *Science* 19;306(5700): pp. 1383-1386.
- Zinzindohoue, F., Chevallier, J.M., Douard, R., Elian, N., Ferraz, J.M., Blanche, J.P., Berta, J.L., Altman, J.J., Safran, D. and Cugnenc, P.H. (2003). Laparoscopic gastric banding: a minimally invasive surgical treatment for morbid obesity: prospective study of 500 consecutive patients. Ann Surg 237(1), pp. 1-9.
- Zoungas, S., Woodward, M., Li, Q., Cooper, M.E., Hamet, P., Harrap, S., Heller, S., Marre, M., Patel, A., Poulter, N., Williams, B. and Chalmers, J. (2014). Impact of age, age at diagnosis and duration of diabetes on the risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications and death in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 57(12), pp. 2465-2474.
- Zuk, P.A., Zhu, M., Ashjian, P., De Ugarte, D.A., Huang, J.I., Mizuno, H., Alfonso, Z.C., Fraser, J.K., Benhaim, P. and Hedrick, M.H. (2002). Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 13(12), pp. 4279-4295.